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REPORT ON OPERATIONS  

 

 

For more information on aspects not examined in this Report, please refer to the disclosure provided in the 
Consolidated Report on Operations.  
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BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

Results in brief 

 
* The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

N.B.: the number of employees refers to the actual workforce and therefore does not include the staff seconded 

outside the scope of the Bank. 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

INCOME STATEMENT FIGURES 31/12/19 31/12/18* Chg.

Net interest income 1,249.7         1,530.5         -18.3%

Net fee and commission income 1,388.7         1,473.5         -5.8%

Other operating income 228.2            9.8                n.s.

Total Revenues 2,866.6         3,013.8         -4.9%

Net impairment losses (reversals) on financial assets mesured at 

amortised cost and finanaicl assets measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income

(627.1)          (562.5)          11.5%

Net operating income 137.0            235.9            -41.9%

Net profit (loss) for the year (1,174.4)       (111.9)          n.s.

BALANCE SHEET FIGURES AND INDICATORS 31/12/19 31/12/2018* Var.

Total assets 125,576.0 124,857.6 0.6%

Loans to customers 74,890.1       72,766.5       2.9%

Direct funding 83,703.8       82,040.5       2.0%

Indirect funding 96,832.4 92,567.5 4.6%

     of which: assets under management 54,459.4 51,265.3 6.2%

     of which: assets under custody 42,373.0 41,302.2 2.6%

Group net equity 7,577.7 8,312.1 -8.8%

OPERATING STRUCTURE 31/12/19 31/12/18 Var.

Total head count - end of period 20,225          21,074          -849

Number of branches in Italy 1,422            1,529            -107

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA BANK

INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET FIGURES

Highlights at 31/12/2019

PROFITABILITY RATIOS (%) 31/12/19 31/12/2018* Chg.

Cost/Income ratio 73.34 73.51 -0.2

R.O.E. -14.78 -1.25 -13.6

Return on Assets (RoA) ratio -0.94 -0.10 -0.80

ROTE (Return on tangible equity) -14.78 -1.25 -13.6

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Highlights at 31/12/2019

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA BANK
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*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

Cost/Income ratio: ratio between Operating Expenses (Administrative Expenses and Net value adjustments to property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets) and Total revenues (for the composition of the aggregate, see reclassified Income Statement)  

Return On Equity (ROE): ratio between the Net profit for the year and the average between the shareholdersõ equity (including Profit and 
Valuation Reserves) at the end of period and the shareholdersõ equity at the end of the previous year. 

Return On Assets (ROA): ratio between the Net profit for the year and the total assets at the end of the period. 

Return On Tangible Equity (ROTE): ratio between the Net profit for the year and the average shareholdersõ equity (including Profit and 
Valuation Reserves, cleared of Goodwill) at the end of the previous year and the current year. 

Gross NPL ratio: ratio between gross non-performing loans to customers and gross loans to customers.  
 
Growth rate of gross NPL: represents the annual growth rate of gross non-performing exposures based on the difference between annual 
balances.  

Coverage of non-performing loans and coverage of bad loans: the coverage ratio on non-performing loans and bad loans is calculated as 
the ratio between the relative loss provisions and the corresponding gross exposures. 

Texas Ratio: ratio between gross non-performing loans and the sum of tangible shareholdersõ equity and loan loss provisions. 

  

KEY CREDIT QUALITY RATIOS (%) 31/12/19 31/12/2018* Chg.

Net non-performing loans / Loans to Customers 6.3 8.0 -1.7

Gross NPL ratio 11.4 15.2 -3.8

Growth rate of gross NPL -0.3 -0.6 n.s.

Coverage non-performing loans 47.9 51.6 -3.7

Bad loans / Loans to Customers
 3.1 3.3 -0.2

Loans to Customers measured at amortised cost - Stage 2/Performing 

exposures measured at amortised cost
12.3 14.0 -1.7

Coverage bad loans 51.8 60.5 -8.7

Net impairment losses on loans measured at amortised cost/ Loans to 

Customers measured at amortised cost (Provisioning)
0.8 0.8 0.0

Texas Ratio 76.4 84.2 -7.8
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* The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

 

Common equity Tier 1 (CET 1): ratio betwenn primary quality capital1 and RWA (Risk Weighted Asset)2 

Total Capital Ratio: ratio between Own Funds and overall RWA 

  

                                                           

1 Defined by art. 4 of Regulation EU/2013/575 (Capital Requirements Regualtion, CRR). Itõs composed by computable elements and capital 
instruments, net of expected adjustments. 

2 Risk weighted activities: it is the results of the application of certain wighting ratio (risck weight) to the exposures determined according to 
the Supervisory rules. 

CAPITAL RATIOS (%) 31/12/19 31/12/2018* Chg.

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio 16.8 17.0 -0.2

Total Capital ratio 19.2 18.8 0.4

REGULATORY MEASURES

MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA BANK

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Highlights at 31/12/2019
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Analysis of the key economic-financial indicators of Banca Monte dei Paschi 
di Siena 

Reclassified accounts 

Income statement and balance sheet reclassification principles 

¶ Item òNet interest incomeó was cleared of the negative contribution (equal to EUR -7 mln) of the Purchase 
Price Allocation (PPA), referring to past business combinations, which was reclassified to a specific item.   

¶ Item òNet profit (loss) from trading and financial assets/liabilities measured at amortised cost and 
at fair value through profit and lossó includes item 80 òNet profit (loss) from tradingó, item 100 òGains 
(losses) on disposal/repurchase of: i) financial assets measured at amortised cost; ii) financial assets measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, and iii) financial liabilitiesó and item 110 òNet profit (loss) 
from financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and lossó. The item was cleared of 
the loss on the exposure to the IDPF Voluntary Scheme (for the Carige intervention) for approximately EUR 
7 mln, reclassified to òRisks and charges associated with SRF, DGS and similar schemesó. 

¶ The item òOther operating income (expense)ó includes the balance of item 200 òOther operating 
expenses/incomeó net of stamp duties and other expenses recovered from customers, which are included in 
the reclassified item òOther administrative expensesó (EUR 251 mln) and net of other expenses recovered, 
which are posted to òNet value adjustments to property, plant and equipmentó (EUR 16 mln). The item was 
also cleared of the amount relating to the recoveries of DTA fees collected by subsidiaries, reclassified to the 
item òDTA feeó (EUR 9 mln). 

¶ The item òPersonnel expensesó includes the balance of item 160a òPersonnel expensesó reduced by EUR 
22 mln, linked to recoveries from INPS relating to provisions recognised for Solidarity Fund departures in 
2017, reclassified to òRestructuring costs/One-off chargesó. 

¶ The item òOther administrative expensesó includes the balance of income statement item 160b òOther 
administrative expensesó, reduced by the following cost items:  

- expenses, amounting to EUR 96 mln, resulting from the EU Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive 
(hereinafter òDGSDó) and Bank Recovery Resolution Directive (hereinafter òBRRDó) for the 
resolution of bank crises, posted under the reclassified item òRisks and charges associated with SRF, 
DGS and similar schemesó; 

- DTA fee, convertible into tax credit, reclassified under òDTA feeó for EUR 71 mln, including the DTA 
fees relative to subsidiaries; 

- extraordinary charges, relating to project initiatives also aimed at complying with the commitments 
undertaken with DG Comp (also including the closure of domestic and foreign branches), for EUR 4 
mln (stated under reclassified item òRestructuring costs/One-off chargesó).  

This item includes also the portion of stamp duty and other expenses recovered from customers (EUR 251 
mln) posted under item 190 òOther operating expenses/incomeó.  

¶ Item òNet value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assetsó includes the 
values of items 180 òNet value adjustments to (recoveries on) property, plant and equipmentó and 190 òNet 
value adjustments to (recoveries on) intangible assetsó and was cleared of the negative contribution (EUR -11 
mln) referring to the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA), which was recognised in a specific item, while it 
incorporates the amount of the expense recovery (EUR 16 mln) that was recorded under item 200 òOther 
operating expenses/incomeó. 

¶ Item òNet impairment (losses)/reversals on financial assets measured at amortised costó includes 
items 130a òFinancial assets measured at amortised costó and 140 òModification gains/(losses)ó.  

¶ Item òRestructuring costs/One-off chargesó mainly includes the recoveries of EUR 22 mln, primarily 
recognised by INPS for previous early retirement/solidarity fund manoeuvres and recognised in the financial 
statements under item 160a òPersonnel expensesó, the charges relating to project initiatives, including for the 
implementation of the commitments undertaken with the DG Comp, amounting to EUR 4 mln recorded in 
the financial statements under item 160b òOther administrative expensesó. 

¶ Item òRisks and charges associated with SRF, DGS and similar schemesó includes the charges deriving 
from EU directives DGSD for deposit guarantee and BRRD for the resolution of bank crises, amounting to 
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EUR 96 mln, recognised in the financial statements under item 160b òOther administrative expensesó, as well 
as the loss on the exposure to the IDPF Voluntary Scheme (for the Carige intervention) for approximately 
EUR 7 mln, recognised in the financial statements under item 110 òNet profit (loss) from financial assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit and lossó. 

¶ The item òDTA feeó includes the expenses related to the fees paid on DTA, which can be converted into tax 
credit as set forth in art. 11 of Law Decree no. 59 of 3 May 2016, converted into Law no. 119 of 30 June 
2016, totalling EUR 61 mln and recognised in item 160b òOther administrative expensesó (EUR 71 mln), net 
of the share recovered from subsidiaries, accounted for under òOther operating income/expenseó (EUR 9 
mln). 

¶ Item òTax expense (recovery)ó includes the balance of item 270 òTax expense (recovery) on income from 
continuing operationsó cleared of the theoretical tax component relating to the Purchase Price Allocation 
(PPA), which was reclassified to a specific item for an amount of EUR 6 mln. 

¶ The overall negative effects of the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) were reclassified to a specific item, 
excluding them from affected income statement items (in particular òNet interest incomeó for EUR -7 mln 
and òNet value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assetsó for EUR -11 
mln, net of a theoretical tax burden of EUR +6 mln which was added the item). 

 

Balance sheet reclassification principles 

¶ Asset item òFinancial assets measured at fair valueó includes balance sheet items 20 òFinancial assets 
measured at fair value through profit and lossó and 30 òFinancial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive incomeó.  

¶ Asset item òOther assetsó, includes balance sheet items 50 òHedging derivativesó, 60 òChange in value of 
macro-hedged financial assetsó, 100 òTax assetsó, 110 òNon-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operationsó and 120 òOther assetsó. 

¶ The liability item òDeposits from customers and debt securities issuedó, includes items 10b òFinancial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost - deposits from customersó, 10c òFinancial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost - Debt securities issuedó and 30 òFinancial liabilities measured at fair valueó. 

¶ Liability item òOther liabilitiesó includes balance sheet items 40 òHedging derivativesó, 50 òChange in 
value of macro-hedged financial liabilitiesó, 60 òTax liabilitiesó, 70 òLiabilities associated with discontinued 
operationsó and 80 òOther liabilitiesó. 

 

°°°°° 

The reconciliation between the statutory accounts and the reclassified income statement and balance 
sheet is included in the òAnnexesó section.  
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Reclassified income statement 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

  

Reclassified Income Statement 

31/12/19 31 12 2018*

MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA BANK Abs. %

Net interest income 1,249.7        1,530.5        (280.8)      -18.3%

Net fee and commission income 1,388.7        1,473.5        (84.8)        -5.8%

Income from banking activities 2,638.4       3,004.0       (365.6)     -12.2%

Dividends, similar income and gains (losses) on equity investments 69.4            99.2            (29.8)        -30.1%

Net profit (loss) from trading and financial assets/liabilities measured at 

amortised cost and maesured at fair value through profit and loss 
226.0           (40.9)           266.9       n.s.

Net profit (loss) from hedging (6.2)             (17.0)           10.8         -63.5%

Other operating income (expenses) (60.9)           (31.5)           (29.4)        93.3%

Total Revenues 2,866.6       3,013.8       (147.2)     -4.9%

Administrative expenses: (1,974.7)       (2,138.9)       164.3       -7.7%

    a) personnel expenses (1,313.6)       (1,336.6)       23.0         -1.7%

    b) other administrative expenses (661.1)          (802.3)         141.3       -17.6%

Net adjustments to (recoveries  on) property, plant and equipment / 

Net adjustments to (recoveries on) intangible assets
(127.9)          (76.3)           (51.6)        67.6%

Operating expenses (2,102.5)      (2,215.3)      112.8       -5.1%

Pre Provision Profit 764.1          798.5         (34.4)       -4.3%

Net impairment losses (reversals) on: (627.1)         (562.5)        (64.6)       11.5%

a) financial assets measured at amortised cost (621.5)          (567.6)         (53.9)        9.5%

b) Financial assets measured at fair value through other  

    comprehensive income
(5.6)             5.1             (10.7)        n.s.

Net operating income 137.0          235.9         (98.9)       -41.9%

Net provisions for risks and charges (69.4)           (70.5)           1.1           -1.6%

of which commitments and guarantees issued** 86.6            8.1             78.5         n.s.

Gains (losses) on investments (52.4)           (333.8)         281.4       -84.3%

Restructuring costs / One-off costs 17.7            (135.6)         153.3       n.s.

Risks and charges related to the SRF, DGS and similar schemes (103.6)          (108.3)         4.7           -4.4%

DTA Fee (61.4)           (61.7)           0.3           -0.5%

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments 2.8              0.5              2.3           n.s.

Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations (129.3)         (473.3)        344.1       -72.7%

Tax expense (recovery)  on income from continuing operations (1,033.2)       383.7          (1,416.9)    n.s.

Profit (loss) after tax from continuing operations (1,162.5)      (89.7)          (1,072.8)   n.s.

Profit (loss) for the year before PPA (1,162.5)      (89.7)          (1,072.8)   n.s.

PPA (Purchase Price Allocation)            (11.9) (22.2)                    10.3 -46.3%

Net profit (loss) for the year (1,174.4)      (111.9)         (1,062.5)   n.s.

Change
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Revenue trends 

In 2019, the Bank realised total Revenues of EUR 2,867 mln, down 4.9% compared to the previous year, in 
particular following the decline in Net interest income and Net fee and commission income as well as the 
deterioration in Other operating income and expenses, only partially offset by the improvement in other 
revenues from banking business, as a result of the positive effects recognised on the financial assets measured at 
fair value and higher gains from the disposal of securities. 

Net interest income for 2019 amounted to EUR 1,250 mln, down 18.3% compared to 2018, reflecting the 
impact of activities undertaken to comply with certain commitments in the Restructuring Plan. These include: i) 
NPE reduction activities, continuing the programme to sell the non-performing loan portfolio which led to 
reaching the gross NPE ratio target set by the Restructuring Plan two years ahead of schedule but with a negative 
effect on net interest income, which was also influenced by the drop in interest income on impaired financial 
assets of approx. EUR 41 mln compared to 31 December 2018; and ii) the return on the market of institutional 
issues (with Subordinated Tier 2 issues for EUR 300 mln and Senior Preferred issues for EUR 1.2 bn) with a 
consequent additional cost for 2019 of EUR 30 mln. 

Thus, the trend of net interest income is influenced by actions to improve the quality of the credit portfolio with 
the development of less risky customers in a highly competitive market context, resulting in a reduction in the 
rates applied, however with dynamics in line with the market. Finally, there was a reorganisation of commercial 
deposits toward less expensive components with a consequent reduction in the relative cost. The aggregate was 
also impacted by the introduction of IFRS 16, which entailed the recognition of around EUR 5.9 mln in interest 
expense as at 31 December 2019. 

 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

  

Abs. %

 Loans to customers measured at amortised cost 1,359.8           1,518.0          (158.2) -10.4%

 Securiries issued (257.8) (263.5) 5.7                       -2.2%

 Net Differentials on hedging derivatives 5.9                 22.7              (16.8) -74.1%

 Loans to Banks measured

 at amortised cost 
39.3               74.1              (34.8) -47.0%

 Trading portfolios 2.3                 18.2              (15.9) -87.4%

 Portfolios measured at fair value  17.4               32.5              (15.1) -46.5%

 Financial assets measured at fair value through 

other  comprehensive income 
80.0               129.7             (49.7) -38.3%

 Other net interest income 2.8                 (1.2) 4.0                       n.s.

Net interest income 1,249.7          1,530.5         (280.9) -18.3%

 of which: interest income on impaired  financial assets** 177.6             218.8             (41.2) -18.8%

 Items 31 12 2019  31 12 2018
Chg. Y/Y
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Net fee and commission income as at 31 December 2019, totalling EUR 1,389 mln, declined by 5.8% 
compared to the previous year. This trend was primarily impacted by the reduction in income from product 
placement and commissions on loans, the latter affected by the elimination of around EUR 15 mln in one-off 
income recognised in the first half of 2018 linked to the renewal of the Compass S.p.A. product distribution 
agreement and income from services; other net fees and commissions posted a decrease.  

 

 
Dividends, similar income and gains (losses) on equity investments totalled EUR 69 mln, mainly 
represented by dividends distributed by MPS Tenimenti and the contribution from the joint venture with AXA-
MPS.  
 
Net profit (loss) from trading and financial assets/liabilities measured at amortised cost and at fair 
value through profit and loss in 2019 totalled EUR 226 mln, up from the previous year (EUR -41 mln). The 
analysis of the main aggregates shows the following: 

¶ Net profit (loss) from trading amounting to EUR +52 mln, marking growth over 31 December 2018; 

¶ Net profit (loss) from financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss was 
positive for EUR 57 mln, an improvement from the previous year (EUR -113 mln), in particular due to the 
revaluation of securities recognised in assets resulting from the debt restructuring transactions of Sorgenia 
and Tirreno Power Group in light of changes in these positions; 

¶ Gains on disposal/repurchase came to EUR 118 mln, up compared to EUR 39 mln in the previous year, 
thanks to higher gains from the sale of securities carried out for the most part in 2Q19 and 3Q19.  
 

abs. %

 Assets under management fee 576.9           599.3           (22.4)           -3.7%

 Product placement 200.8           216.8           (16.0)            -7.4%

 Continuing fees 298.6           301.1           (2.5)              -0.8%

 Placement of securities 35.5             36.3             (0.8)              -2.2%

 Sales of Protection 42.0             45.1             (3.1)              -6.9%

Fee and commisions from traditional activities 946.4           999.8           (53.3)           -5.3%

 Credit fees 432.4           475.1           (42.6)            -9.0%

 Fees from foreign service 49.8             53.1             (3.4)              -6.3%

 Other services 464.2           471.6           (7.3)              -1.6%

 Other fee and commission income (134.7)          (125.6)           (9.1)              7.2%

Net fees and commission income 1,388.7        1,473.5        (84.8)           -5.8%

Services/value 31 12 2019  31 12 2018  
Change Y/Y
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The following items also make up Revenues: 

¶ Net profit (loss) from hedging amounting to EUR -6 mln, an improvement compared to 31 
December 2018;  

¶ Other operating income (expenses) was negative by EUR 61 mln, a deterioration compared to the 
result at the end of 2018 (equal to EUR -31 mln) due to the recognition of the indemnity linked to the 
exercise of the right of withdrawal from the agreement with Juliet. 

  

Abs. %

Financial assets held for trading 2.4                   1.0                   1.4                       n.s.

Exchange rate effects 23.9                 16.0                  7.9                       49.4%

Derivatives 25.2                 15.4                  9.8                       63.9%

Trading results 51.5                32.4                 19.1                     59.0%

 Net profit (loss) from financial assets and 

liabilities measured at fair value through 

profit and loss 

56.9                 (112.6)                169.5                   n.s.

Disposal / repurchase 117.6               39.3                  78.3                     n.s.

Net profit (loss) from trading and financial 

assets and liabilities measured  amortised 

cost and measuerd at fair value through 

profit and loss

226.0              (40.9)                 266.9                  n.s.

 Items 31 12 2019 31 12 2018
Chg. Y/Y
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Operating expenses 

Note that comparisons with 2018 figures are purely indicative, insofar as the data are inconsistent following the 
introduction of the new IFRS 16, which led to the recording of lower Other administrative expenses of EUR 
36.5 mln and higher Net value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of EUR 28.6 
mln. 

Operating expenses totalled EUR 2,103 mln as at 31 December 2019, down 5.1% on the previous year. A 
closer look at the individual aggregates reveals the following: 

¶ Administrative expenses were EUR 1,975 mln, down EUR 164 mln from the previous year. A breakdown 
of the aggregate shows: 

- Personnel expenses, totalling EUR 1,314 mln, were down 1.7% on a yearly basis. Compared to 31 
December 2018, the expense trend also benefitted from the reduction in headcount, linked primarily 
to the early retirement procedure, whose effects were partially offset by contractual increases 
recorded since October 2018, the effects of the agreement on personnel costs as at 31 December 
2018, and the renewal of the second-level bargaining agreement (12 July 2019).  

- Other administrative expenses amounted to EUR 661 mln, down by 17.6% compared to the 
previous year. As mentioned above, in comparison with 2018, this aggregate was impacted by the 
entry into force of IFRS 16, net of which there would have been a downward trend, including due to 
the effects from the merger by incorporation of the company Perimetro Gestione Proprietà 
Immobiliari.  

¶ Net value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets as at 31 December 2019 
amounted to EUR 128 mln, up 67.6% compared to the previous year, including due to the effects of the 
entry into force of IFRS 16. Without these effects, the trend, in any case, would have increased by roughly 
EUR 23 mln, due to the effects from the aforementioned merger of the company Perimetro Gestione 
Proprietà Immobiliari. 
 

 

As a result of these factors, the Bankõs Gross Operating Income totalled EUR 764 mln (EUR 798 mln as at 31 
December 2018).  

Abs. %

Wages and salaries (982.3) (1,008.6) 26.3                        -2.6%

Social-welfare charges (267.8) (275.0) 7.2                          -2.6%

Other personnel expenses (63.5) (53.0) (10.5) 19.8%

Personnel expenses (1,313.6) (1,336.6) 23.0                       -1.7%

Taxes (216.2) (202.2) (14.0) 6.9%

 Furnishing, real estate and security  expenses (68.5) (222.6) 154.1                      -69.2%

General operating expenses (161.7) (175.3) 13.6                        -7.8%

Information technology expenses (19.2) (23.9) 4.7                          -19.7%

Legal and professional expenses (134.7) (115.2) (19.5) 16.9%

Indirect personnel costs (9.3) (9.4) 0.1                          -1.1%

Insurance (47.4) (40.2) (7.2) 17.9%

 Advertising, sponsorship and promotions (2.2) (2.6) 0.4                          -15.4%

Other (252.7) (280.3) 27.7                        -9.9%

Expenses recovery 250.8                   269.4                   (18.6) -6.9%

Other administrative expenses (661.1) (802.3) 141.3                      -17.6%

Tangible assets (127.8) (76.2) (51.6) 67.7%

Intangible assets (0.1) (0.1) 0.0                          0.0%

 Amortization and impairment losses (127.9) (76.3) (51.6) 67.6%

Operating costs (2,102.5) (2,215.3) 112.8                      -5.1%

Chg Y/Y
31 12 2019  Type of transaction 31 12 2018
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Net impairment (losses)/reversals on financial assets measured at amortised cost and financial 
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank recorded Net impairment (losses)/reversals on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income amounting to EUR 
627 mln, up by EUR 65 mln from the figure recorded in the previous year (EUR 562 mln). 

The cost of credit includes the positive effects linked to the exercise of the right of withdrawal from the 
agreement with Juliet, which resulted in the elimination of forecasted costs for the servicing agreement reflected 
in value adjustments which on the loan portfolio  

Instead, the simultaneous revision of the NPE reduction strategy, which entailed an acceleration in the 2019 
disposal plan in order to further reduce the level of the NPE ratio, had a negative effect.  

Moreover, compared with 31 December 2018, the aggregate was affected by the increases of hedges on positions 
already classified as non-performing, only partially offset by the benefits from lower default flows and fewer 
transfers to non-performing. 

Lastly, the cost includes: 

- the negative impact of the effects related to the annual update of the risk parameters used for the 
collective/statistical valuation of performing loans and non-performing loans below the threshold and 
to the downward revision of GDP growth estimates for 2019 incorporated in the forward-looking 
scenarios envisaged by IFRS; 

- positive impact from write-backs on loans (subject to restructuring) to the Sorgenia and Tirreno Power 
Group and the effects associated with the changes in loan estimation criteria. 

The ratio of net impairment losses on loans to Loans to Customers as at 31 December 2019 shows a 
Provisioning Rate of 83 bps. 

 

 

The Bankõs Net Operating Income in 2019 was positive for approximately EUR 137 mln, compared to a 
positive value of EUR 236 mln in the previous year. 

 

  

Abs. %

 Loans to banks measured at amortised cost 2.2                (1.5)                3.7                n.s.

    - Loans 2.2                (2.0)                4.2                n.s.

    - Debt securities -                   0.5                (0.5) -100.0%

 Loans to customers  measured at amortised cost (619.5)             (557.9)             (61.6) 11.0%

    - Loans (618.1)             (554.4)             (63.7) 11.5%

    - Debt securities (1.4)                (3.5)                2.1                n.s.

 Gains (losses) due to modifications in contractual 

cash flows without derecognition  
(4.2)                (8.2)                4.0                n.s.

 Impairmet loss on loans measured at amortised 

cost 
(621.5)            (567.6)            (53.9) 9.5%

 Financial assets measured at fair value through 

comprehensive income 
(5.6)                5.1                (10.7) n.s.

 Total adjustments due to credit risk (627.1)            (562.5)            (64.6)              11.5%

Chg. Y/Y
31 12 2019  31 12 2018
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Non-operating income, tax and net profit for the year 

The Result for the year included the following items: 

¶ Net provisions for risks and charges of EUR -69 mln, mainly attributable to provisions for commitments 
assumed against the compensation relating to transactions in diamonds. These are in addition to the 
provisions for indemnity requests associated with the loan disposal transactions and for the estimate of the 
reimbursements related to operations with customers, even if there were no specific requests. These effects 
were only partially offset by the write-backs on guarantees given, also attributable to the release of guarantees 
on certain large positions. Instead, there were no significant changes for the dispute related to financial 
information. As at 31 December 2018, there was a negative balance of EUR 71 mln, linked to provisions for 
legal risks in part offset by the revaluation of the commitment assumed to cover hedging costs of the vehicle 
Siena NPL 2018 S.r.l. as part of the bad loan securitisation. 

¶ Losses on equity investments amounted to EUR -52 mln, compared to a loss of EUR 334 mln in the 
previous year. 

¶ Restructuring costs/One-off charges, equal to EUR 18 mln, include in particular costs linked to project 
expenses, the price adjustment for the disposal of BMP Belgio S.A., the effects linked to early retirement, and 
recoveries recognised by INPS for previous early retirement/solidarity fund procedures. As at 31 December 
2018, the aggregate amounted to EUR 136 mln and mainly included the costs set aside for early retirement 
incentives/solidarity fund for EUR 147 mln, partially offset by recoveries recognised by INPS for previous 
early retirement/solidarity fund manoeuvres (EUR +35 mln) and the charges relating to projects, also seeking 
to implement the commitments made with DGComp (for a total of EUR -23 mln). 

 

¶ Risks and charges associated with SRF, DGS and similar schemes, with a balance of EUR -104 mln 
consisting of the Banksõs contribution due to the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) equivalent to EUR 42 mln, 
the additional amount due to the National Resolution Fund (NRF) of EUR 15 mln, the total amount 
recognised to IDPF (DGS) of EUR 39 mln, and the net loss on the exposure with the IDPF Voluntary 
Scheme (for the Carige intervention) amounting to EUR 7 mln at the end of 2019.  

¶ DTA fee, amounting to EUR -62 mln. This amount, determined according to the criteria set forth in Law 
Decree 59/2016, converted into Law no. 119 of 30 June 2016, represents the fee on DTA (Deferred Tax 
Assets) as at 31 December 2019 that can be converted into a tax credit, net of the portion recovered from 
subsidiaries (EUR 71 mln and EUR 9 mln, respectively). 

¶ Gains (losses) on disposal of investments of EUR 3 mln related to the sale of property. This represents 
an increase (EUR +2.3 mln) compared to 2018. 

Due to the changes discussed above, the Bankõs Loss before tax from continuing operations was EUR -129 
mln. In 2018, the Bank posted a loss of EUR -473 mln. 

Tax expense (recovery) on income from continuing operations recorded a negative contribution of EUR 1 
bn, essentially due to the partial reassessment of DTAs for tax losses, accrued and not recognised in previous 
years, to take into account the effects on future taxable income resulting from the reintroduction of the òACE - 
Support for Economic Growthó tax benefit and changes in the macroeconomic scenario. 

Considering the net effects of the PPA (EUR -12 mln), the loss for the year of Banca Monte dei Paschi di 
Siena amounted to EUR -1 bn, compared to a loss of EUR 112 mln in 2018. 
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Reclassified balance sheet 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

Reclassified Balance Sheet 

abs. %

Cash and cash equivalents                  830.1                  934.3                 (104.2) -11.2%

Financial assets measured at amortised cost : 0.0

    a) Loans to customers                              74,890.1              72,766.5                2,123.6 2.9%

    b) Loans to banks              32,146.4              28,836.8                3,309.6 11.5%

Financial assets measured at fair value 7,908.2               13,085.3             (5,177.1)              -39.6%

Equity investments 2,763.2               2,653.3               109.9                 4.1%

Property, plant and equipment / Intangible assets 2,534.4               1,040.3               1,494.1               n.s.

Other assets 4,503.6               5,541.1               (1,037.5)              -18.7%

Total assets 125,576.0          124,857.6          718.4                0.6%

abs. %

Payables

    a) Deposits from customers and securities issued 83,703.8             82,040.5             1,663.3               2.0%

    b) Deposits from banks 28,030.6             28,063.4             (32.8)                  -0.1%

Financial liabilities held for trading 583.5                 623.0                 (39.5)                  -6.3%

Provisions for specific use -                       -                       -                       0.0%

    a) Provisions for staff severance indemnities 172.8                 185.5                 (12.7)                  -6.8%

    b) Provisione related to guarantees and 

         other commitments given
156.9                 243.5                 (86.6)                  -35.6%

    c) Pensions and other post employemnt benefit 

        obligations
32.1                   33.4                   (1.3)                   -3.9%

    d) Other provisions 929.3                 1,108.0               (178.7)                -16.1%

Other liabilities 4,389.3               4,248.2               141.1                 3.3%

Bank net equity 7,577.7               8,312.1               (734.4)                -8.8%

    a) Valuation reserves (28.4)                  (276.9)                248.5                 -89.7%

    c) Equity instruments -                       -                       -                       -

    d) Reserves (1,362.0)              (1,441.7)              79.7                   -5.5%

    e) Share premium -                       -                       -                       -

    f) Share capital 10,328.6             10,328.6             -                       -

    g) Treasury shares (-) (186.0)                (186.0)                -                       -

    h) Net profit (loss) for the year (1,174.5)              (111.9)                (1,062.6)              n.s.

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 125,576.0          124,857.6          718.4                0.6%

LIABILITIES

ASSETS 30 06 2018 31 12 2018*

30 06 2018 31 12 2018*

Chg

Chg
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Customer funding 

As at 31 December 2019, the Bankõs Total Funding volumes amounted to around EUR 180.5 bn, an increase 
compared to the values at the end of 2018 (+3.4%), due to the increase in both Indirect Funding and Direct 
Funding. 

 
Direct Funding volumes, which at the end of 2019 stood at EUR 83.7 bn, posted an increase of EUR 1.7 bn 
compared to the end of December 2018 despite the EUR 5.9 bn decrease in repurchase agreements, which was 
more than offset by growth in Current Accounts and Time Deposits (EUR +4.1 bn), Bonds (EUR +1.8 bn) and 
other forms of funding (EUR +1.7 bn).  
 

 

Indirect Funding  amounted to EUR 96.8 bn, up compared to 31 December 2018 (EUR +4.3 bn) thanks to a 
consistent positive market effect, which benefitted both the Assets under Management and the Assets under 
Custody components. 

In detail, Assets under Management, amounting to EUR 54.5 bn, grew by EUR 3.2 bn compared to 
December 2018, primarily in the bancassurance and funds segments. 

 

  

Customer Funding 

31/12/19 31/12/18 Abs. %

Direct funding 83,703.8           82,040.5           1,663.3 2.0%

Indirect funding 96,832.4           92,567.5           4,264.8 4.6%

       assets under management 54,459.4          51,265.3          3,194.0 6.2%

       assets under custody 42,373.0          41,302.2          1,070.8 2.6%

Total funding 180,536.2        174,608.0        5,928.1 3.4%

Chg Y/Y

Direct funding customers

Type of transaction 31/12/19 31/12/18 Abs. %

Current accounts 53,377.0                  50,379.1                2,997.9                  6.0%

Time deposits 8,190.7                   7,136.5                 1,054.2                  14.8%

Reverse repurchase agreements -                            5,874.0                 (5,874.0)                 n.s.

Bonds 13,113.8                  11,354.9                1,758.9                  15.5%

Other types of direct funding 9,022.3                   7,296.0                 1,726.3                  23.7%

Total 83,703.8                82,040.5              1,663.3                 2.0%

Change Y/Y 

Indirect Funding 

Change Y/Y

31/12/19 31/12/18 Abs. %

Assets under management 54,459.4               51,265.3               3,194.0                 6.2%

Mutual Funds/Sicav 24,087.0               23,394.9               692.2                   3.0%

Individual Portfolio under Management 4,906.3                 4,812.7                 93.5                     1.9%

Insurance Products 25,466.1               23,057.8               2,408.4 10.4%

Assets under custody 42,373.0               41,302.2               1,070.8 2.6%

Total funding 96,832.4              92,567.5              4,264.8 4.6%
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Loans to customers 

As at 31 December 2019, Loans to Customers of the Bank came to EUR 74.9 bn, up by EUR +2.1 bn 
compared to the end of December 2018, primarily in Securities lending (EUR +2 bn), Mortgage loans (EUR 
+0.9 bn), and other loans (EUR +0.6 bn). By contrast, there was a drop in Current accounts (EUR -0.3 bn) and 
Non-performing loans (EUR -1.1 bn), impacted by disposals of UTP and bad loans.  

 

 

  

Loans to customers

Type of transaction 31/12/19 31 12 2018 Abs. %

Current accounts 4,624.6                 4,957.7                 (333.1)                  -6.7%

Mortgages 43,678.0               42,738.2               939.8                   2.2%

Other forms of lending 13,245.5               12,608.4               637.1                   5.1%

Securities lending 8,781.8                 6,795.6                 1,986.2                 29.2%

Non performing loans 4,560.2                 5,666.6                 (1,106.4)                -19.5%

Total 74,890.1              72,766.5              2,123.6                2.9%

Stage 1 61,673.0               57,687.1               3,985.9                 6.9%

Stage 2 8,656.8                 9,412.8                 (756.0)                  -8.0%

Stage 3 4,560.3                 5,666.6                 (1,106.3)                -19.5%

Change Y/Y 
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Non-performing loans 

As at 31 December 2019, the Bankõs exposure to gross non-performing loans totalled EUR 9.1 bn, down 
compared to 31 December 2018 (EUR -3.2 bn) due to the disposals made over the year and other reductions 
linked to write-offs, conversions and payments. The gross exposure to Bad Loans was down compared to 31 
December 2018 by EUR 1.2 bn primarily due to the above-mentioned disposals, in part offset by new positions 
transferred to that category. The exposure of Unlikely to Pay also fell by EUR 1.9 bn over December 2018, 
mainly following transfers/reductions, management, and deterioration to Bad Loans recorded during the period. 
Gross non-performing past due exposures were also down compared to December 2018.  

As at 31 December 2019, the Bankõs net exposure in terms of non-performing loans totalled EUR 4.8 bn, 
down compared to 31 December 2018 (EUR -1.2 bn). There was a decline in net exposure in Bad Loans (EUR -
0.1 bn), Unlikely to Pay (EUR -1.1 bn), and Non-Performing Past Due Exposures (EUR -0.1 bn).  

The ratio between net non-performing loans and net loans to customers as at 31 December 2019 was 6.3%, 
down compared to December 2018 (8%).  

In the tables below, non-performing financial assets include all cash exposures regardless of the accounting 
portfolio they belong to, with the exception of equity instruments, UCITS, assets held for trading and hedging 
derivatives. Moreover, the gross value and the loss provisions of non-performing financial assets are shown net 
of interest on arrears and of the relative adjustments. Performing customer loan exposures are represented by 
loans at amortised cost and loans measured at fair value as per mandatory requirements. 

 

 

  

 Bad loans 
 Unlikely 

to pay 

 Non-

performing 

Past due 

 Non-

performing 

exposures 

 Perfoming 

exposures 
 Total 

 - of which 

forbone 

impaired 

 - of which 

forborne not 

impaired 

 Gross exposure 4,928.9      4,142.1    61.4          9,132.4       71,114.0     80,246.4 3,387.6      1,931.7      

 Provisions 2,550.9      1,807.7    16.0          4,374.6       374.4         4,749.0  1,402.9      109.3         

 Net exposure 2,378.0      2,334.4    45.4          4,757.8       70,739.6     75,497.4 1,984.7      1,822.4      

 Coverage ratio 51.8% 43.6% 26.1% 47.9% 0.5% 5.9% 41.4% 5.7%

  % on Loans to 

customers 
3.1% 3.1% 0.1% 6.3% 93.7% 100.0%

31 12 18 31 12 18 31 12 18 31 12 18 31 12 18 31 12 18 31 12 18 31 12 18

 Gross exposure 6,165.6      6,051.3    134.9         12,351.8      68,862.9     81,214.7 4,539.3      1,790.4      

 Provisions 3,729.8      2,620.9    26.6          6,377.3       489.3         6,866.6  1,909.0      140.6         

 Net exposure 2,435.8      3,430.4    108.3         5,974.5       68,373.6     74,348.1 2,630.3      1,649.8      

 Coverage ratio 60.5% 43.3% 19.7% 51.6% 0.7% 8.5% 42.1% 7.9%

  % on Loans to 

customers 
3.3% 4.6% 0.1% 8.0% 92.0% 100.0%

 Loans to customers 

31 12 19

31 12 18
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Capital adequacy  

Regulatory capital and statutory requirements 

 

 

  

31 12 2019 31 12 2018 Abs. %

OWN FUNDS

 Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) 7,933.5                         7,736.0                          197.5                   2.55%

 Tier 1 (T1) 7,933.5                         7,736.0                          197.5                   2.55%

 Tier 2 (T2) 1,119.1                         819.2                            299.9                   n.s.

 Total capital (TC) 9,052.6                        8,555.2                        497.4                  5.81%

RISK ASSETS

 Credit and Counterparty Risk 37,683.1                       36,755.1                        928.0                   2.52%

 Credit valuation adjustment risk 134.9                           168.1                            (33.2)                     -19.75%

 Settlement risk -                                  -                                  -                          

 Market risks 46.9                             64.1                              (17.2)                     -26.79%

 Operational risk 9,380.6                         8,584.3                          796.3                   9.28%

 Other prudential requirements -                                  -                                  -                          

 Other calculation elements -                                  -                                  -                          

Risk-weighted assets 47,245.5                      45,571.6                       1,673.9                3.67%

CAPITAL RATIOS -                                 

 CET1 capital ratio 16.79% 16.98% -0.19%

 Tier1 capital ratio 16.79% 16.98% -0.19%

 Total capital ratio 19.16% 18.77% 0.39%

Chg. 31 12 2018

Categories / Values

Risk Weighted Assets
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Prospects and outlook on operations 

Please refer to the paragraph of the same name in the Consolidated Report on Operations, the content and 
statements of which also apply to the Bank. 
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Annexes 

 

 

 

Reconciliation between the reclassified income statement and balance sheet 
and the related statutory accounts 
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2019 ANNUAL REPORT 

Reconciliation between the reclassified balance sheet and related statutory accounts 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16.  

 

  

Balance-sheet Items - Assets 31 12 2019  31 12 2018* Reclassified balance-sheet items - Assets

               830.1               934.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Item 10 Ĭ Cash and cash equivalents               830.1                934.3 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: Receivables

          74,890.1           72,766.5        a) Loans to customers

Item 40 Ĭ Loans to customers            74,890.1            72,766.5 

          32,146.4           28,836.8        b) Loans to banks

Item 40 Ĭ Loans to banks            32,146.4            28,836.8 

            7,908.2           13,085.3 Financial assets measuerd at fair value

Item 20 Ĭ Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss            1,343.9             2,552.1 

Item 30 Ĭ Financial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income
            6,564.3            10,533.2 

            2,763.2             2,653.3 Equity investments

Item 70 Ĭ Equity investments             2,763.2             2,653.3 

            2,534.4             1,040.3 Property, plant and equipment / Intangible assets 

Item 80 Ĭ Property, plant and equipment            2,531.2             1,026.3 

Item 90 Ĭ Intangible assets                   3.2                 14.0 

            4,503.6             5,541.1 Other assets

Item 50 Ĭ Hedging Derivatives                 71.4                257.7 

Item 60 Ĭ Change in value of macro-hedged financial assets (+/-)               617.3                165.7 

Item 100 Ĭ Tax assets             2,101.7             3,319.2 

Item 110 Ĭ Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations                75.2                 71.7 

Item 120 Ĭ Other assets             1,638.0             1,726.8 

Total Assets         124,857.6          125,576.0 Total Assets
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BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16.  

 

 

 

Balance-sheet Items - Liabilities 31 12 2019  31 12 2018* Reclassified balance-sheet items - Liabilities

Payables

          83,703.8           82,040.5   a) Deposits from customers and securities issued

Item10 Ĭ Deposits from customers            67,053.6            68,343.9 

Item 10 Ĭ Debt securities issued           16,277.4            13,326.4 

Item 30 Ĭ Financial liabilities designated at fair value               372.8                370.2 

          28,030.6           28,063.4    b) Deposits from banks

Item 10 Ĭ Deposits from banks            28,030.6            28,063.4 

              583.5               623.0 Financial liabilities held for trading

Item 40 Ĭ Financial liabilities held for trading               583.5                623.0 

                     - Provisions for specific use

Item 90 Ĭ Provision for employee severance pay               172.8                185.5 a) Provision for employee severance pay

Item 100 - Provisions for risks and charges - a) financial guarantees and 

other commitments
156.9                243.5 b) Provision for pension

Item 100 - Provisions for risks and charges - a) pension and similar 

obligations
                32.1 

Item 100 - Provisions for risks and charges - b) other provisions                929.3             1,108.0 c) Other provisions

            4,389.3             4,248.2 Other liabilities

Item 40 Ĭ Hedging Derivatives             1,315.9                907.6 

Item 50 Ĭ Change in value of macro-hedged financial liabilities (+/-)                31.4                 18.1 

Item 60 Ĭ Tax liabilities                   0.3                      - 

Item 70 Ĭ Liabilities associated to disposal groups held for sale                     -                      - 

Item 80 Ĭ Other liabilities             3,041.7             3,322.5 

            7,577.7             8,312.1 Bank net equity

Item 110 Ĭ Valuation reserves                (28.4)              (276.9)          a) Valuation reserves

Item 140 Ĭ Reserves            (1,362.0)           (1,441.7)          d) Reserves

Item 150 Ĭ Share premium reserve                     -                      -           e) Share premium reserve

Item 160 Ĭ Share Capital            10,328.6            10,328.6           f) Share Capital

Item 170 Ĭ Share premium reserve                     -                      -           e) Share premium reserves

Item 180 Ĭ Profit (loss) for the year (+/-)           (1,174.5)              (111.9)          h) Profit (loss) for the year

         125,576.0          124,857.6 Total liabilities and shareholders' equity Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
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Balance Sheet  

 

* The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

  

(euro  unit)

31 12 2019  31 12 2018*

 10.  Cash and cash equivalents                830,134,881                934,343,468 

 20.  Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss              1,343,880,429              2,552,063,507 

 a) financial assets held for trading                680,150,203                800,567,990 

 c) other financial assets measured at fair value mandatory                663,730,226              1,751,495,516 

 30. 
 Financial assets measured at fair value through other  comprehensive 

income 
             6,564,298,174            10,533,159,628 

 40.  Financial assets measured at amortised cost          107,036,499,311          101,603,299,471 

 a) Loans to banks            32,146,409,597            28,836,807,852 

 b) Loans to customers            74,890,089,714            72,766,491,619 

 50.  Hedging derivatives                  71,391,521                257,675,737 

 60.  Change in value of macro-hedged financial assets (+/-)                617,259,653                165,689,537 

 70.  Equity investments              2,763,249,390              2,653,300,592 

 80.  Property, plant and equipment              2,531,178,213              1,026,254,912 

 90.  Intangible assets                   3,180,618                  13,991,121 

 100.  Tax assets              2,101,675,899              3,319,249,166 

 a) current                576,055,810                583,878,179 

 b) deferred              1,525,620,089              2,735,370,987 

 110. 
 Non-current assets and groups of assets held for sale and discontinued 

operations 
                 75,232,663                  71,682,737 

 120.  Other assets              1,637,985,422              1,726,899,432 

 Tatal assets 125,575,966,174        124,857,609,308        

Assets
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BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

continued: Balance Sheet  

 

* The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

 

 

(euro  unit)

31 12 2019  31 12 2018*

 10.  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost          111,361,586,334          109,733,724,900 

    a) loans to banks            28,030,615,350            28,063,446,258 

    b) loans to customers            67,053,575,991            68,343,924,860 

    c) debts securities issued            16,277,394,993            13,326,353,782 

 20.  Financial liabilities held for trading                583,506,664                623,032,334 

 30.  Financial liabilities designated at fair value                372,836,995                370,199,542 

 40.  Hedging derivatives              1,315,904,617                907,617,281 

 50.  Fair value change of financial liabilities in hedged portfolio (+/-)                  31,390,345                  18,145,090 

 60.  Tax liabilities                      303,939                               - 

    a) current                      303,939                               - 

 80.  Other liabilities              3,041,615,605              3,322,426,667 

 90.  Provision for employees severance pay                172,756,088                185,483,335 

 100.  Provisions for risks and charges:              1,118,333,376              1,384,836,669 

    a) financial guarantees and other commitments                156,891,174                243,454,586 

    b) post-employment benefits                  32,093,170                  33,392,233 

    c) other provisions                929,349,031              1,107,989,850 

 110.  Valuation reserves                 (28,398,878)              (276,918,630)

 140.  Reserves             (1,361,989,957)            (1,441,676,532)

 160.  Share capital            10,328,618,260            10,328,618,260 

 170.  Treasury shares (-)               (185,957,994)              (185,957,994)

 180.  Profit (loss) (+/-)             (1,174,539,220)              (111,921,614)

 Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity          125,575,966,174          124,857,609,308 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
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Income Statement 

 

* The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

 

(euro  unit)

31 12 2019  31 12 2018*

10.  Interest income and similar revenues 1,940,270,072             2,186,632,336             

 of which interest income calculated applying the effective interest rate method 1,917,374,319            2,101,311,797            

20. Interest  expense and similar charges (697,741,760)               (664,705,411)               

30.  Net interest income 1,242,528,312            1,521,926,925            

40.  Fee and commission income 1,578,140,576             1,661,259,978             

50. Fee and commission expense (189,445,203)               (187,843,875)               

60.  Net fee and commission income 1,388,695,373           1,473,416,103            

70.  Dividends and similar income 69,404,846                 99,282,738                 

80.  Net profit (loss) from trading 51,519,000                 32,296,958                 

90.  Net profit (loss) from hedging (6,205,763)                  (16,999,867)                 

100.  Gains/(losses) on disposal/repurchase of: 117,456,137               39,305,237                 

     a) financial assets measured at amortised cost 58,619,728                4,331,226                  

    b) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income52,450,793                24,502,652                

     c) financial liabilities 6,385,616                  10,471,359                

110.
 Net profit (loss) form financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 

value through other  comprehensive income 
49,579,057                 (112,641,530)               

     a) financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (11,201,079)                3,958,608                  

    b) other financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 60,780,136                (116,600,138)               

120.  Net interest and other banking income 2,912,976,962           3,036,586,564           

130.  Net impairment (losses)/reversals on  (622,894,380)               (554,325,478)               

    a) financial assets measured at amortised cost (617,309,315)               (559,426,018)               

     b) financial assets measured at fair value through 

         other  comprehensive income 
(5,585,065)                  5,100,540                  

140.  Modification gains/(losses) (4,226,664)                  (8,184,379)                  

150.  Net income from banking activities 2,285,855,918           2,474,076,707           

160.  Administrative expenses: (2,374,587,986)             (2,717,915,547)             

     a) personnel expenses (1,291,894,883)            (1,452,567,532)            

     b) other administrative expenses (1,082,693,103)            (1,265,348,015)            

170.  Net provision for risks and charges: (69,444,279)                 (75,699,768)                 

     a) commitments and guarantees issued 86,563,412                2,891,057                  

    b) other net provisions (156,007,691)               (78,590,825)                

180.  Net adjustments to/recoveries on property, plant and equipment (143,964,972)               (76,224,401)                 

190. Net adjustments to/recoveries on intangible assets (10,822,208)                 (24,672,423)                 

200.  Other operating expenses/income 215,294,166               247,059,078               

 210.  Operating expenses (2,383,525,279)                       (2,647,453,061)

220. Gains (losses)  on investments (52,380,641)                 (333,753,633)               

250. Gains (losses)  on disposal of investments 2,827,100                  482,430                     

 260.  Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations  (147,222,902)               (506,647,557)              

270. Tax (expense)/recovery  on income from continuing operations (1,027,316,318)             394,725,943               

 280.  Profit (loss) after tax from continuing operations (1,174,539,220)             (111,921,614)               

300.  Profit (loss)            (1,174,539,220)              (111,921,614)

Items
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BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

 

. 

 

 

(euro  unit)

Items 31 12 2019  31 12 2018  

10.  Profit (loss) (1,174,539,220)   (111,921,614)           

 Other comprehensive income after tax not recycled to profit and loss (385,126)            19,140,628           

20.
  Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 
9,611,450          7,100,916              

30.  Financial liabilities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (4,128,882)          6,332,985              

70.  Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans (5,867,694)          5,706,727              

 Other comprehensive income after tax  recycled to profit and loss 248,904,879     (230,915,535)         

110.  Exchange differences (2,177,770)          2,887,515              

120.  Cash flow hedges 106,857,274       (17,402,286)            

140.
 Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
144,225,375       (216,400,764)          

170.  Total other comprehensive income after tax 248,519,753      (211,774,907)          

180.  Total comprehensive income (Item 10+170) (926,019,467)      (323,696,521)         
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As at 31 December 2019, the Bankõs net equity amounts to EUR 7,577.7 mln, as compared to EUR 8,312.1 mln as at 31 
December 2018, with a total net decrease of EUR 734.4 mln. 

The most significant phenomena impacting net equity, in addition to the EUR 1,174.5 mln loss for the year, were: 

1. the òChanges in reserveó column includes: 
a. òReserves a) from profitsó, amounting to EUR 15.0 mln, the reversal of the negative OCI reserve due to the 

sale of certain securities; 
b. òReserves - b) otheró, equal to EUR 206.6 mln: 

o the reclassification from financial liabilities at amortised cost of EUR 76 mln referring to the 
indemnity issued to the Bank of New York on 10 March 2009, as the ten-year term had been 
completed; 

o the amount of EUR 130.6 mln due to the effects of the extraordinary transaction (business 
combination under common control) concluded in May 2019 and relating to the merger by 
incorporation of the subsidiary Perimetro Gestione Proprietà Immobiliari S.p.A. 

 
2. valuation reserves posted a total increase of EUR 248.5 mln (the detailed components of which are shown in the 

statement of comprehensive income), almost fully attributable to debt securities measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, essentially due to the trends in the spread on Italian government securities. 
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As at 31 December 2018, the Bankõs net equity amounted to EUR 8,312.1 mln, as compared to EUR 9,647.5 mln as at 31 
December 2017, with a total net decrease of EUR 1,335.4 mln. 

Note that the column òChanges in opening balancesó represents the effects of First-Time Adoption (FTA) in applying the 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards, as described in further detail in section 2 òGeneral accounting standardsó of the 
Notes to the financial statements, under the chapters òDisclosure on first-time adoption of IFRS 15 ôRevenue from Contracts 
with Customersõó and òDisclosure on first-time adoption of IFRS 9 ôFinancial Instrumentsõó. 

The most significant phenomena impacting net equity, in addition to the EUR 111.9 mln loss for the year, were: 

1. in the column òChanges in reservesó, the item òReserves a) from profitsó includes the reversal of the OCI reserve 
due to the sale of certain securities, totalling EUR 26.4 mln; 
 

2. òValuation reservesó show an overall negative change amounting to EUR 211.8 mln, the details of which are 
available in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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Cash Flow Statement - indirect method 

 

(euro  unit)

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES 31 12 2019  31 12 2018*

1. Cash flow from operations 872,494,153              774,554,268              

profit (loss) (+/-) (1,174,539,220)             (111,921,614)               

 capital gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on 

assets/liabilities designated at fair value (+/-) 
(37,393,021)                 108,976,603               

net profit (loss) from hedging 6,205,763                  16,999,867                 

net impairment losses/reversals 772,845,825               843,964,500               

 net losses/reversal on impairment on property, plant and equipment and on 

intangible assets (+/-) 
154,787,180               104,027,667               

net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-) 77,883,196                 360,474,460               

tax espense (recovery) on income from continuing operations 1,027,316,318             (394,067,648)               

other adjustments 45,388,112                 (153,899,567)               

2. Cash flow from (used in) financial assets (715,635,330)              271,096,380              

financial assets held for trading 101,147,474               83,293,070                 

other financial assets measured at fair value mandatory 1,156,440,746             (619,488,375)               

 Financial assets measured at fair value through other  comprehensive 

income 
4,229,633,712             3,280,729,842             

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (6,368,215,257)             (3,445,010,512)             

other assets 165,357,995               971,572,355               

3. Cash flow from (used in) financial liabilities (307,801,108)              (4,305,566,885)           

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,891,197,714             (3,606,978,642)             

Financial liabilities held for trading (39,525,670)                 (179,474,352)               

Financial liabilities designated at fair value (15,292,087)                 (45,015,871)                 

other liabilities (2,144,181,065)             (474,098,020)               

Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities (150,942,285)              (3,259,916,237)           

B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

1. Cash flow from 115,551,464               158,455,847              

sales of equity investments 43,508,000                 55,815,909                 

dividends collected on equity investments 59,886,050                 89,239,823                 

sales of property, plant and equipment 12,157,414                 13,400,115                 

sales of subsidiaries and undertakings -                              -                              

2. Cash flow used in (68,817,764)                (48,144,550)                

purchase of equity investments (46,575)                      -                              

purchase of property, plant and equipment (68,771,189)                 (48,144,550)                 

Net cash flow from (used in) investment activities 46,733,700               110,311,297               

C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES

issue/purchase of treasury shares -                              -                              

dividend distribution and other -                              -                              

Net cash flow from (used in) funding activities -                             -                             

NET CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) OPERATING, 

INVESTMENT AND FUNDING ACTIVITIES DURING THE 

YEAR

(104,208,585)              (3,149,604,940)           
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* The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

 

For further information on the net cash flow generated/absorbed during the year, please refer to the section 
"Liquidity Risk" in Part E "Information on risks and hedging policies". 

 

Reconciliation

Accounts 31 12 2018 31 12 2018*

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 934,343,468               4,083,948,406             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (104,208,585)              (3,149,604,938)            

Cash and cash equivalents: foreign exchange effects -                           -                           

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 830,134,883               934,343,468               
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A.1 - General 

Section 1 - Statement of compliance with international accounting principles 

Pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, these separate financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with the international accounting principles issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) including interpretations by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, as endorsed by the European 
Commission, pursuant to EC Regulation no. 1606 of 19 July 2002 which was effective as at 31 December 2019.   

The international accounting principles were applied following the indications set forth in the òFramework for 
the preparation and presentation of financial statementsó (the Framework). 

For an overview of the standards endorsed during 2019 or those endorsed in previous years, whose application is 
scheduled for 2019 (or future years), please refer to òSection 5 - Other Aspectsó below, which also describes the 
main impacts for the Bank. 

All information required by the international accounting standards and Supervisory Authorities (Bank of Italy, 
Consob and ESMA) have been provided in the report on operations and the notes to the financial statements, in 
addition to other non-mandatory information deemed necessary to provide a true and fair, relevant, reliable, 
comparable and meaningful view of the Bankõs performance. 

 

  



43 Notes to the Financial Statements - Part A - Accounting policies 

   

 

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

Section 2 - General accounting standards 

The Separate Financial Statements consist of the balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity, and the notes to the separate financial statements, and is accompanied by 
the directorsõ report on operations, financial results achieved, and the Bankõs financial situation.  

The Separate Financial Statements as at 31 December 2019 have been prepared based on the provisions 
contained in Circular no. 262 of 22 December 2005 issued by the Bank of Italy òBank financial statements: layout 
and rules for compilationó, as amended by the sixth update of 30 November 2018. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared based on a going concern assumption, according to the generally 
accepted principles of accrual accounting, relevance and materiality of information, priority of substance over 
form and with a view to encouraging consistency with future statements.  

The Separate Financial Statements are prepared with transparency and provide a true and fair view of the balance 
sheet, financial position and income statement for the year, the changes in shareholdersõ equity and cash flows. 

If the information required by international accounting standards and provisions contained in aforementioned 
circular were deemed insufficient for providing a true and fair representation, the notes to the financial 
statements contain supplemental information necessary for that purpose. 

If  - in exceptional cases - the application of a provision set forth in the international accounting standards proved 
to be incompatible with a true and fair view of the Groupõs financial situation, then such provision would not be 
applied. The reasons for deviation and its impact on the representation of the financial situation would, in such a 
case, be explained in the notes to the financial statements. 

Each item in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of comprehensive income also indicates the 
amount for the prior year, unless an accounting standard or interpretation allows or provides otherwise. The 
latter circumstance occurred upon first-time adoption of the IFRS 16 accounting standard; in particular, the Bank 
chose the option of applying the standard according to the modified retrospective option, on the basis of which 
the comparative information does not have to be restated for the 2018 financial statements. Therefore, with 
specific reference to lease contracts, the balance sheet and income statement balances of the line items for the 
previous year, drafted in compliance with the previously applicable IAS 17 standard (that is, the accounting 
standard in effect as at 31 December 2018 and used to prepare the related financial statements, to which 
reference should be made), are not entirely comparable with those line items as at 31 December 2019. Note that, 
upon first-time adoption of IFRS 16, an increase in balance sheet assets and liabilities of EUR 269.0 mln was 
recognised, while there was no impact on the opening balances of shareholdersõ equity at 1 January 2019.  
 
The chapter òTransition to the new IFRS 16ó contains the reconciliation schedules that provide details of the 
reconciliation between the balance sheet balances as at 31 December 2018 (pursuant to IAS 17) and the balances 
as at 1 January 2019 (pursuant to IFRS 16) as well as the reconciliation of the scope of future commitments for 
leases pursuant to IAS 17 with the lease liabilities recognised in the financial statements pursuant to IFRS 16 as at 
1 January 2019.  

Assets and liabilities, expenses and income cannot be mutually offset, unless this is permitted or required by the 
international accounting standards or the provisions set forth in Circular no. 262 of the Bank of Italy. 

The balance sheet, income statement, and statement of comprehensive income do not include items which did 
not have balances for the reference year or prior year. If an item of the assets or liabilities is part of several items 
of the balance sheet, the notes to the financial statements indicate - whenever this is necessary for the purpose of 
intelligibility - that this component may also be referred to items other than the one it is posted to.  

Revenue is posted with no sign in the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, and the respective 
section of the notes, whereas expenses are indicated in brackets.  

The statement of comprehensive income, beginning with profit (loss) for the year, shows the income items 
recognised as contra-entries of valuation reserves, net of the related tax effect, in compliance with international 
accounting standards. Consolidated comprehensive income is shown by separating income items that will not be 
transferred to the income statement in the future and those that may be subsequently classified to profit and loss 
when specific conditions are met. 

The statement of changes in equity shows the breakdown and changes in net equity accounts during the year and 
the previous year, broken down between share capital (ordinary shares), capital reserves, profit reserves and 
reserves from the valuation of assets or liabilities, equity instruments and profit and loss. Treasury shares in the 
portfolio are deducted from equity.  
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The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method, based on which cash flows from 
operations are represented by the income for the year adjusted to take into account the effects of non-monetary 
transactions. Cash flows are broken down amongst those deriving from operations, those deriving from 
investment activities and those generated by funding activities. In the statement, cash flows generated during the 
year have no sign, while those absorbed are shown between brackets. 

In compliance with the provisions of art. 5 of Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, the financial 
statements have been prepared using the Euro as the accounting currency: the financial statements are 
denominated in Euro units and the notes are denominated in thousands of Euro.  

Items of a different nature or with different allocation were recognised separately, unless they were considered 
irrelevant. All amounts shown in the financial statements were adjusted so as to reflect any events subsequent to 
the date of closing for which an adjustment is mandatory, according to IAS 10 (adjusting events). Non-adjusting 
events reflecting circumstances that occurred after the reporting date are disclosed as part of the notes to the 
financial statements, Part A, Section 4, if they are material and may affect the ability of users to make proper 
evaluations and decisions.   
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Transition to the new IFRS 16 

Foreword 

The international accounting standard IFRS 16 òLeasesó was published by the IASB on 13 January 2016, and was 
approved at EU level, through the publication in the Official Journal of the European Union of Regulation (EU) 
no. 2017/1986 of 9 November 2017. Starting from 1 January 2019, the standard shall replace the pre-existing 
suite of accounting standards and interpretations regarding lease contracts: 

¶ IAS 17 òLeasesó; 

¶ IFRIC 4 òDetermining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Leaseó; 

¶ SIC 15 òOperating Leases - Incentivesó; 

¶ SIC 27 òEvaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Leaseó. 

That section has been drawn up to illustrate the process of transition from the international accounting standard 
IAS 17 òLeasesó and its interpretations, whose provisions were applied up to 31 December 2018, to the 
international accounting standard IFRS 16.  

 

Regulatory provisions 

IFRS 16 provides a new definition of lease based on control (right of use) of an identified asset (underlying) for a 
fixed period of time in exchange for consideration, establishing the following discriminating factors: 
identification of the asset, lack of entitlement of the lessor to replace the asset, the right to substantially obtain all 
economic benefits originating from the use of the asset and the right to direct the use of the asset underlying the 
agreement.  

In addition to lease contracts termed as such, this category includes, for example, rental, lease and gratuitous lease 
contracts for valuable consideration. 

Exclusions from the standardõs scope of application include: 

¶ intellectual property licenses granted by the lessor pursuant to IFRS 15 òRevenue from Contracts with 
Customersó;  

¶ rights held by the lessee as a result of licensing agreements pursuant to IAS 38 òIntangible Assetsó. 

For a contract that contains a lease component and additional non-lease components (such as, in the case of 
leasing an asset and providing maintenance service), the standard provides for separate accounting for each lease 
component in relation to the non-lease components. Therefore, the compensation due must be allocated to the 
various components based on the relative stand-alone prices, following the IFRS 15 approach for service 
contracts. Nonetheless, in the cases where it is not easy to separate the non-lease components from the lease 
components, as a practical expedient, a lessee can still choose, for each class of underlying asset, not to separate 
them and to account for all components as a lease.  

The standard introduces for the lessee a single model for recording lease contracts in financial statements, 
regardless of whether they are operating or finance leases, generally requiring the recognition of the following in 
the balance sheet liabilities and assets, respectively: 

¶ a right of use (for the asset, hereinafter òRoUó), equivalent to the lease liability plus initial direct costs and 
estimated dismantling costs, net of incentives, 

¶ a lease liability, equivalent to the present value of future payments, calculated using the discount rate defined 
at the commencement date of the lease contract. 

The lessee must assess the assets comprising the RoU by applying the cost model. The income statement is 
essentially impacted by the amortisation charge for the right of use, recognised under operating expenses, and for 
interest accrued on the lease liability, recognised in net interest income. 

The exceptions to those rules are represented by short-term leases, with a contractual duration equal to or less 
than 12 months, and leases where the underlying asset is a low value asset, for which it is possible to essentially 
maintain the accounting treatment envisaged by IAS 17 for operating leases, with the lease payments charged to 
the income statement in compliance with the accrual principle. 

For the lessor, the new provisions substantially confirm the accounting treatment of the lease envisaged by IAS 
17, maintaining the distinction between finance leases and operating leases.  
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The plan for transition to IFRS 16 

During 2018, the Bank carried out a specific project to analyse the scope of the contracts to be subjected to the 
regulations of IFRS 16, to define their accounting treatment - on first-time adoption and full implementation - as 
well as to identify the necessary IT and organisational measures to be implemented. The project, headed by the 
Reporting function, was participated in by the company structures involved, for various reasons, in managing the 
contracts, defining the company processes and selecting IT solutions. 

Specifically, regarding the aspect of the project concerning the management of contracts, actions focused on 
defining and recognising the scope of the contracts containing a lease component and defining and locating the 
set of information necessary to calculate the right of use and the related liability.  

With regard to company processes, the introduction of IFRS 16 required the revision of expenditure 
management (accounts payable), to ensure i) correct identification of lease contracts at the time they are entered 
into, ii) correct input of the necessary information by the IT procedure assigned to calculate the right of use and 
the related liability and, lastly, iii) correct management of accounting for the invoices received based on the new 
accounting rules. 

Application decisions made by the Bank 

For the first-time adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank made the following planning decisions: 

¶ not to exercise the right to apply grandfathering, resulting in the redetermination of the scope of the 
lease transactions to be subjected to the new standard; 

¶ to recognise the effects of the initial application of the standard in accordance with the modified 
retrospective option permitted by the temporary provisions contained in paragraphs C5(b) and C8(b)(ii) 
of said standard, therefore, not recognising the effects of applying the standard retrospectively in 
application of IAS 8. Based on that approach: 

o the right of use is set as equal to the lease liability, i.e., equal to the present value of remaining 
lease payments for the expected duration of the lease and attributable to the lease component, 
net of VAT, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate at the date of first-time adoption; 

o the comparative data from the 2018 financial statements do not have to be recalculated; 

¶ lease contracts on intangible assets are not subject to the standard, pursuant to IFRS 16.4;  

¶ the scope of application of IFRS 16 does not apply to software programs based on the requirements of 
the standard and the IFRIC clarifications (òCloud Computing Arrangementsó document of September 
2018). 

Moreover, the rules and practical expedients used by the Bank during the transition for contracts classified as 
operating leases in accordance with IAS 17 are summarised below: 

¶ for lessees, applying the modified retrospective option that does not entail the restatement of 2018 
comparative data, the right of use value is calculated as the value of the lease liability adjusted for the 
amount of any accrued or deferred income relative to the lease; 

¶ the low-value contract exemption (the value identified is consistent with the limit of EUR 5 thousand 
set out in IFRS 16) was applied on a lease-by-lease basis. In particular, this includes mobile telephones 
that are not owned; 

¶ the short-term contract exemption was applied to contracts that expire within 12 months of the date of 
initial application. Specifically, these contracts include property with natural expiry (including the first 
renewal) by 31 December 2019 or with an expected release date within said term; 

¶ the practical expedient not to separate service components from lease components was not applied, and 
thus, the entire contract was not accounted for as a lease; 

¶ for the recognition and measurement of the lease liability as at 1 January 2019: 

o the discount rate used was defined, by applying the standardõs practical expedient, as the range of 
values of the incremental borrowing rate based on the contractõs duration as at 1 January 2019. The 
incremental borrowing rate was calculated as the weighted average of the funding curves plus a 
base rate linked to funding for corresponding durations; 

o the duration of the lease was determined by applying the principle of reasonable certainty. 
Specifically, the Group decided to consider, at the date of first-time adoption (and on full 
implementation for new contracts) only the initial renewal period as reasonably certain, unless there 
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are specific contractual clauses, facts or circumstances that suggest the termination of the lease or 
additional renewals.  

 

Impacts of first-time adoption of IFRS 16 

The provisions introduced by IFRS 16 entailed, upon first-time adoption, the recognition of the rights of use and 
the corresponding financial liabilities for property leases and car rental contracts. For those categories of 
contracts, the non-lease component is separated out and its accounting recognition is subject to the provisions of 
IFRS 15. 

With regard to the discounting rate, as shown above, the lease liabilities were discounted at the rate as at 1 
January 2019, referring to the maturity of the individual contracts. Specifically, the weighted average of the 
weighted marginal borrowing rate of the lessee applied to the lease liabilities recognised in the statement of 
financial position at the date of first-time adoption amounts to 2.80%.   

The quantitative effects recorded upon first-time adoption of the standard as at 1 January 2019, are almost fully 
attributable to the property lease contracts, and arose at Bank level, resulting in an increase in balance sheet assets 
and liabilities of EUR 269.0 mln, on the whole not significant with respect to either total assets/liabilities or 
CET1.   

Therefore, on the basis of what is described above, at the transition date, there was no impact on the book value 
of shareholders' equity. Specifically, starting from 1 January 2019, the new accounting standard resulted in an 
increase in assets recognised in the financial statement (the leased assets), an increase in liabilities (the lease 
liabilities), a reduction in administrative expenses (the lease payments), and a simultaneous increase in financial 
costs (remuneration of the recognised liability) and amortisation (relating to the right of use). 

With reference to the income statement, considering the entire duration of the contracts, the impact does not 
change over the time horizon of the lease, either applying the IAS 17 previously in force or applying the new 
IFRS 16, but arises at different times. It will reasonably be greater at the start of the contract due to the higher 
interest expense accrued on the lease liability, decreasing over the duration thereof as the lease payments are 
made. 

  



 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Part A - Accounting policies 48 

  

 

2019 ANNUAL REPORT 

A statement of reconciliation between the balance sheet balances as at 31 December 2018 (former IAS 17) and 
the balance sheet balances as at 1 January 2019 (current IFRS 16) is shown below (value in thousand of euros): 

 

 

The increase in property, plant and equipment by a total of EUR 269.0 mln is almost fully attributable to the 
recognition of the rights of use for properties.  

 

  

    40  Financial assets measured at amortised cost      101,603,299                          -      101,603,299 

 a) Loans to banks        28,836,808                          -        28,836,808 

 b) Loans to customers        72,766,492                          -        72,766,492 

    80  Property, plant and equipment          1,026,255                    1,640              269,013                 270,653          1,296,908 

 Property, plant and equipment used in the 

business 
           781,055                    1,640              269,013                 270,653          1,051,708 

 a) Land            275,181                          -            275,181 

 b) Builiding            249,078                   1,640              267,490                269,130            518,208 

 c) Furniture and furnishings            139,153                          -            139,153 

 d) Electronic systems             59,322                          -             59,322 

 d) Others             58,321                 1,523                    1,523             59,844 

 Property, plant and equipment held for 

investments 
           219,660                          -            219,660 

 a) Land            120,176                          -            120,176 

 b) Building             99,484                          -             99,484 

   100  Tax assets          3,319,249                          -          3,319,249 

 a) current            583,878                          -            583,878 

 b) deferred         2,735,371                          -         2,735,371 

   120  Other assets          1,726,899                   (1,640)                   (1,640)         1,725,259 

-                        269,013            269,013               

 Assets 
 01 01 2019 

Total 

 31 12 2018

Total 

 Transfer form 

Lease liabilities 

to  Right of Use 

 Reclassifications 

and adjustmens 

 Transfer from 

prepaid expenses 

to Right of Use 

    10  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost      109,733,725              269,013                 269,013                     110,002,738 

    a) loans to banks        28,063,446                    573                      573                      28,064,019 

    b) loans to customers        68,343,925              268,440                 268,440                      68,612,365 

    c) debts securities issued        13,326,354                          -                      13,326,354 

    60  Tax liabilities                     -                          -                                    - 

    80  Other liabilities         3,322,427                          -                        3,322,427 

   100  Provision for risks and charges:         1,384,837                          -                        1,384,837 

    a) financial guarantees and other commitments            243,455                          -                          243,455 

    b) post-employment benefits             33,392                          -                            33,392 

    c) other provisions         1,107,990                          -                        1,107,990 

   180  Profit (loss) (+/-)           (111,922)                          -                         (111,922)

269,013            269,013               

 Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity 
 31 12 2018

Total 

 01 01 2019 

Total 
 Lease liability 

 Reclassifications 

and adjustmens 
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Section 3 - Events after the Reporting Period  

On 10 January 2020, the Moodyõs rating agency revised the Bankõs ratings, increasing the standalone rating to 
òb3ó (from òCaa1ó). The long-term ratings of senior unsecured debt and deposits were confirmed at òCaa1ó and 
òB1ó, respectively, and the outlook has been improved from ònegativeó to òpositiveó. The subordinated debt 
rating was increased to òCaa1ó (from òCaa2ó). 
 
On 15 January 2020, the Bank successfully concluded the placement of a subordinated Tier 2 fixed-rate bond 
issue with maturity in 10 years (Issuer has the option of early repayment after 5 years from issue date, upon 
approval by the Regulator), intended for institutional investors, in the amount of EUR 400 mln, with an annual 
yield of 8%. 
 
On 21 January 2020, the Bank successfully concluded the placement of an unsecured Senior Preferred fixed-rate 
bond issue with maturity in 5 years and 3 months (April 2025) for institutional investors, in the amount of EUR 
750 mln with a yield of 2.7%. 
 
On 11 February 2020, as part of the competitive procedure that was launched in July 2019 concerning the sale of 
a real estate portfolio owned by the Group, the Bank announced that it had granted Ardian a period of 
exclusivity in an effort to finalise the contractual documentation necessary for the sale by the end of February. 
 
On 28 February 2020, at the conclusion of a competitive procedure launched in July 2019 that ended with a 
period of exclusivity granted to Ardian on 10 February 2020, the Bank and Ardian signed an agreement for the 
sale of a real estate portfolio owned by MPS Group. Subsequently, the parties will stipulate a preliminary 
purchase agreement, which will precede the finalisation of the sale expected for most of the properties by the 
second half of 2020. 
 
The accounting estimates at 31 December 2019 were made on the basis of a series of macroeconomic and 
financial indicators at that date. In early January 2020, the new coronavirus epidemic (Covid-19) spread across 
mainland China and, subsequently, also in other countries including Italy, locally causing the slowdown or 
interruption of certain economic and commercial activities. The Bank considers this epidemic an event that 
occurred after the reporting date which does not entail adjustment. Since the situation is developing and quickly 
evolving, it is not possible to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this event on the Bankõs 
financial situation. Therefore, the impact will be considered in the Bankõs accounting estimates during 2020, 
including those relating to loan impairments. 

 

Section 4 - Other Matters 

Going concern 

This Annual Report was prepared based on a going concern assumption. 

With regard to the indications contained in Document no. 4 of 3 March 2010, issued jointly by the Bank of Italy, 
Consob and IVASS, and subsequent amendments, the Bank reasonably expects to continue operating in the 
foreseeable future and has therefore prepared the financial statements under the going concern assumption.  

In this regard, note that, with reference to the 2017-2021 Restructuring Plan approved by the competent 
authorities in July 2017, the Bank continues the process of relaunching the commercial business and 
implementing the various operating guidelines. Moreover, consistent with the Planõs provisions, initiatives 
continued aimed at improving the risk profile of the loan portfolio, performing and non-performing, as well as 
the managerial actions envisaged in the Plan. For more details on these initiatives, please refer to the òStrategyó 
section in the Consolidated Report on Operations. 

Additionally, the Bank has updated the long-term projections (2020-2024) for the balance sheet and income 
statement, in order to take into account both the change in the macroeconomic scenario that occurred in the 
second half of the year (in particular, expected developments in interest rates, industrial output and household 
consumption indicators, and consensus on GDP growth estimates), as well as the effects associated with the 
approval of the 2020 Budget Law (Law 160/2019), in particular, the effects from the introduction of òACE - 
Support for Economic Growthó tax benefit on future taxable income. Although these forecasts are lower than 
those envisaged in the Restructuring Plan, the values of capital ratios remain above the 2019 SREP Decision 
regulatory requirements, received on 11 December 2019 and essentially aligned with the quantitative prudential 
requirements and guidelines envisaged in the 2018 SREP Decision. 
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Therefore, in light of the above, as it is deemed reasonable that the Bank will continue operating in the 
foreseeable future, the financial statements have been prepared, considering that the going concern basis is 
appropriate. 

 

List of key IAS/IFRS international accounting principles and related SIC/IFRIC interpretations for 
mandatory application as of the 2019 financial statements 

The IFRS 16 òLeasesó accounting standard, issued by IASB in January 2016 and approved by the European 
Commission with Regulation (EU) 2017/1986 of 31 October 2017, replaced the previous standard, IAS 17 - 
Leases effective 1 January 2019, as well as the interpretations IFRIC 4 òDetermining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Leaseó, SIC-15 òOperating Leases - Incentivesó and SIC-27 òEvaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Leaseó.  

IFRS 16 provides a new definition of lease based on control (right of use), that is, the ability to decide the 
methods of using an identified asset (underlying) for a fixed period of time in exchange for consideration, 
establishing the following discriminating factors: identification of the asset, lack of entitlement of the lessor to 
replace the asset, the right to substantially obtain all economic benefits originating from the use of the asset and 
the right to direct the use of the asset underlying the agreement.  

Based on this definition, all contracts that include a right to use an asset, regardless of the contractõs legal 
classification, fall within the scope of IFRS 16, therefore including rental, lease or loan contracts previously not 
included under leasing. Taking into consideration the requirements established by IFRS 16 and the clarifications 
provided by the IFRIC in September 2018, intangible assets represented by software, acquired through user 
licenses or based on òcloud computingó agreements, are excluded from the IFRS 16 scope of application, as they 
are subject to the provisions of IAS 38, where the conditions are met. 

The main change concerns the representation of lease contracts in the lesseeõs financial statements, introducing a 
single model for the recognition of lease contracts in the financial statements without distinguishing between 
operating and financial leases. More specifically, the accounting model envisages the recognition in balance sheet 
assets and liabilities of: 

¶ a right of use (òRoUó), equivalent to the lease liability plus initial direct costs, estimated dismantling costs or 
refurbishment of the underlying, net of incentives, 

¶ a lease liability, equivalent to the present value of future payments, calculated using the discount rate defined 
at the commencement date of the lease contract. 

After initial recognition, the lessee must assess the assets comprising the RoU by applying the cost model. The 
income statement is essentially impacted by the amortisation charge for the right of use, recognised under 
operating expenses, and for interest accrued on the lease liability, recognised in net interest income. 

The exceptions to those rules are represented by short-term leases, with a contractual duration equal to or less 
than 12 months, and leases where the underlying asset is a low value asset, for which it is possible to essentially 
maintain the accounting treatment envisaged by IAS 17 for operating leases, with the lease payments charged to 
the income statement in compliance with the accrual principle. 
 
The distinction between operating and finance leases continues for the lessor, for which the IFRS 16 approach 
does not introduce substantial changes with respect to IAS 17, other than greater disclosure. 
 

The interpretation òIFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatmentsó, published with Regulation (EU) 
no. 2018/1595 of 24 October 2018, clarifies how to apply the measurement and recognition requirements of IAS 
12 when there is uncertainty with respect to the treatment to be applied to income taxes.  

In these circumstances, an entity must recognise and measure its current or deferred tax assets/liabilities by 
applying the IAS 12 requirements, based on taxable income (tax loss), values for tax purposes, unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits and tax rates, and determined based on the interpretation provided in IFRIC 23. 

The entity is required to use judgement in determining whether an uncertain tax treatment should be considered 
independently or jointly with other tax treatments impacted by the uncertainty. The decision must be based on 
the approach that provides the greatest guarantee of resolving the uncertainty. 

The entity must also consider in its assessments if the relevant tax authority, in examining the data submitted to 
it, may or may not accept application of the tax treatment or set of tax treatments proposed by the entity. 
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If it is deemed probable that a specific tax treatment will be accepted by the relevant tax authority, the entity 
must determine the taxable income (tax loss), values for tax purposes, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates consistently with the tax treatment included in the tax return. 

Conversely, if it is assumed that the tax authority is unlikely to accept the uncertain tax treatment, the entity must 
report the effect of this uncertainty in calculating taxable income (tax loss), values for tax purposes, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits or tax rates associated with this treatment. For this purpose, an entity may use one of 
the following methods: 

- the most likely amount, which identifies the amount that has the greatest likelihood of being used within 
a range of possible results; 

- the expected value, which is based on the sum of different amounts of a range of possible results, 
weighted by the probability of their occurrence.  

The decision between the two methods must be based on the method that provides greater guarantee of 
resolving the uncertainty. Moreover, the entity must review the judgements and estimates if the facts and 
circumstances change. 

IFRIC 23 was endorsed by the European Commission on 24 October 2018 with Regulation no. 2018/1595 and 
shall apply as of 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted. 

The document òAmendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment features with negative compensationó, published 
with Regulation (EU) no. 2018/498 on 26 March 2018, clarifies the classification of specific prepayable financial 
assets when IFRS 9 applies. In particular: 

- for financial assets, they consider the possibility of measurement at amortised cost, including for those 
loans that, in the event of early repayment, assume a payment by the lender; 

- for financial liabilities, in the event of a change in contractual terms which does not result in 
derecognition, the amendments provide that the effect of the change on amortised cost must be 
recognised in the income statement on the date of the change. 

These cases are not relevant for the Bank, as they are not present. 

The document òAnnual Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2015-2017 Cycleó, 
published with Regulation (EU) no. 2019/412 of 14 March 2019, introduces some marginal amendments to IAS 
12 òIncome taxesó, IAS 23 òBorrowing costsó, IFRS 3 òBusiness combinationsó and IFRS 11 òJoint 
arrangementsó. In particular: 

¶ the entity is required to recognise the tax effects of dividends for income tax purposes in profit (loss) 
for the year, in other comprehensive income or in shareholders' equity, depending on the recognition of 
the transactions or the past events that originated the distributable profits (IAS 12); 

¶ if a specific loan remains outstanding after the corresponding asset is ready for use or sale, the loan 
becomes part of the funds considered for the purpose of calculating the capitalisation rate in relation to 
general loans (IAS 23); 

¶ when the entity obtains control of a business, already a joint operation, it recalculates the stake held in 
that business (IFRS 3); 

¶ when an entity obtains joint control of a business, already a joint operation, it does not recalculate the 
stake held in that business (IFRS 11). 

On 13 March 2019, the document òAmendments to IAS 19 - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlementó 
was published with Regulation (EU) no. 2019/402. This document clarifies that, after the amendment, the 
curtailment or settlement of the defined benefit plan, the entity must apply the updated assumptions for the 
determination of its net liability (asset) for defined benefits for the rest of the reference period.  

The document òAmendments to IAS 28 - Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Venturesó, 
published with Regulation (EU) no. 2019/237 of 8 February 2019, clarifies that the provisions on reduction of 
value of IFRS 9 apply to long-term receivables from an associate or joint venture which, in essence, are part of 
the net investment in the associate or joint venture (for which the entity does not use the equity method). 

Notwithstanding the first application of IFRS 16, for which reference should be made to the specific section 
òTransition to the new IFRS 16ó, the other changes or interpretations had no material impact on the Bankõs 
financial situation. 
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List of IAS/IFRS international accounting standards and related SIC/IFRIC interpretations whose application is 
mandatory as at 31 December 2019 

On 29 March 2018, IASB issued the document òChanges to the Conceptual Frameworkó, published with 
Regulation (EU) 2019/2075 of 29 November 2019, which has the objective of updating the existing references to 
the previous Conceptual Framework in various accounting standards and interpretations, replacing them with 
references to the revised Conceptual Framework. The amendments shall apply as of 1 January 2020. However, 
their early application is permitted. 

On 31 October 2018, IASB issued the document òAmendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Materialó, 
published with Regulation (EU) 2019/2104 on 10 December 2019 to clarify the definition of òmaterialó in order 
to assist companies in deciding whether to include information in the financial statements. The amendments shall 
apply as of 1 January 2020. In any event, early application is permitted. 

On 26 September 2019, the document òIBOR Reformó was issued, published with Regulation (EU) 2020/34 of 
16 January 2020, which amends IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7. The document regulates the period preceding the 
replacement of the benchmark as a result of the interest rate reform and introduces a series of simplifications 
applicable to all the hedging relationships affected by the reform. The key points of the document are provided 
below: 

¶ highly probable requirement for cash flow hedges (IFRS 9 and IAS 39): if the hedged item is a 
scheduled transaction, the entity must determine if the scheduled transaction is highly probable, 
assuming that the benchmark interest rate, on which the hedged cash flows are based, is not changed 
following the reform; 

¶ measurement of the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument (IFRS 9): an 
entity must assume that the benchmark interest rate, on which the hedged cash flows and/or hedged 
risk are based, or the benchmark interest rate on which the cash flows of the hedging instrument are 
based, are not changed following the reform of the interest rate benchmark; 

¶ prospective and retrospective measurement (IAS 39): an entity must assume that the benchmark 
interest rate, on which the hedged cash flows and/or hedged risk are based, or the benchmark interest 
rate on which the cash flows of the hedging instrument are based, are not changed following the 
reform; An entity is not required to suspend a hedging relationship during the period of uncertainty 
resulting from the reform solely because the actual results of the hedge are not highly effective, i.e. if 
they are positioned outside the 80-125% range upon retrospective measurement. In this situation, to 
assess whether or not the hedging relationship should be suspended, the entity must apply the other 
conditions (paragraph 88 of IAS 39) pertaining to hedging relationships, including the prospective 
evaluation; 

¶ designation of a risk component as a hedged item (IFRS 9 and IAS 39): to hedge a risk component, 
which is affected by the reform, an entity must apply the specific provisions of IFRS 9 or IAS 39 to 
determine if this risk component is separately identifiable only at the beginning of the hedging 
relationship. If the hedge is dynamic, i.e. if the entity frequently resets the hedge relationship, the risk 
component must be separately identifiable only upon initial designation of the hedged item. Therefore, 
it is not necessary to re-measure or re-designate for this hedging relationship. 

The simplifications are not intended to mitigate other impacts deriving from the benchmark reform; therefore, if 
a hedging relationship no longer meets the requirements for hedge accounting for reasons other than those 
specified by the changes, it must be suspended. Moreover, adequate disclosure must be provided on the extent to 
which hedging relationships are affected by the changes. 

The amendments apply as of 1 January 2020 with retroactive application. The Bank exercised the option of an 
early application. 

  



53 Notes to the financial statements - Part A - Accounting policies 

   

 

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

IAS/IFRS international accounting standards and related SIC/IFRIC interpretations issued by the IASB and still 
awaiting approval from the European Commission 

The document òAmendments to IFRS 3 - Definition of a Businessó issued by IASB on 22 October 2018 in 
order to assist in determining whether a transaction is an acquisition of a business or a group of assets that do 
not meet the definition of a business of IFRS 3. The amendments shall apply to acquisitions after 1 January 2020. 
Early application is permitted. 

In September 2019, IASB initiated the discussion relating to the second phase of the project on the òInterest rate 
reformó. 

Lastly, on 18 May 2017 the IASB issued the new accounting standard IFRS 17, which governs policies issued by 
insurance companies, which shall be applied from 1 January 2021. On 14 November 2018 the IASB decided to 
defer it for one year, i.e. to 2022. It also decided to propose extending to 2022 the temporary exception from the 
application of IFRS 9 granted to insurance companies, so that IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 may be applied at the same 
time. These proposals are still in the consulting stage. No direct impacts on the Bankõs operations are expected, 
as the Bank does not perform insurance activities.  
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A.2 - The main items of the accounts 

Accounting standards  

This chapter contains the accounting standards in relation to the main assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, 
which were adopted for the preparation of the financial statements as at 31 December 2019.  

 

1 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) 

a) classification criteria 

These assets include financial assets other than those classified under òFinancial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive incomeó and òFinancial assets measured at amortised costó. The category 
comprises:  

¶ debt securities or loans that are included in an òOtheró Business Model, i.e., a procedure for managing 
financial assets that does not have the objective of collecting contractual cash flows (òHeld to Collectó 
business model) or collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets (òHeld to Collect and 
Selló business model); 

¶ debt securities, loans and units of UCITS whose contractual terms do not provide exclusively for 
repayments of principal and interest payments on the principal to be repaid (i.e., that do not pass the 
òSPPI test");  

¶ equity instruments that cannot be classified as representing control, affiliation, or joint control, held for 
trading purposes or for which, upon initial recognition, the fair value through other comprehensive 
income option was not chosen; 

¶ derivative contracts, recognised in financial assets held for trading, that are recognised as assets if the 
fair value is positive, or liabilities if the fair value is negative.  
 

With reference to the latter, it is possible to offset current positive and negative values deriving from outstanding 
transactions with the same counterparty only if the legal right to offset the amounts recognised is currently in 
place and the entity intends to proceed with the net settlement of offsetting positions. 

More detailed information is provided below on the three sub-items that comprise this category, represented by: 
òFinancial assets held for tradingó, òFinancial assets measured at fair valueó; and òOther financial assets 
measured at fair value as per mandatory requirementsó. 

Financial assets held for trading  

Financial assets (debt securities, equity securities, loans, units of UCITS) are classified as held for trading 
purposes if they are managed with the objective of generating cash flows through their sale, as they are: 

- acquired or incurred primarily for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the short-term; 
- part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed on an individual basis and for which there 

is proven existence of a strategy targeted at earning a profit in the short term; 

It also includes derivatives with a positive fair value not designated as having an accounting hedge relationship. 
Derivative contracts include those embedded in combined financial instruments, in which the primary contract is 
a financial liability, which were subject to separate accounting. 

- their economic characteristics and risks are not strictly related to the characteristics of the underlying 
contract; 

- the embedded instruments, even if separate, satisfy the definition of derivative; 
- hybrid instruments to which they belong are not recognised at fair value with the relative changes 

posted in profit and loss.   
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Financial assets measured at fair value  

Assets (debt securities and loans) can be irrevocably designated at fair value at the time of initial recognition only 
when this designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement inconsistency (known as an accounting 
mismatch); This category is not used by the Bank at present;  

Other financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirements 

Other financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirements represent a residual category and 
include: 

- debt securities and loans, when: i) the relative contractual cash flows do not represent solely payments 
of principal and interest on the residual capital (Solely Payment of Principal and Interest - SPPI test 
failed), or ii) are not held as part of a business model whose objective is the ownership of assets for 
purposes of collecting contractual cash flows (òHeld to Collectó business model) or those whose 
objective is achieved either by collecting contractual cash flows or by selling financial assets (òHeld to 
Collect and Selló business model); 

- units of UCITS; 
- equity securities held for purposes other than trading for which the option of classification at fair value 

through other comprehensive income is not exercised. 

b) recognition criteria 

Initial recognition of financial assets occurs at settlement date for debt securities, equities and units of UCITS, at 
disbursement date for loans, and at trade date for derivative contracts. Upon initial recognition, financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit and loss are recognised at fair value, which usually corresponds to the 
amount paid, without considering transaction costs or revenues directly attributable to the instrument, which are 
directly recognised in the income statement. 

c) measurement criteria 

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are recorded at fair value, 
with changes recognised as an offsetting entry in the income statement.  

Market prices are used to determine the fair value of financial instruments listed in active markets. In the absence 
of an active market, commonly adopted estimation methods and measurement models are used, which take into 
account all the risk factors associated with the instruments and which are based on market data, such as: value of 
listed instruments that have similar characteristics, calculations of discounted cash flows, models for determining 
the option prices, values recorded in recent comparable transactions, etc. For equity securities and derivatives on 
equity securities that are not listed on an active market, the cost criterion is used as an estimate of the fair value 
only on a residual basis and limited to rare circumstances, i.e., if none of the above measurement models can be 
applied, or if there is a wide range of possible fair value measurements, in which case the cost represents the 
most meaningful estimate. 

For more information on the criteria for determining fair value, please refer to Section òA.4 Information on Fair 
Value" of Part A of the Notes to the financial statements. 

d) revenue recognition criteria 

The interest of the three sub-items that comprise this category is recorded under item ò10 - Interest income and 
similar revenuesó. 

Realised gains and losses, the gains and losses from measurements for òFinancial assets held for tradingó, 
including derivatives associated with financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value, are recognised in profit and 
loss under item ò80 - Net trading income (expenses)ó. 

These income effects pertaining to òFinancial liabilities measured at fair valueó as well as òOther financial assets 
measured at fair value as per mandatory requirementsó are booked to the income statement under item ò110 - 
Net profit/loss from financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and lossó, in the sub-
items òa) financial assets and liabilities measured at fair valueó and òb) other financial assets measured at fair 
value as per mandatory requirementsó, respectively. 
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e) derecognition criteria 

Financial assets are derecognised from financial statements: i) upon expiration of the contractual rights on the 
cash flows resulting from the assets or ii) when the financial assets are sold and all related risks/benefits are 
transferred. However, if a relevant portion of the risks and rewards associated with disposed financial receivables 
have been maintained, they continue to be posted in the balance sheet, even if legal ownership of the asset has 
been effectively transferred. 

If it is not possible to ascertain a substantial transfer of risks and rewards, the financial assets are derecognised 
when control of the assets has been surrendered. If such control has been maintained, even partly, the assets 
should continue to be recognised to the extent of residual involvement, as measured by the exposure to the 
changes in value of the assets disposed and to the changes in their cash flows. 

Finally, disposed financial assets are derecognised if the contractual rights to receive the cash flows are 
maintained and a contractual obligation is simultaneously undertaken to pay only said flows, without a significant 
delay, to third parties. 

f) reclassification criteria 

According to the general rules established by IFRS 9 on reclassifying financial assets (with the exception of equity 
securities, for which reclassification is not permitted), reclassifications to other categories of financial assets are 
not permitted unless the entity changes its business model for managing financial assets. In these cases, which are 
expected to be highly infrequent, financial assets may be reclassified from the category ômeasured at fair value 
through profit and lossõ to one of the other two categories envisaged by IFRS 9 (financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income). The transfer 
value is represented by the fair value at the time of the reclassification and the effects of the reclassification apply 
prospectively from the reclassification date. In this case, the effective interest rate of the reclassified financial 
asset is calculated based on its fair value at the reclassification date and this date is considered as the initial 
recognition date in assigning it to the various credit risk stages (stage assignment) for purposes of impairment. 

For more information on classification criteria for financial instruments, please refer to the section 
òClassification criteria for financial assetsó below. 

 

2 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

a) classification criteria 

This category includes: 

¶ financial assets represented by debt instruments, managed under a òHeld to Collect and Sell3ó business 
model, whose contractual flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the residual capital 
(Solely Payment of Principal and Interest - SPPI - test passed); 

¶ financial assets represented by equity instruments, held under a non-trading business model, for which, on 
first-time recognition, the option for the recognition in the statement of comprehensive income of 
changes in fair value after first-time recognition in the financial statements (OCI election) has been 
irrevocably exercised.  

In particular, the following are included in this item: 

¶ debt securities that are attributable to a òHeld to Collect and Selló business model and that passed the 
SPPI test; 

¶ equity stakes, which cannot be classified as representing control, an affiliation, or joint control and are 
not held for trading purposes, for which the fair value through other comprehensive income option was 
chosen; 

¶ loans that are attributable to a òHeld to Collect and Selló business model and that passed the SPPI test; 
The Bank does not have assets of this type. 

 

                                                           
3 Financial instruments held within the framework of a business model whose objective is ownership of said instruments for 
the purpose of collecting cash flows and through sales transactions can be associated with the òHeld to Collect and Selló 
business model. 
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b) recognition criteria 

Financial assets are initially recognised on the date of settlement, with reference to debt or equity instruments, 
and on the date of disbursement, with reference to loans. 

On initial recognition, the assets are measured at their fair value, which normally corresponds to the price paid, 
inclusive of transaction costs or income directly attributable to the instrument. 

c) measurement criteria 

Financial instruments represented by debt securities and loans, following initial recognition, continue to be 
measured at fair value, with recognition in the income statement of interest (based on the effective interest rate 
method), expected credit losses (for more details please refer to the paragraph òImpairmentó in this section), and 
any exchange rate changes. Fair value changes, net of expected credit losses, are booked to the appropriate equity 
reserve net of the associated tax effect (item ò120 - Valuation reservesó). Upon full or partial disposal, the 
cumulative gain or loss in the valuation reserve is reversed, all or in part, to the income statement. 

Financial assets represented by equity instruments, following initial recognition, continue to be measured at fair 
value, with changes booked to the appropriate equity reserve net of the associated tax effect (item ò120 - 
Valuation reservesó). The amount recognised as an offsetting entry in shareholdersõ equity (Statement of 
Comprehensive Income) cannot subsequently be transferred to the income statement, even following a sale; in 
this case, the amount is reclassified in another equity item (item ò150 - Reservesó). Furthermore, no write-down 
to the income statement is envisaged for these assets as they are not subject to any impairment process.  The 
only component of these equity securities that is recognised in the income statement is represented by the related 
dividends. 

For equity securities included in this category, which are not listed on an active market, the cost criterion is used 
as an estimate of the fair value only on a residual basis and limited to rare circumstances, i.e., if none of the 
measurement models previously mentioned can be applied, or if there is a wide range of possible fair value 
measurements, in which case the cost represents the most meaningful estimate. 

For more information on the criteria for determining fair value, please refer to Section òA.4 Information on Fair 
Value" of Part A of the Notes to the financial statements. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income - both in the form of debt securities 
and loans - are subject to verification of the significant increase in credit risk (impairment) as required by IFRS 9, 
similar to assets measured at amortised cost, with the consequent recognition in the income statement of a value 
adjustment to cover expected losses. In summary, an estimated loss at one year is recognised, at the initial 
recognition date and at every subsequent reporting date, on instruments classified in stage 1 (i.e., on financial 
assets at the origination date, if not impaired, and on instruments for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk compared to the initial recognition date). Instead, for instruments classified in stage 2 
(performing, for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to the initial recognition date) 
and stage 3 (non-performing exposures) an expected loss is recorded for the entire residual life of the financial 
instrument. Conversely, equity securities are not subject to the impairment test. 

For more detailed information, please refer to the subsequent paragraph òUse of estimates and assumptions 
when preparing financial statements - Methods for calculating impairment on IFRS 9 financial instrumentsó. 

d) revenue recognition criteria 

As regards financial instruments represented by debt instruments: 

¶ interest is recorded under item ò10 - Interest income and similar revenuesó. 

¶ expected credit losses recognised for the year are accounted for in item ò130 - òNet impairment 
(losses)/reversals for credit risk of: b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
incomeó; the same applies for partial or full reversals of write-downs recorded in previous years; 

¶ at the moment of derecognition, valuations accumulated in the specific equity reserve are reversed to the 
income statement under item ò100 - Gains/losses from sale/repurchase of: b) financial assets measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive incomeó. 

As regards financial instruments represented by equity instruments, for which the òOCI electionó was exercised, 
only dividends are booked to the income statement (item ò70. Dividends and similar incomeó). Changes in fair 
value subsequent to initial recognition are recorded in a specific valuation reserve under shareholdersõ equity 
(item ò110 - Valuation reservesó); in the event of derecognition of the asset, the cumulative balance of this 
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reserve is not reversed to the income statement but is reclassified under earnings reserves of equity (item ò140 - 
Reserves).  

e) derecognition criteria 

Financial assets are derecognised from financial statements: i) upon expiration of the contractual rights on the 
cash flows resulting from the assets or ii) when the financial assets are sold and all related risks/benefits are 
transferred. However, if a relevant portion of the risks and rewards associated with disposed financial receivables 
have been maintained, they continue to be posted in the balance sheet, even if legal ownership of the asset has 
been effectively transferred. 

If it is not possible to ascertain a substantial transfer of risks and rewards, the financial assets are derecognised 
when control of the assets has been surrendered. If such control has been maintained, even partly, the assets 
should continue to be recognised to the extent of residual involvement, as measured by the exposure to the 
changes in value of the assets disposed and to the changes in their cash flows. 

Finally, disposed financial assets are derecognised if the contractual rights to receive the cash flows are 
maintained and a contractual obligation is simultaneously undertaken to pay only said flows, without a significant 
delay, to third parties. 

f) reclassification criteria 

According to the general rules established by IFRS 9 on reclassifying financial assets (with the exception of equity 
securities, for which reclassification is not permitted), reclassifications to other categories of financial assets are 
not permitted unless the entity changes its business model for managing financial assets. In these cases, which are 
expected to be highly infrequent, financial assets may be reclassified from the category ômeasured at fair value 
through other comprehensive incomeõ to one of the other two categories envisaged by IFRS 9 (financial assets 
measured at amortised cost or financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss). The transfer value 
is represented by the fair value at the time of the reclassification and the effects of the reclassification apply 
prospectively from the reclassification date. If assets are reclassified from this category to the amortised cost 
category, the cumulative gain (loss) recorded in the valuation reserve is adjusted to the fair value of the financial 
asset at the reclassification date. If, instead, assets are reclassified to the fair value through profit and loss 
category, the cumulative gain (loss) recorded previously in the valuation reserve is reclassified from shareholdersõ 
equity to profit (loss) for the year. 

For more information on classification criteria for financial instruments, please refer to the section 
òClassification criteria for financial assetsó below. 

 

3 Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

a) classification criteria 

Financial assets represented by loans and debt securities, managed under a òHeld to Collect4ó business model, 
whose contractual flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the residual capital (Solely 
Payment of Principal and Interest - SPPI test passed) are included in this category. 

The portfolio of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes: 

-  the entire portfolio of loans in the various technical forms that satisfy the above requirements (including 
repurchase agreements), stipulated with both banks and customers; 

- debt securities, mainly government bonds, which satisfy the above requirements;  
- operating receivables connected with providing financial assets and services as defined in the Consolidated 

Law on Banking and the Consolidated Law on Finance (e.g., for distribution of financial products and 
servicing activities);  

- receivables originating from financial lease transactions which, in accordance with IFRS 16, are recognised 
according to the òfinancial methodó, including the values referring to assets pending financial leasing, such as 
properties under construction. 

 

                                                           

4 Financial instruments held within the framework of a business model whose objective is ownership of said instruments for 

the purpose of collecting cash flows can be associated with the òHeld to Collectó business model. 



59 Notes to the financial statements - Part A - Accounting policies 

   

 

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

b) recognition criteria 

Financial assets are initially recognised on the settlement date for debt instruments and on the disbursement date 
for loans; the following are included in said item: 

¶    loans to banks; 

¶  loans to customers. 

The initial recognition is based on the fair value of the financial instrument (which is normally equal to the 
amount disbursed or price of underwriting), inclusive of the expenses/income directly related to the individual 
instruments and determinable as of the transaction date, even if such expenses/income are settled at a later date. 
This does not include costs which have these characteristics but are subject to repayment by the debtor or which 
can be encompassed in ordinary internal administrative expenses.  

Repurchase agreement transactions with the obligation to repurchase are posted as lending transactions for the 
spot amounts collected. 

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Following initial recognition, financial assets booked to this category are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate criterion. This interest is recorded under item ò10 - Interest income and similar revenuesó. 

The gross book value is equal to the first-time recognition value, decreased/increased by: 

¶ principal repayments; 

¶ amortisation - calculated using the effective interest rate method - of the difference between the amount 
disbursed and the amount repayable upon maturity, typically attributable to the costs/income directly 
charged to each receivable; 

The amortised cost method is not used for short-term receivables, for which the effect of applying a discounting 
approach is negligible, for loans without a defined maturity, and for revocation loans.  

For more detailed information on amortised cost, please refer to the following section òOther significant 
accounting practices - amortised costó. 

The book value of financial assets measured at amortised cost is adjusted to take into account any provision to 
cover expected losses (expected credit losses). For each reporting period, the aforementioned assets are subject 
to impairment testing with the aim of estimating expected losses in value for credit risk (ECL - Expected Credit 
Losses). These losses are recorded in the income statement under item "130 - Net impairment (losses)/reversals 
for credit riskó. More specifically and as better explained in the paragraph òUse of estimates and assumptions 
when preparing financial statements - Methods for calculating impairment on IFRS 9 financial instrumentsó, the 
impairment model classifies the assets into three separate stages (stage 1, stage 2, stage 3), according to trends in 
the borrowerõs creditworthiness, each of which has different criteria for measuring expected losses: 

- stage 1: includes performing financial assets for which there has been no significant increase in credit risk with 
respect to the initial recognition date, or for which credit risk is considered low. Impairment is based on an 
estimate of expected loss over a one-year time horizon (expected loss that would result from default events on 
financial assets that are deemed possible within one year of the reference date); 

- stage 2: includes performing financial assets that have incurred a significant increase in credit risk with respect 
to the initial recognition date; Impairment is assessed according to an estimate of expected loss over the entire 
residual life of the financial asset; 

- stage 3: represents non-performing financial assets (probability of default equal to 100%), to be assessed based 
on an estimate of expected loss over instrumentõs life. 

For performing assets, expected losses are calculated according to a collective process based on certain risk 
parameters represented by the probability of default (PD), loss rate in the event of default (LGD), and the 
exposure value (EAD), deriving from the internal models for calculating regulatory credit risk, appropriately 
adjusted to take into account the specific requirements envisaged by accounting regulations.  

For non-performing assets, i.e., assets for which, in addition to a significant increase in credit risk, objective 
evidence of impairment has been found, impairment losses are quantified based on an analytical or lump-sum 
measurement process by homogeneous risk categories - aimed at determining the present value of expected 
future recoverable cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate or a reasonable approximation 
thereof, if the original interest rate cannot be directly determined. 
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The non-performing asset category includes exposures assigned the status of bad loan, unlikely to pay, or past-
due/overdrawn for more than ninety days, in accordance with the definitions established by supervisory 
regulations in effect (Bank of Italy Circular no. 272 òAccounts Matrixó) and referred to in Bank of Italy Circular 
no. 262, as these definitions are deemed consistent with accounting regulations envisaged in IFRS 9 for objective 
evidence of impairment. 

In the event of sale scenarios, the cash flows are calculated based not only on the forecast of the recoverable 
amounts through internal management activity, but also on the basis of the flows that can be obtained from any 
sale on the market, according to the approach described in the subsequent paragraph òUse of estimates and 
assumptions when preparing financial statements - Methods for calculating impairment on IFRS 9 financial 
instrumentsó. 

In addition, the expected cash flows include forecasts for collection timing and the presumed net realisable value 
of any guarantees as well as the costs connected with obtaining and selling the guarantee. In this regard, in the 
event that the Bank uses a third party to collect non-performing loans, the fees paid to the outsourcer for 
activities strictly related to collection are considered for the purpose of estimating impairment losses. These costs 
are considered for both non-performing and performing exposures, if for the latter it is probable that in the 
event of a transfer to bad loans, the collection activities will be assigned to third parties.  

For fixed-rate positions, the original effective rate used to discount the expected cash flows from collection, 
calculated as described above, remains unchanged over time even if there is a change in the contractual rate due 
to the borrowerõs financial difficulties. For floating-rate positions, the rate used to discount cash flows is updated 
for the indexing parameter (e.g., Euribor), while keeping the fixed spread at the original level.  

The financial assetõs original value is restored in subsequent years when there is an improvement in the 
exposureõs creditworthiness compared to that which had led to the previous write-down. The reversal is posted 
to the same item in the income statement (ò130 - Net impairment (losses)/reversals for credit riskó) and may 
not, in any case, exceed the amortised cost that the asset would have had without prior adjustments. 

For more detailed information on the impairment model, please refer to the subsequent paragraph òUse of 
estimates and assumptions when preparing financial statements - Methods for calculating impairment on IFRS 9 
financial instrumentsó. 

For non-performing exposures, accrued interest is calculated based on amortised cost, i.e., using the value of the 
exposure - calculated with the effective interest rate - adjusted for expected losses. In case of management of 
non-performing exposures, or of transfer from stage 3 to stage 2, interest will once again be calculated based on 
the gross exposure value; the positive difference is recognised, as the recovery of previous impairment losses, as 
an offsetting entry to item ò130. Net impairment (losses)/reversals for credit riskó. The same accounting entry is 
made in the event that the interest collected is greater than the expected cash flows. 

Finally, for non-performing exposures that do not accrue contractual interest, such as bad loans, this interest 
corresponds to the progressive release of the discounting of collection forecasts, as the effect of the simple 
passage of time. 

d) derecognition criteria 

The financial assets are derecognised in the event one of the following cases is verified: 

¶ the contractual rights on the cash flows deriving from the same expire;  

¶ the financial asset is sold with the substantial transfer of all risks and benefits resulting from ownership;  

¶ if it is not possible to ascertain a substantial transfer of risks and benefits, the financial assets are 
derecognised when control of the assets has been surrendered; 

¶ the entity retains the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial assets, but simultaneously 
assumes the contractual obligation to pay said flows to a third party (pass-through arrangements) without 
delay and only to the extent of the amount received; 

¶ the asset is subject to òsubstantialó changes, as more extensively described in the section 
òRenegotiationsó. 

With regard to non-performing financial assets, the asset may be derecognised following the acknowledgement of 

the non-recoverability of the exposure and the resulting closure of the collection process (definitive 

derecognition), and entails the reduction of the nominal value and of the gross book value of the loan. This case 

occurs when settlement agreements have been reached with the borrower that entail a reduction in the loan 

(resolution agreement) or in the presence of specific situations such as, for example: 
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- a judgement has been handed down by the court that declares the loan all or partially settled;  
- the conclusion of bankruptcy or enforcement proceedings against both the principal borrowers and 

guarantors; 
- the conclusion of all possible judicial and extra-judicial actions for credit collection; 
- the completion of a mortgage lien on an asset under guarantee, with the resulting derecognition of the 

loan guaranteed by the property under lien, in the absence of further specific guarantees or other 
actions that can be taken to recover the exposure. 

These specific situations may result in a full or partial derecognition of the exposure but do not necessarily imply 

a waiver of the legal right to collect the loan. 

In addition, non-performing financial assets may be derecognised following their òwrite-offó, upon 

acknowledgement that there are no reasonable expectations of collection, while continuing with actions aimed at 

their recovery. This write-off is carried out in the year in which the loan, or part of it, is considered non-

recoverable - despite not closing the legal procedure - and can take place before the legal actions taken against the 

borrower and guarantors for credit collection. It does not imply the waiver of the legal right to collect the loan 

and is made if the loan documentation contains reasonable financial information indicating that the borrower will 

be unable to repay the loan amount. In this case, the gross nominal value of the loan remains unchanged, but the 

gross book value is reduced by an amount equal to the amount to be written off, which may represent the full 

exposure or a portion of it. The write-off amount cannot be subjected to subsequent write-backs following an 

improvement in collection forecasts, rather only as the result of amounts effectively collected. 

In the event of derecognition, the difference between the book value of the asset at the derecognition date and 
consideration received, inclusive of any assets received net of any liabilities assumed, must be recognised in the 
income statement, under item ò100. a) Profits/(Losses) from disposal or repurchase of: financial assets measured 
at amortised costó in the event of sale and, in all other cases, under item ò130 - Net impairment 
(losses)/reversals for credit riskó. 

e) reclassification criteria 

According to the general rules established by IFRS 9 on reclassifying financial assets, reclassifications to other 
categories of financial assets are not permitted unless the entity changes its business model for managing 
financial assets. In these cases, which are expected to be highly infrequent, financial assets may be reclassified 
from the category ômeasured at amortised costõ to one of the other two categories envisaged by IFRS 9 (financial 
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income or financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss). The transfer value is represented by the fair value at the time of the reclassification and 
the effects of the reclassification apply prospectively from the reclassification date. Gains or losses resulting from 
the difference between the amortised cost of the financial asset and the associated fair value are booked to the 
income statement in the case of reclassification under òFinancial assets measured at fair value through profit and 
lossó and, under equity, in the appropriate valuation reserve, in the case of the reclassification under òFinancial 
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive incomeó. 

For more information on classification criteria for financial instruments, please refer to the section 
òClassification criteria for financial assetsó below. 

 

4 Hedging transactions 

The Bank availed itself of the possibility, envisaged on first-time application of IFRS 9, to continue to use all of 
the provisions of IAS 39 (carved out version endorsed by the European Commission) as regards hedge 
accounting for all types of hedge (both micro and macro hedges). 

a) classification criteria - types of hedging 

Risk-hedging transactions are aimed at offsetting any potential losses on a certain financial instrument or group 
of financial instruments that may arise from a specific risk should it occur. 

The following types of hedging are included: 

¶ fair value hedges, which are intended to hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or 
liability that are attributable to a particular risk; These include generic fair value hedges (macro-hedges) 
having the objective of reducing fluctuations in fair value due to interest rate risk, of a monetary amount, 
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arising from a portfolio of financial assets and liabilities (including core deposits). Generic hedges cannot be 
used to cover net amounts resulting from the offsetting of assets and liabilities; 

¶ cash flow hedges, which are intended to hedge the exposure from variability in future cash flows 
attributable to particular risks associated with a recognised asset or liability or a transaction that is deemed 
highly likely; 

¶ hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, which refers to hedging the risks of an investment in a 
foreign operation denominated in a foreign currency. 

In order for a derivative to be designated as a hedging instrument, there must be formal documentation of the 
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, showing that the hedging relationship is - and 
is expected to be - effective both at inception and, prospectively, throughout its life. Furthermore, a hedging 
transaction should be reflective of a pre-determined risk management strategy and consistent with risk 
management policies in use. 

b) recognition criteria  

Financial hedging derivatives, just as for all derivatives, are initially recognised at fair value on the date the 
contract is stipulated and are classified, as a function of their positive or negative value, in the asset item ò50. 
Hedging derivativesó or in the liability item ò40. Hedging derivativesó. 

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Hedging derivatives are measured at fair value. In particular: 

Fair value hedging 

In the case of specific fair value hedging, the change in the fair value of the hedged element (for changes 
generated by the underlying risk factor) adjusts the book value of the hedged element and is immediately 
recognised, regardless of the category to which the hedged asset or liability belongs, along with the change in 
the fair value of the hedging instrument, in income statement item ò90 - Net profit (loss) from hedgingó. 
Any difference, i.e. partial ineffectiveness of the hedging derivatives, reflects their net P&L impact; If the 
hedging relationship is suspended, the hedged instrument, if not derecognised from financial statements, is 
returned to the original valuation criterion of the class to which it belongs. Specifically, for instruments 
measured at amortised cost, the cumulative revaluations/write-downs recorded as a result of changes in the 
fair value of the hedged risk are recognised in the income statement in interest income and expense over the 
residual life of the hedged item, based on the effective interest rate. Instead, if the suspension of the hedge is 
accompanied by the derecognition from financial statements of the hedged item (e.g., sale or early 
repayment), the fair value portion not yet amortised is immediately recognised in the income statement 
under the item ò90 - Net profit (loss) from hedgingó.  

With regard to generic fair value hedging transactions (macro-hedges), changes in fair value of the hedged 
risk of assets and liabilities subject to hedging are recorded in the balance sheet, respectively, under item ò60 
- Change in value of macro-hedged financial assetsó or ò50 - Change in value of macro-hedged financial 
liabilitiesó. The offsetting item for changes in value in both the hedged element and the hedging instrument, 
similar to specific fair value hedges, is item ò90 - Net profit (loss) from hedgingó in the income statement. 
If a generic fair value hedging relationship is suspended, the cumulative revaluations/write-downs recorded 
in the aforementioned balance sheet items are charged to the income statement in interest income or 
expense over the residual life of the original hedging relationship, provided that the base assumptions are 
satisfied and verified. 

Cash flow hedging: 

The changes in fair value of the hedging instrument are posted to a specific shareholdersõ equity reserve 
(item ò110 - Valuation reservesó) with reference to the effective portion of the hedge, while fair value 
changes of the hedging instrument that are not offset by changes in the hedged itemõs cash flows are posted 
to the income statement under item ò90 òNet profit (loss) from hedgingó. If the hedging of cash flows is no 
longer considered effective, or the hedging relationship is terminated, any amounts accumulated in cash flow 
hedge reserves are charged to the income statement when the hedged item, which is still in place, affects 
profit or loss. Conversely, if the hedged item is derecognised, cancelled or expires the reserve is charged to 
the income statement at the same time as the hedged item is derecognised. 
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Hedges of foreign currency investments 

Hedges of foreign currency investments are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. 

Hedge effectiveness depends on the extent to which changes in the fair value or expected cash flows of the 
hedged item are offset by corresponding changes in the hedging instrument. Therefore, effectiveness is 
measured by comparing said changes, while taking into account the companyõs intent at hedge inception. 
With reference to the hedged risk, the hedging is effective (within the 80% to 125% window) when the 
changes in fair value (or in the cash flows) of the hedging instrument offset the changes in the hedged item 
almost entirely. 

Effectiveness is assessed at year-end or at interim reporting dates by using: 

¶ prospective tests, which justify continuing hedge accounting since they show its expected effectiveness; 

¶ retrospective tests, which show how effective the hedging relationship has been in the period under 
review. 

d) derecognition criteria  

If tests do not confirm hedge effectiveness, both retrospectively and prospectively, hedge accounting is 
discontinued as described above.  

In addition, the hedging relationship ceases when: 

¶ the derivative expires, is extinguished or exercised; 

¶ the hedged item is sold, expires, or is repaid; 

¶ it is no longer highly likely that the hedged future transaction will occur. 

The hedging derivative contract, if it has not expired or been extinguished, is reclassified under financial assets 
held for trading, whereas the hedged item, if it has not been sold or repaid, reverts to the accounting treatment 
based on its original classification. 

 

5 Equity investments 

a) classification criteria  

This item includes equity interests held in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, which are recognised in 
accordance with the cost method. 
 
Equity investments and equity securities are considered subject to control (subsidiaries) if the Bank directly or 
indirectly holds the absolute majority of voting rights and such rights are substantive, or if the Bank holds the 
relative majority of voting rights and the other voting rights are held by widely dispersed among shareholders. 
Control may also exist in situations in which the Bank does not hold the majority of voting rights, but holds 
sufficient rights to have the practical ability to unilaterally direct relevant activities of the investee or in the 
presence of: 

¶ substantive potential voting rights through underlying call options or convertible instruments; 

¶ rights deriving from other contractual arrangements which, combined with voting rights, give the Bank 
the de facto ability to direct production processes, other operating or financial activities able to 
significantly influence the investeeõs returns; 

¶ power to influence, through rules of the by-laws or other contractual arrangements, governance and 
decision-making procedures regarding relevant activities; 

¶ majority of voting rights through contractual arrangements formalised with other holders of voting 
rights (i.e., shareholdersõ agreements). 
 

As regards structured entities - investment funds the Bank takes the following positions with respect to funds: 

¶ subscriber of units, held for long-term investment purposes or for trading, 

¶ counterparty in derivatives. 
 
A relationship of control exists when the following situations are present: 
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¶ the Bank, as a subscriber of units, is able to remove the investment fund manager without just cause or 
for reasons associated with fund performance, and such rights are substantive; 

¶ existence of provisions in the fund regulation envisaging the establishment within the fund of 
committees, in which the Bank participates, that influence the governance of relevant activities and have 
the legal and/or de facto right to control the activities of the fund manager; 

¶ existence of other relations with the fund, such as the presence within the fund of personnel with 
strategic responsibilities associated with the Bank and the presence of contractual relations that subject 
the fund to the Bank for the subscription or placement of units. 

 
Lastly, with reference to structured entities - securitisation vehicles, in checking for the fulfilment of requirements 
of control over securitisation vehicles, both the possibility of exercising power over relevant activities for its own 
benefit and the end purpose 
of the transaction are taken into consideration by the Bank, as well as the investor/sponsorõs involvement in the 
structuring of the transaction. 
 
For autopilot entities, the subscription of the substantial entirety of the notes by the Bank is considered an 
indicator of the presence, particularly during the structuring phase, of the power to manage relevant activities to 
influence the economic returns of the transaction. 

Companies subject to significant influence are considered associates. It is assumed that the company exercises 
significant influence in all cases in which it holds at least 20% of the voting rights (including òpotentialó voting 
rights) and, regardless of the interest held, if the company has the power to participate in management and 
financial decisions of the investee, by virtue of specific legal connections, such as shareholder agreements, with 
the purpose for the agreementõs participants to ensure representation in management bodies and to ensure 
management unity, without having control. 

Entities are considered to be jointly controlled companies when control is shared between the Bank and one or 
more other parties based on contractual agreements, according to which decisions are made through the 
unanimous consent of all parties that share control. 

b) recognition criteria  

Initial recognition of financial assets classified in this category occurs on the settlement date, for a total value 
equal to the cost, including any goodwill paid at the time of acquisition, which is therefore not subject to 
independent and separate recognition. 

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Equity investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised at cost. At each date of the 
financial statements or interim reports, the equity investments are checked for indicators of impairment. If 
evidence of impairment indicates that there may have been a loss in value of an equity investment, then the 
recoverable value of the investment (which is the higher of the fair value, less costs to sell, and the value in use) 
should be estimated. The value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from 
the investment, including those arising from its final disposal. 

Should the recoverable value be less than its book value, including any goodwill, the difference is recognised 
immediately in the income statement under item ò220 - Gains (losses) on investmentsó. Should the reasons for 
impairment no longer apply as a result of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, reversals of 
impairment losses are charged to the same item in the income statement, up to the amount of the previously 
recognised impairment.  

For more detailed information, please refer to the paragraph òUse of estimates and assumptions when preparing 
financial statements - Methods for calculating impairment on investmentsó. 

The profit related to the equity investments is booked to the income statement of the Bank regardless of whether 
it was generated by the investee before or after the date of purchase. The result of the disposal of investments is 
recognised in the income statement under item ò220 - Gains (losses) on investmentsó. 

d) derecognition criteria  

Equity investments are derecognised upon maturity of the contractual rights on the cash flows resulting from the 
assets or when all related risks/rewards associated to them are transferred. If there is a situation that results in 
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loss of significant influence or joint control, any residual equity investment is reclassified in the IFRS 9 financial 
asset portfolios.  

 

6 Property, plant and equipment 

a) classification criteria  

Fixed assets include land, operating properties, investment properties, systems, furnishings and fixtures, 
equipment of any type and artworks. 

Operating properties are properties owned by the Bank and used in the production or supply of services or for 
administrative purposes (classified as òProperty, plant and equipment used in the businessó and recognised in 
accordance with IAS 16), whereas investment properties are those owned by the Bank for the purpose of 
collecting rents and/or held for appreciation of capital invested (classified as òProperty, plant and equipment 
held for investmentó and follow the rules set forth in IAS 40). 

The item also includes property, plant and equipment classified according to IAS 2 òInventoriesó, mainly relating 
to assets acquired for the purposes of enhancing the value of the investment, including through restructuring or 
redevelopment works, with the explicit intention of selling them in the immediate future, as part of the normal 
course of business, including assets deriving from the enforcement of guarantees received or from auction 
purchases.  

Property, plant and equipment includes those assets associated with finance lease contracts that were returned to 
the company, as lessor, following contract termination and the simultaneous closure of the original credit 
position.  

This category also includes property, plant and equipment obtained through the enforcement of guarantees 
received and rights of use acquired through leases, both financial and operational, relating to property, plant and 
equipment that the Bank uses as a lessee for business purposes or for investment purposes. Improvements and 
incremental expenses incurred in relation to third-party assets when they refer to identifiable and separable 
property (e.g. ATMs) fall under the scope of third-party assets. 

b) recognition criteria  

Property, plant and equipment are originally recognised at cost, which includes the purchase price and any 
additional charges directly attributable to the purchase and installation of the assets. 

Non-recurring expenditures for maintenance which involve an increase in future economic rewards are booked 
as an increase in the value of the assets, while expenses for ordinary maintenance are booked to the income 
statement.  

For assets returned following the closure of the original credit position (known as òacceptance in returnó), the 
value recognised is the lower of the gross credit value recorded at the time the asset is returned and: 

- the òmarket valueó resulting from a specific appraisal, if it is not expected that they will be classified as 
ònon-current assets held for sale and discontinued operationsó over a short-term horizon; 

- the òrapid realisation valueó inferred from a specific appraisal, which adjusted the òmarket valueó for a 
sale in an exceedingly short period of time, if at the resolution date it is known that it will later be 
categorised under ònon-current assets held for sale and discontinued operationsó; 

- the price being negotiated, if at the time of initial recognition there are tangible sale negotiations, 
demonstrated by commitments made by the parties involved in the negotiation. 

As regards real estate, components relating to land and buildings are separate assets for accounting purposes and 

are measured separately upon acquisition by applying the components approach. The breakdown of the value of 
the land and the value of the building is based on the appraisals of independent experts. 

Right of use (RoU) assets acquired through leasing are recognised in financial statements on the contractõs start 
date, that is, on the date on which the asset is made available to the lessee, and is initially valued at cost. This cost 
includes: 

¶ the initial measurement of the lease liability, net of VAT; 

¶ any lease payments made by the start date, net of any lease incentives; 

¶ any initial direct costs incurred, understood as incremental costs incurred to obtain the lease that would 

not have otherwise been incurred (e.g., brokerage commissions and success fees); 
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¶ estimated costs of refurbishment and dismantling, in cases where the contract provides for them. 

In connection with the right of use asset, the lessee recognises a liability for the lease under item ò10 - Financial 
assets measured at amortised costó corresponding to the present value of payments due for the lease. The 
discount rate used is the implicit interest rate, if it can be determined; otherwise, the lesseeõs marginal borrowing 
rate is used. 

When there is no implicit interest rate in the contract, the Bank uses, as the discount rate, the maturity curve 
aligned to the individual lease agreements, consisting of the 6M Euribor base rate and the blended funding 
spread, the latter equal to the weighted average of the funding curves for unsecured senior bonds and for 
protected and privileged deposits. 

If a lease contract contains ònon-leasing componentsó (e.g., services rendered, such as ordinary maintenance, to 
be recognised according to the provisions of IFRS 15), the lessee must account separately for òleasing 
componentsó and ònon-leasing componentsó and divide the contractõs payments between the various 
components based on their relative stand-alone prices. 

The lessee may opt to recognise the payments due for the lease directly as a charge in the income statement, on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease contract or according to another systematic method that represents 
the manner in which the economic benefits are used in the case of: 

- short-term leases (equal to or less than 12 months) that do not include a purchase option 
asset leased by the lessee;  

- leases in which the underlying asset is of modest value. 
 

The Bank has chosen to recognise the cost in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease contract. 

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Property, plant and equipment, including non-operating real estate and with the exception of those to which IAS 
2 applies, are valued at cost less any accrued depreciation and impairment..  
Property, plant and equipment, both owned and acquired through rights of use, are systematically depreciated 
over their useful life on a straight-line basis, except for land and artworks which have an indefinite useful life and 
cannot be depreciated. The useful life of property, plant and equipment subject to depreciation is periodically 
reviewed and, in the event of any adjustments to the initial estimate, a change is also made in the related 
depreciation rate. For the assets underlying the lease, the useful life must be determined taking into account the 
possible transfer of ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease. If it is considered likely that the 
lessee will exercise the option to purchase the asset, which is then reflected in the RoU value, the relevant useful 
life is that of the underlying asset at the contractõs start date. Otherwise, the useful life is determined as the lower 
of the assetõs useful life and the lease term. The depreciation rates and subsequent useful life expected for the 
main categories of assets are reported in the specific sections of the notes to the financial statements. 

The presence of any signs of impairment, or indications that assets might have lost value, shall be tested at the 
end of each reporting period. Should there be indications of impairment of value, both for properties that are 
owned and those that are leased, a comparison is made between the book value of the asset and the assetõs 
recoverable value, i.e. the higher of the fair value, less any costs to sell, and the relevant value in use, which is the 
present value of the future cash flows generated by the asset. Any adjustments are posted to the income 
statement under item 180 òNet value adjustments to (recoveries on) property, plant and equipmentó. Periodic 
depreciation is also reported in this item. 

Where the reasons for impairment cease to exist, a reversal is made, which shall not exceed the value that would 
have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior periods. 

Furthermore, during the lease contract term, the book value of the right of use must be adjusted in cases where 
the lease liability is re-calculated, such as, for example, change in the lease term or the valuation of an option to 
purchase the underlying asset, in light of new circumstances. 

Property, plant and equipment falling under IAS 2 are valued in the same way as inventories and, therefore, at the 
lower of the cost at initial recognition and the net realisable value, represented by the estimated sale price less the 
presumed costs for completion and the other costs necessary to make the sale. Any losses in value are posted to 
the income statement under item ò180 - Net value adjustments to (recoveries on) property, plant and 
equipmentó. Periodic depreciation is not applied in this case. 
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d) derecognition criteria  

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised from the balance sheet upon their disposal or when the assets 
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic rewards are expected as a result of their disposal. 
Any gains and losses deriving from the disposal or sale of property, plant and equipment are calculated as the 
difference between the net sale price and the book value of the asset and are recorded in the income statement 
under item ò250 - Gains (losses) on disposals of investmentsó. 

The right of use assets, accounted for according to IFRS 16, are derecognised at the end of the lease term. 

 

7 Intangible assets 

a) classification criteria  

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance that are held for use over 
several years or indefinitely. Intangible assets also include goodwill, which represents the positive difference 
between the purchase cost and the fair value of the assets and liabilities pertaining to an acquired company. 

b) recognition criteria 

They are recognised at cost, adjusted by any additional charges only if it is probable that the future economic 
rewards that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and if the cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably. The cost of intangible assets is otherwise posted to the income statement in the reporting period it was 
incurred.  

Relevant intangible assets for the Bank include: 

¶ technology-related intangible assets including software licenses, internal capitalised costs, projects and 
licenses under development; in particular, internally incurred costs for software project development are 
intangibles recognised as assets if, and only if: a) the cost for development can be measured reliably, b) the 
entity intends and is financially and technically able to complete the intangible asset and either use it or sell it, 
c) the entity is able to demonstrate that the asset will generate future economic rewards. Capitalised costs for 
software development only include the expenses that are directly attributable to the development process;  

¶ customer relationship intangible assets, represented by the value of assets under management/custody and 
core deposits in the event of business combinations. 

Goodwill is posted among assets when it results from a business combination transaction in accordance with the 
principles of determination indicated by IFRS 3, as a residual surplus between the overall cost incurred for the 
business combination and the net fair value of the assets and liabilities purchased (i.e. companies or business 
units).  

Should the cost incurred be less than the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, the difference (badwill) is 
directly recognised in the income statement.  

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

The cost of an intangible asset with definite useful life is amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful life. 
Instead, intangible assets with indefinite useful life are not amortised but the book value is periodically assessed 
for impairment. Intangible assets arising from internally developed software and software purchased from third 
parties are amortised on a straight-line basis starting from completion and roll-out of the applications based on 
their useful life. Intangible assets reflective of customer relationships, which are taken over during business 
combinations, are amortised on a straight-line basis. 

At each annual and interim reporting date, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated where there is 
evidence of impairment. The amount of the loss recognised in the income statement is equal to the difference 
between the book value and the recoverable amount of the assets.  

The goodwill recognised is not subject to amortisation, but its book value is tested annually (or more frequently) 
when there are signs of impairment. To this end, the cash flow generating units to which goodwill is attributable 
are identified. These units represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes and should not be larger than an operating segment as defined by IFRS 8. 

The amount of the impairment loss is determined by the difference between the book value of goodwill and its 
recoverable amount, if lower. Said recoverable amount is the higher of the cash generating unit's fair value, less 
costs to sell, and its value in use. Value in use is the present value of future cash flows expected to arise from the 
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years of operation of the cash generating unit and its disposal at the end of its useful life. The resulting value 
adjustments are posted to the income statement under item ò190 - Net value adjustments to (recoveries on) 
intangible assetsó. Periodic depreciation is reported in the same item. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 
shall not be reversed in a subsequent period. 

d) derecognition criteria  

Intangible assets are derecognised from the balance sheet upon disposal and when no future economic rewards 
are expected.  

 

8 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

a) classification criteria  

Non-current assets/liabilities and groups of assets/liabilities for which the book value will presumably be 
recovered through sale rather than continuous use are classified in assets under item ò110 - Liabilities associated 
with non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operationsó and in liabilities under item ò70 - Liabilities 
associated with individual assets held for saleó. 

To be classified in these items, the assets or liabilities (or discontinued operation) must be immediately available 
for sale and there must be active and tangible programs such as to suggest that their disposal is highly probable 
within one year of the date of classification in this category. 

b) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Following initial recognition, non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, with the relative 
liabilities, are valued at the lower of the book value and the fair value net of selling cost, with the exception of 
certain types of assets, such as, for example, all financial instruments falling under the scope of IFRS 9 - for 
which IFRS 5 specifically envisages that the measurement criterion of the reference accounting standard must be 
applied. 

Amortisation/depreciation is discontinued at the date the non-current asset is classified as a non-current asset 
held for sale. 

The valuation reserves relating to non-current assets held for sale, recorded as an offsetting entry to changes in 
value relevant for that purpose, are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Income and costs relating to groups of assets and liabilities held for sale, net of the tax effect, if attributable to 
operating assets sold, are recognised in income statement item ò290 - Profit (loss) after tax from assets held for 
sale and discontinued operationsó. Profit and loss associated with individual assets held for sale are recognised in 
the most appropriate income statement item. 

In the case of discontinued operations, it is also necessary to disclose the same economic information in a 
separate item also for the previous years shown in the financial statements, thereby reclassifying the income 
statement accounts. 

c) derecognition criteria 

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations are derecognised from the balance sheet upon 
disposal.  

 

9 Current and deferred tax 

a) recognition criteria  

The effects of current and deferred taxation calculated in compliance with Italian tax laws are recognised on an 
accrual basis, in accordance with the measurement methods of the income and expenses which generated them, 
by administering the applicable tax rates.  

Income taxes are posted to the income statement, excluding those relating to items directly credited or charged to 
equity.  

Income tax provisions are determined on the basis of a prudential forecast of current tax expense, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities.  
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Current tax includes the net balance of current tax liabilities for the year and current tax assets with the Financial 
Administration, comprising tax advances, tax credit arising from prior tax returns and other withholding tax 
receivables. In addition, current tax includes tax credit for which reimbursement has been requested from the 
relevant tax authorities. Tax receivables transferred as a guarantee of own debts shall also be recorded within this 
scope.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the temporary differences - with no time limits - 
between the value assigned to the assets or liabilities in accordance with statutory principles and the 
corresponding values for tax purposes, applying the balance sheet liability method.  

Deferred tax assets determined on the basis of deductible temporary differences are shown in the balance sheet 
for the extent to which they are likely to be recovered on the basis of the capacity of the company involved or all 
of the participating companies - as a result of exercising the option concerning òfiscal consolidationó - to 
generate a positive taxable profit on an ongoing basis, in light of a probability test.  

Recovery of deferred tax assets relating to goodwill, other intangible assets, and write-downs on loans (known as 
òtransformable DTAsó) is to be automatically considered probable because of existing regulations that provide 
for conversion into tax credits, if a statutory and/or tax loss is incurred.  

In particular, art. 2 - paragraphs 55 et seq. - of Law Decree no. 225 of 29 December 2010 (and subsequent 
amendments) provides that:  

­  if the financial statements filed by the company show a statutory loss for the year, deferred tax assets (IRES 
and IRAP) relating to goodwill, other intangible assets, and loan write-downs will be converted into tax 
credits for a portion equivalent to the ratio between the statutory loss and the book value of shareholdersõ 
equity prior to said loss. The conversion into tax credits becomes effective from the date when the ôloss-
incurringõ separate financial statements are approved by the Shareholdersõ Meeting;  

­  if there is a tax loss for the year (that is, for IRAP purposes, a negative production value), the deferred tax 
asset relating to the deductions for goodwill, other intangible assets, and loan write-downs, which 
contributed to the formation of the tax loss (i.e., the negative production value) is transformed into a tax 
credit. Conversion will be effective as of the date of submission of the tax return for the year in which the 
loss is incurred.  

As a result of the provisions contained in Law Decree no. 83 of 27 June 2015, the DTAs that can be converted 
ceased to increase starting from 2016. In particular: 

1. for deferred tax assets relating to goodwill, other intangible assets newly recognised in financial statements 
from 2016 onwards are excluded from the regulations pursuant to art. 2 - paragraphs 55 et seq. - of Law 
Decree 225/2010; 

2. for deferred tax assets relating to loan write-downs, from 2016 onwards, the accounting assumption for 
recognition in financial statements has ceased and these write-downs are entirely deductible in the 
accounting period. Note that the 2019 financial manoeuvre (Law no. 145 of 30 December 2018) repealed the 
full deductibility of loan write-downs upon first-time application of IFRS 9, exclusively following the 
adoption of the model for recognising the provision to cover expected losses (ECL), providing for the 
deductibility (IRES and IRAP) of these write-downs on a straight-line basis over 10 years. It was, however, 
explicitly stated that the relative DTAs recorded in financial statements as a result, although referring to 
write-downs on loans to customers, cannot be converted into tax credits pursuant to Law Decree 225/2010. 
It should also be noted that the portion referring to 31 December 2019 was deferred to 31 December 2028, 
as a result of the 2020 Budget Law (Law 160 of 27 December 2019). 

Furthermore, note that the Bank exercised the irrevocable option provided in Law Decree no. 59 of 3 May 2016 
(and subsequent amendments) to maintain the right to convert DTAs relative to goodwill, other intangible assets, 
and loan losses into tax credits; thus, it is necessary to pay an annual fee for each year from 2016 onwards, if the 
conditions apply, until 2030.  

Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses are recognised based on the same criteria as those used to recognise 
deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences: therefore, they are shown in the balance sheet to the 
extent to which they are likely to be recovered on the basis of the capacity of the company to generate a positive 
taxable profit in the future. Since the existence of unused tax losses may be symptomatic of difficulties to 
generate positive taxable profit in the future, IAS 12 establishes that if losses have been posted in recent periods, 
suitable evidence must be provided to support the existence of such profit in the future. Furthermore, current 
Italian tax law allows for IRES losses to be carried forward indefinitely (art. 84, paragraph 1, of the Income Tax 
Act - TUIR); as a result, verifying the existence of future taxable profit against which to use such losses is not 
subject to any time limits. 
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As mentioned above, the Bank verifies the probability that there will be future taxable income (probability test) 
using the risk-adjusted approach, which provides for the application of a discount factor to future income. This 
factor, applied with the compound interest criterion, discounts future income at an increasing rate to reflect its 
uncertainty. For more details on the assessments made by the Group to verify the possibility of recognising 
deferred tax assets, please refer to the subsequent paragraph òUse of estimates and assumptions when preparing 
financial statements - Methods for recognising deferred tax assets (probability test)ó. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using the tax rates expected at the date on which the temporary 
differences are reversed, on the basis of the provisions in force at the reporting date. In particular, for purposes 
of recognising deferred tax assets, it was taken into account that the 2020 Budget Law (Law 160 of 27 December 
2019) reintroduced the ACE (Support for Economic Growth) subsidy, effective from 2019, which had previously 
been repealed by the 2019 Budget Law (Law 145 of 30 December 2018). Any changes in tax rates or tax 
standards having a significant effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities that are issued or announced after the 
reporting date and before the publication authorisation date are treated as events after the balance sheet date that 
do not entail an adjustment pursuant to IAS 10, with the resulting disclosure in the notes. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are posted to the balance sheet by offsetting each tax against the defined asset 
or liability to which it relates. 

b) classification and measurement criteria 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically measured to take account of any changes in regulations or tax 
rates and of any different subjective situations.  

With reference to fiscal consolidation of the parent company and participating subsidiaries, contracts have been 
stipulated to regulate offsetting flows in relation to the transfers of tax profits and losses. Such flows are 
determined by administering the applicable IRES tax rate to the taxable income of participating companies. The 
offsetting flow for companies that transfer tax losses - calculated as above - is posted by the consolidating to the 
consolidated company when and to the extent to which the consolidated company will transfer positive taxable 
income in tax periods subsequent to that in which the loss was recorded. Offsetting flows so determined are 
posted as receivables and payables with companies participating in fiscal consolidation, classified under other 
assets and other liabilities, offsetting item 270 òTax expense (recovery) on income from continuing operationsó.  

c) revenue recognition criteria 

Where deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to components which affected the income statement, they are offset 

by income tax. When deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to transactions which directly affected equity without 

impacting the income statement (e.g. measurement of financial instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income or cash flow hedging derivatives), they are posted as an offsetting entry to shareholdersõ 

equity, involving the special reserves if required. 

 

10 Provisions for risks and charges 

Provisions for risks and charges: commitments and guarantees issued 

The sub-item in question includes provisions for credit risk on commitments to disburse funds and guarantees 
given that fall under the scope of application of the impairment rules pursuant to IFRS 9, consistent with the 
provisions for òFinancial assets measured at amortised costó and òFinancial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive incomeó. For more detailed information on the impairment model, please refer to the 
subsequent paragraph òUse of estimates and assumptions when preparing financial statements - Methods for 
calculating impairment on IFRS 9 financial instrumentsó. 

In addition, the sub-item also includes provisions for risks and charges established for other types of 
commitments and guarantees issued which, by virtue of their distinct characteristics, do not fall under the scope 
of application of the impairment rules pursuant to IFRS 9. 

Provisions for risks and charges: post-employment benefits 

The sub-item òProvision for risks and charges: b) post-employment benefitsó includes appropriations, recognised 
based on IAS 19 òEmployee Benefitsó, for the purpose of closing the technical deficit of defined benefit 
supplementary pension funds. Pension plans are either defined benefit or defined contribution schemes. The 
charges borne by the employer for defined contribution schemes are pre-determined; charges for defined benefit 
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plans are estimated and shall take account of any shortfall in contributions or poor investment performance of 
defined benefit plan assets. For defined benefit plans, the actuarial values required by the application of the above 
standard are determined by an external actuary in accordance with the Projected Unit Credit Method. Actuarial 
gains and losses, defined as the difference between the book value of the liability and the present value of 
commitments at the end of the year, are recognised for the full amount in the statement of comprehensive 
income, under the item òValuation reservesó.  

For further details, please refer to the following paragraph ò16 - Other information - Severance pay and other 
employee benefitsó.  

Provisions for risks and charges: other provisions 

The sub-item òProvisions for risks and charges: c) other provisionsó includes allocations made for estimated 
expenditures for legal or implicit obligations deriving from past events. These expenditures may be contractual in 
nature, such as the allocations for the incentive system for employees and leaving incentives, indemnities 
envisaged in contractual clauses upon occurrence of certain events, or for compensation and/or restitution, such 
as those against presumed losses for actions filed against the Bank, including claw-back actions, estimated 
expenses in relation to customer claims for securities brokerage, and tax disputes. 

Sub-item c) also includes provisions established for lease contracts, stipulated as lessee, which require the 
dismantling/refurbishment of the underlying assets at the end of the contract.  

Provisions for risks and charges consist of liabilities with uncertain amounts or payment dates and are recognised 
in the financial statements if: 

¶ there is a current (legal or implicit) obligation resulting from a past event; 

¶ an outflow of resources producing economic rewards is likely to be necessary in order to settle the 
obligation; and 

¶ a reliable estimate can be made of the likely future disbursement. 
 

The amount recognised as a provision represents the best estimate of the financial disbursement necessary to 
fulfil the obligation existing at the reporting date and reflects the risks and uncertainties inherent in the events 
and situations reviewed. Whenever the time element is meaningful, the provisions are discounted using the 
current market rates. With the exception of provisions associated with lease contracts, the allocation and 
discounting effect are recorded in the income statement under item ò170 - Net provisions for risks and chargesó, 
as is the increase in the provision due to the passage of time. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the best current estimate. When an outflow of resources, intended to produce economic 
benefits in fulfilment of an obligation, becomes unlikely or when the obligation has lapsed, the provision is 
reversed. 

The provisions for lease contracts stipulated as lessee are established considering the best estimate of the costs to 
dismantle and refurbish the premises made on the contract start date, i.e. as at the date on which the underlying 
asset is made available to the Bank. The offsetting entry for the provision is the asset recognised for the right of 
use of the property in item ò80 - Property, plant and equipmentó. 

In addition, each provision is used solely for the expenditures for which it was originally established. 
 
No provision is shown for contingent and unlikely liabilities, but information is provided in the notes to the 
financial statements, except in cases where the probability of an outflow of resources to settle the amount is 
remote or the amount is not significant. 

 

11 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

a) classification criteria  

Item 10 òFinancial liabilities measured at amortised costó includes the sub-items òa) deposits from banksó, òb) 
deposits from customersó, and òc) debt securities issuedó and comprises the various types of funding (both 
interbank and from customers) and funds raised through certificates of deposit and outstanding bonds, net of 
any repurchase. Debt securities issued include all securities that are not subject to ònaturaló hedging through 
derivatives and that are classified as liabilities measured at fair value. 

This item also incorporates payables booked by the lessee in relation to any stipulated finance and operating lease 
transactions, as well as repurchase agreements for funding and securities lent against cash guarantees that are fully 
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available to the lender. Finally, operating payables related to the provision of financial services, as defined in the 
Consolidated Law on Banking and Consolidated Law on Finance, are included in this item. 

b) recognition criteria 

These financial liabilities are initially recognised upon receipt of the amounts collected or at the time of issuance 
of debt securities based on their fair value, which is generally equal to the amount received or the issue price, 
increased by any additional income/expense directly attributable to the individual funding or issuing transaction 
and not reimbursed by the creditors. Internal administrative expenses are excluded. 

Repurchase agreement transactions with the obligation to repurchase are posted as funding transactions for the 
spot amounts collected. 

Should the requirements provided for by IFRS 9 for the separate recognition of embedded derivatives be met in 
the case of structured instruments, they are separated from the host contract and reported at fair value as a 
trading asset or liability. Instead, the host contract is recognised at amortised cost.  

Lease liabilities recognised in relation to the lessor are measured at the present value of future lease payments for 
the duration of the lease. The lease term is determined taking into consideration: 

¶ periods covered by an option to extend the lease, if it is reasonably certain that the option will be 
exercised; 

¶ periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain that the option will be 
exercised. 

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Following initial recognition, financial liabilities issued, net of any reimbursements and/or repurchases, are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Short-term liabilities for which time effect is 
immaterial are an exception, and are recognised at the amount collected. Interest is charged to the income 
statement under item 20 òInterest expense and similar chargesó. 

Following the commencement date, the book value of lease liabilities: 

- increases for accrued interest expense, charged to the income statement under item ò20 - Interest 
expense and similar chargesó; 

- decreases for lease instalment payments; 
- is recalculated to take into account any new valuations (e.g., extension or reduction of the contract 

term) or changes in the lease (e.g., renegotiation of the lease payment) that occurred after the 
commencement date.  

Moreover, funding instruments that have an effective hedging relationship are assessed based on the rules for 
hedging transactions. 

d) derecognition criteria  

Financial liabilities are derecognised upon maturity or extinction. Derecognition also occurs if previously issued 
securities have been repurchased. The difference between the book value of the liabilities and the amount paid to 
repurchase them is recorded in the income statement in item ò100 - Gains (losses) on disposals or repurchasesó. 
A new placement in the market of own securities after their repurchase is considered as a new issue and posted at 
the new price of placement, with no impact on the income statement.  

 

12 Financial liabilities held for trading 

a) classification criteria 

This item includes: 

¶ financial liabilities issued with the intention to repurchase them in the short term; 

¶ liabilities that are part of a jointly managed portfolio of financial instruments for which there is a 
proven strategy to obtain profits in the short term; 

¶ derivative contracts with a negative fair value not designated as hedging instruments, including both 
those embedded in complex financial instruments that have been unbundled from liabilities measured 
at amortised cost, as well as those related to assets/liabilities measured at fair value through profit and 
loss. 
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Moreover, liabilities that arise from technical overdrafts generated by securities trading activities are included. 

b) recognition criteria 

Financial liabilities held for trading are initially recognised on the settlement date for cash liabilities and on the 
subscription date for derivative contracts. 

Upon initial recognition, they are measured at fair value, which usually corresponds to the amount collected net 
of any transaction costs or income directly attributable to the instrument itself, which are directly posted to the 
income statement.  

c) measurement criteria 

Following initial recognition, financial liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value, every change in fair 
value is recognised in the income statement. 

For a description of criteria used to determine the fair value of financial instruments, please see Section òA.4.5 
Fair Value Hierarchyó in Part A of these Notes to the financial statements. 

d) revenue recognition criteria 

Profits and losses arising from any changes in the fair value of financial liabilities and/or their sale are recognised 
in the income statement under item ò80 - Net profit/loss from tradingó, including those for derivatives payable 
associated with the fair value option. 

e) derecognition criteria 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights on the related cash flows expire or when the 
financial liabilities are sold with the substantial transfer of all related risks and benefits. 

 

13 Financial liabilities measured at fair value 

a) classification criteria 

This category includes financial liabilities for which, upon initial recognition, the option of measurement at fair 
value through profit and loss was chosen; this option is allowed when: 

1. the fair value designation makes it possible to eliminate or significantly reduce a lack of standardisation in 
the measurement or recognition that would otherwise result from the valuation of assets or liabilities or the 
recognition of the related profits and losses on different bases (known as òaccounting mismatchó); or 

2. the management and/or measurement of a group of financial instruments at fair value through profit and 
loss is consistent with an investment or risk management strategy documented as such by senior 
management; or  

3. a host instrument embeds a derivative which significantly modifies the cash flows of the host and should 
otherwise be unbundled. 

The option to designate a liability at fair value is irrevocable, is carried out on an individual financial instrument, 
and does not require the same application to all instruments having similar characteristics. It is not permitted to 
use the fair value designation for only one portion of a financial instrument, attributable to a single risk 
component to which the instrument is subject. 

The Bank has exercised this option in relation to case 1, classifying under this item financial liabilities that are 
subject to ònatural hedgingó through derivative instruments.  

In Section 16 òOther informationó, a specific paragraph is included to provide insight into the hedging 

management methods through the adoption of the fair value option.  

b) recognition criteria 

Upon initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at fair value, which usually corresponds to the 
amount collected net of any transaction costs or income directly attributable to the instrument itself, which are 
directly posted to the income statement.  

The fair value of any financial liabilities issued at conditions other than market conditions is calculated by using a 
specific valuation technique, and the difference with respect to the consideration received is booked directly to 
the income statement only when the conditions provided for by IFRS 9 have been met, i.e. when the fair value of 
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the instrument issued can be established by using either quoted market prices for similar instruments or by a 
valuation technique based solely on market data. Should these conditions not apply, the fair value used for 
valuations after the issuance of instruments is cleared of the initial difference between the fair value upon 
issuance and the consideration received. This difference is recognised in the income statement only if it ensues 
from changes in the factors (including time), which market traders would consider for price determination. 

c) measurement criteria and revenue recognition criteria 

Following initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from any 
changes in the fair value of these liabilities are recognised: 

¶ in item ò110 - Valuation reservesó, for the portion related to the change in fair value that is attributable 
to changes in the issuerõs creditworthiness, unless this creates or increases an accounting mismatch in 
the profit (loss) for the year, in which case the entire change in fair value of the liability must be charged 
to the income statement; Effects associated with the change in own creditworthiness are recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income, net of the related tax effect, along with the other income 
components that will not be reversed to the income statement. The amount charged to the specific 
equity reserve will never be reversed to the income statement, even if the liability expires or lapses; in 
this case, the cumulative gain (loss) in the specific valuation reserve must be reclassified to another 
shareholdersõ equity item (ò140 - Reservesó); 

¶ in the income statement under item ò110 - Net profit (loss) from financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value through profit and lossó, for the portion of the fair value change not attributable to changes 
in own creditworthiness. 

For a description of criteria used to determine the fair value of financial instruments, please see Section òA.4.5 
Fair Value Hierarchyó in Part A of these Notes to the financial statements. 

d) derecognition criteria 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights on the related cash flows expire or when the 
financial liabilities are sold with the substantial transfer of all risks and benefits resulting from the ownership.  

For financial liabilities represented by securities issued, derecognition also occurs if previously issued securities 
have been repurchased. The difference between the book value of liabilities and the amount paid to purchase 
them is recorded in the income statement under item ò110 - Net profit/loss from financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit and lossó, with the exception of profits/losses associated with the change in 
own creditworthiness, which continues to be recognised in an equity reserve, as described above. A new 
placement in the market of own securities after their repurchase is considered for accounting purposes as a new 
issue and posted at the new price of placement, with no impact on the income statement. 

 

14 Foreign-currency transactions 

a) recognition criteria 

Upon initial recognition, foreign-currency transactions are recognised in the currency of account using the 
foreign-exchange rates on the date of the transaction. 

b) revenue classification, measurement, recognition and derecognition criteria 

Financial statement entries denominated in foreign currencies are valued at the end of each reporting period as 
follows: 

¶ monetary entries are converted using the exchange rate on the closing date; 

¶ non-monetary entries valued at historical cost are converted using the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction; 

¶ non-monetary entries that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated at the closing date 
rate.  

Any exchange-rate differences resulting from the settlement of monetary elements, or from the conversion of 
monetary elements at rates other than those used for initial conversion or conversion in the previous financial 
statements, are posted to the income statement for the period in which they arise. 
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When a profit or a loss on a non-monetary element is recognised in equity, the exchange-rate difference in 
relation to said element is also posted to equity. However, when a profit or a loss is posted to the income 
statement, the relative exchange-rate difference is also posted there. 

The accounting position of foreign branches with different operating currencies is converted into Euros by using 
the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. Any exchange rate differences attributable to investments 
in such foreign branches, and those resulting from the conversion into Euros of their accounting position, are 
recognised in equity reserves and transferred to the income statement only in the year when the investment is 
disposed of or reduced. 

 

15 Insurance assets and liabilities 

The Bank does not carry out insurance activities. 

 

16 Other information 

Other financial statement items 

Cash and cash equivalents 

This item includes currencies that are legal tender, including foreign banknotes and coins and demand deposits 
with the central bank of the country or countries in which the Bank operates through its own companies or 
branches, with the exception of the mandatory reserve. 

The item is posted at face value. For foreign currencies, the face value is converted into Euros at year-end 
exchange rate. 

Change in value of macro-hedged financial assets and liabilities 

These items show, respectively, the net amount, whether positive or negative, of changes in value of assets and 
liabilities macro-hedged against interest rate risk, pursuant to IAS 39, paragraph 89. For more detailed 
information, please refer to the discussion in paragraph 4 òHedging transactionsó. 

Other assets 

This item shows assets not attributable to the other items on the asset side of the balance sheet. It may include, 
for example: 

¶ gold, silver, metals and precious stones; 

¶ items in processing; 

¶ accrued income and prepaid expenses not attributable to its own separate item; 

¶ receivables associated with the provision of non-financial goods or services and accrued income other than 
that which is capitalised on the related financial assets, including those resulting from contracts with 
customers pursuant to IFRS 15; 

¶ any inventories according to the definition of IAS 2, excluding those classified as inventories of property, 
plant and equipment; 

¶ tax credits other than those recognised under item ò100 - Tax assetsó; 

¶ improvements and incremental expenses incurred on third-party real estate other than those attributable to 
item ò80 - Property, plant and equipmentó and therefore not independently identifiable and separable. 

The costs in the latter bullet point are posted to item ò120 - Other assetsó, since the user company exercises 
control of the assets for the purpose of the tenancy agreement and can obtain future economic benefits from 
them. Said costs are posted to item ò200 - Other operating expenses (income)ó in the income statement 
according to the shorter of the period in which the improvements and incremental expenses can be used and the 
remaining term of the contract, including the renewal period, where applicable. 

Other liabilities 

This item shows liabilities not attributable to other items on the liability side of the balance sheet.  

It includes, for example: 

¶ items in processing; 

¶ payment agreements that must be classified as debit entries according to IFRS 2; 
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¶ debit entries connected with payment for provision of non-financial goods and services; 

¶ accrued liabilities other than those to be capitalised for the respective financial liabilities, including those 
deriving from contracts with customers pursuant to IFRS 15; 

¶ sundry tax liabilities other than those recognised under item ò60 - Tax liabilitiesó, associated, for example, 
with substitute tax assets. 

Severance pay and other employee benefits 

Employee severance pay is defined as a òbenefit subsequent to the employment relationshipó, in accordance with 
IAS 19. Following the supplementary pension reform, pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree no. 252 of 5 
December 2005, new rules were introduced for severance pay accrued effective 1 January 2007, which is 
recognised for purposes of the relative accounting treatment. In particular, for companies with an average of at 
least 50 employees during 2006, the portions of severance pay accrued starting from 1 January 2007 are 
considered a òdefined contribution planó, both for the case in which the employee opts for supplementary social 
security, as well as the case in which the employee opts for the allocation to the INPS treasury fund; the charge, 
recognised under personnel costs, is limited to the contribution established by regulations envisaged by the 
Italian Civil Code, without applying any actuarial methodology. 

Conversely, the severance pay accrued as at 31 December 2006 continues to be considered a òdefined benefit 
planó. In general, òpost-employment plansó - which include severance pay as well as pension funds - are divided 
into the two categories òdefined benefitó or òdefined contributionó, based on their characteristics. 

In particular, for defined contribution plans, the cost is represented by contributions accrued during the year, 
given that the company has only the obligation to pay the contractually established contributions to a fund and, 
consequently, has no legal or implicit obligation to pay, in addition to the contribution, additional amounts if the 
fund does not have sufficient assets to pay all the benefits to employees. 

For defined benefit plans, the actuarial and investment risk, that is, the risk of a shortfall in contributions or poor 
investment performance of the assets in which the contributions are invested, is borne by the company. The 
liability is calculated by an external actuary based on the Projected Unit Credit method. Based on this method, 
future disbursements must be estimated based on demographic and financial assumptions, to be discounted to 
consider the time that will pass before the actual payment and to be adjusted for the ratio between the years of 
service accrued and the theoretical seniority estimate at the time the benefit is paid. For discounting purposes, the 
rate used is determined with reference to the market yield of primary corporate bonds taking into account the 
average residual duration of the liability, weighted according to the percentage of the amount paid and advanced, 
for each maturity, compared to the total to be paid and advanced up to the final settlement of the full bond. 

The actuarial value of the liability thus calculated must then be adjusted for the fair value of any assets servicing 
the plan (net liabilities/assets). Actuarial gains and losses that arise as a result of adjustments to the previous 
actuarial assumptions formulated, following actual historical data or due to changes in the actuarial assumptions, 
entail a re-measurement of net liabilities and are offset against an equity reserve (item ò110 - Valuation reservesó) 
and are thus presented in the òStatement of comprehensive incomeó. The change in the liability resulting from a 
change or reduction in the plan is recorded in the income statement as a profit or loss. More precisely, the 
specific case of a change applies if a new plan is introduced or an existing plan is withdrawn or modified. Instead, 
there is the case of a reduction due to a significant negative variation in the number of employees included in the 
plan, such as, for example, redundancy plans for redundant workers (access to the Solidarity Fund). 

The Projected Unit Credit method, described above, is also used to measure long-term benefits, such as seniority 
bonuses for employees. Contrary to that which was described for defined benefit plans, actuarial gains and losses 
associated with the measurement of long-term benefits are immediately recognised in the income statement. 

Valuation reserves 

This item includes valuation reserves relating to the equity securities measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, financial assets (other than equity securities) measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, hedges on foreign investments, cash flow hedges, exchange rate differences for 
conversion, òindividual assetsó and groups of assets held for sale, the portion of valuation reserves for 
investments measured according to the equity method, actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans, and 
profits/losses for changes in own creditworthiness in relation to liabilities under the fair value option.  
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Share capital and Treasury shares 

This equity item includes the amount of issued shares net of any capital subscribed but not yet paid at the 
reporting date. The item is shown including any treasury shares held by the Bank. Treasury shares are recognised 
in financial statements as a negative component of shareholdersõ equity. 

The original cost of repurchased treasury shares and the profits or losses from their subsequent sale are 
recognised as changes in shareholdersõ equity. Transaction costs for a capital transaction, such as an increase in 
share capital, are recorded as a reduction in shareholdersõ equity, net of any related tax benefits. Dividends on 
ordinary shares are recorded as a reduction of shareholdersõ equity in the year in which the Shareholdersõ Meeting 
approved their distribution.  

 

Other significant accounting practices 

Revenues from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) 

Revenues are gross inflows of economic benefits during the year in the form of consideration for the obligation 
to transfer to the customer a wide range of goods and services considered part of ordinary business activities.  

The IFRS 15 standard, òRevenue from Contracts with Customersó, introduces a new model for recognising 
revenues deriving from contractual obligations with customers, which is based on the concept of a transfer of 
control and, thus, not only on the concept of the transfer of risks and benefits.  

First of all, revenues deriving from contracts with customers are recorded in financial statements only if the 
relative contract is identifiable, that is: 

¶ the parties have approved the contract and are committed to its execution; 

¶ the rights and obligations of the parties can be clearly identified in the contract; 

¶ the payment terms for the transferred goods and services can be identified; 

¶ the contract has commercial substance, in the sense that it impacts the entityõs cash flows; 

¶ it is considered likely that the consideration will be collected upon transfer of the assets and provision 
of the services. For this assessment, only the customerõs ability and intention to pay the amount due 
should be considered. 

After the contractõs consideration has been allocated to individual obligations resulting from the contract, 
revenue is recognised in the income statement when the customer obtains control of the goods or services 
promised (or when the performance obligation may be deemed satisfied) and can be: 

¶ at a specific point in time (e.g., when the entity fulfils the obligation to transfer the promised good or 
service to the customer);  

¶ over a period of time (e.g., as the entity fulfils the obligation to transfer the promised good or service to 
the customer); 

For purposes of determining the revenue, the consideration is defined as the amount the entity is entitled to in 
exchange for the transfer of goods and services and may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both. 
Specifically, the contractõs consideration may vary based on reductions, discounts, reimbursements, incentives, 
performance bonuses, or other similar elements. The consideration may also vary depending on whether a future 
event occurs (as in the case of a fee linked to performance objectives).  

The methods suggested by IFRS 15 for estimating the variable portion of remuneration are: 

¶ the expected value method, i.e., the weighted sum of the amounts in a range of possible considerations (for 

example, the company has many contracts with similar characteristics); 

¶ the most likely amount method, or the most likely in a range of possible considerations (for example, the 

company receives a performance bonus or does not receive it). 

If there is an element of variable consideration, revenue is recognised in the income statement only if it is 
possible to reasonably estimate the revenue and if it is highly probable that this consideration will not be 
subsequently reversed from the income statement, whether in full or for a significant part. In the event of a high 
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prevalence of factors of uncertainty linked to the nature of the consideration, it will only be recognised at the 
moment this uncertainty is resolved. In any case, the estimated part of the transaction price must be updated at 
the end of each reporting period. The presence of financial components is also considered in determining the 
price, if considered relevant. 

In the case of commercial agreements that envisage the recognition of variable non-cash consideration to the 
entity, linked to the achievement of specific targets and that can be used for services rendered by the commercial 
partner, the Bank recognises these revenues in the income statement in the year in which they accrue, at a value 
that is not more than the fair value of services effectively rendered by the partner. 

If the entity receives from the customer a consideration that provides for the reimbursement to the customer, in 
whole or in part, of the revenue received, a provision for risks and charges is recognised against the expected 
future repayments. The case may occur, for example, when the customer has a right of withdrawal for the asset 
or if the contract includes a claw-back clause. This standard also applies to loyalty programmes, against which a 
refund liability is recognised. The liability for future redemptions is equal to the amount of the consideration 
received (or receivable) for which it is expected that the entity is not entitled to (i.e., amounts not included in the 
transaction price). The liability for future redemptions (as well as the corresponding change in the transaction 
price and, consequently, the liability arising from the contract) must be updated on the closing date of each 
reporting period to take account of changes in circumstances.  

For contracts for the placement of third-party products, which provide for the reimbursement of part of the 
commissions received in the event of early termination by the customer and in the presence of claw-back clauses 
linked to the failure to achieve target commission volumes, the Bank quantified this provision for risk and 
charges based on historical trends for early repayments and reimbursements to customers. The monitoring and 
forecasting of volumes of the collected and reversed fees enable the provision to be adjusted at each reporting 
date. The model that is used is based on the most likely amount method. 

In addition, the Bank has a credit card loyalty programme in place, according to which reward points are granted 
to customers based on the volumes transacted; reward points are redeemed through prizes purchased mainly 
from external suppliers. Reward points granted to customers who subscribe to a product/service of the Bank 
entails that recognition of the portion of revenue attributable to the recognised reward points in the income 
statement is suspended, as an offsetting entry to other liabilities. For this purpose, the transaction price of the 
performance obligation associated with the reward points granted is estimated, using a model based on the fair 
value of the reward points, calculated using several factors including: redemption forecasts for the reward points 
accrued by customers and the cost related to reward purchases. The amount of consideration that can be 
allocated to the reward points is recognised as a refund liability; it is released to the income statement only when 
the obligations related to the reward points have been fulfilled, i.e., when they are effectively redeemed by the 
customer. 

Lastly, the incremental costs for obtaining the contract that are expected to be recovered and the costs for 
fulfilling the contract are capitalised when these costs can be directly attributed to the contract, generate 
resources that can be used to fulfil future contractual performance obligations, and are considered recoverable. 
This recognised asset is systematically amortised in accordance with the transfer to the customer of the good or 
service to which the asset refers and, therefore, in accordance with the accounting of the corresponding revenues. 
The Bank does not have assets of this type.  

Revenues and costs relating to financial instruments 

With reference to the income and charges relating to financial assets/liabilities, note that: 

a) interest is booked pro-rata temporis on the basis of contractual interest rate or the effective interest rate in 
the event of application of the amortised cost; negative income components accrued on financial assets 
are booked to item ò20. Interest expenses and similar chargesó; the positive income components 
accrued on financial liabilities are booked to item ò10. Interest income and similar revenuesó. Interest 
income (or interest expense) also includes the spreads or margins, positive (or negative), accrued up to 
the reporting date, in relation to financial derivative contracts: 

¶ hedging assets and liabilities that generate interest; 

¶ classified in the balance sheet in the trading book, but operationally linked to financial assets 
and/or liabilities measured at fair value (fair value option); 

¶ connected operationally with assets and liabilities classified in the trading book and which 
entail the settlement of differentials or margins over several maturities; 

b) interest on arrears is posted to the income statement only upon actual collection; 
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c) dividends are shown in the income statement upon resolution of their payout, i.e. when their payment is 
due; 

d) commissions for service income are posted in the period when said services were rendered, on the basis 
of existing contractual agreements. The commissions considered in the amortised cost for purposes of 
calculating the effective interest rate are recorded in interest; 

e) gains and losses following initial recognition at fair value, as determined by the difference between the 
transaction price and the fair value of the instrument, are booked to the income statement when the 
transaction is recorded if the fair value can be determined with reference to parameters or recent 
transactions observable on the same market in which the instrument is traded; otherwise, they are 
distributed over time, taking into account the duration and the nature of the instrument; 

f) gains and losses from the sale of financial instruments are recognised in the income statement when the 
sale is finalised, with the relative transfer of risks and benefits, based on the difference between the 
consideration received and the book value of the instruments themselves. Portfolio management fees 
are recognised based on the duration of service.  

 

Costs for constant services and decreasing payments  

The IFRS accounting standards do not provide specific guidelines on the accounting treatment to be applied for 
recognising costs related to service contracts that are rendered by the supplier through an indeterminate number 
of actions, over a given period of time. If there are cases of services rendered by suppliers through a single 
performance obligation relating to the provision of a specific number of units, such as a certain volume of 
services, which remain constant throughout the contract term and this single performance obligation is satisfied 
over time with a decreasing payment amount due by the customer, the Bank applies the accounting treatment 
envisaged by IFRS 15 accounting standard (see Basis for Conclusions 313-314). 

In cases of the provision of a constant volume over time of equal services and decreasing payments, the Bank 
assigns an average unit cost to the services received and, consequently, recognises their costs on a straight-line 
basis. This straight-line mechanism for recognising costs entails the need to recognise a prepaid asset which, at 
each reporting date pursuant to IAS 36, is assessed to determine if there are impairment indicators which also 
takes into account the analyses carried out pursuant to IAS 37, for purposes of onerous contracts. In the event 
that impairment indicators are identified, the recoverable value of the asset must be calculated and a write-down 
must be recognised in the financial statements when the recoverable value is lower than the book value. 

 

Share-based payments 

These are payments to employees, as consideration for work performed, settled with equity instruments, which 
consist, for example, in assigning: 

- rights to subscribe paid share capital increases (stock options); 
- rights to receive shares upon achieving certain objectives or at the end of the employment relationship. 

Pursuant to IFRS 2, payments based on treasury shares are classified as òequity-settledó plans, to be recognised 
based on the fair value of the employment services received. 

Given the difficulties of directly estimating the fair value of employment services received as an offsetting entry 
to the assignment of shares, the value of the services received can be measured indirectly, using as a reference the 
fair value of equity instruments at the date they are assigned. The fair value of payments settled by issuing shares 
is recognised according to the criterion of the service provided, in the income statement item ò160 - a) Personnel 
expensesó as an offsetting entry to an increase in the item ò140 - Reservesó.  

In particular, when the assigned shares cannot immediately be used by the employee, but rather are available only 
after the employee has completed a specific period of service, the company recognises the cost as consideration 
for the service rendered throughout the accrual period for these conditions (òvesting periodó). 

 

Business combinations 

A business combination is defined as the transfer of control of a company (or of a group of assets and integrated 
goods, conducted and managed as a unit). For the definition of control, please refer to Section 3 òScope of 
consolidationó of this part A of the notes. 
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A business combination may give rise to an investment link between the acquiring Parent Company and the 
acquired subsidiary. In these cases, the acquiring entity applies IFRS 3 to the consolidated financial statements 
while posting the acquired interest to its separate financial statements as an equity interest in a subsidiary, 
consequently applying the òSeparate financial statementsó accounting standard. 

A business combination may also provide for the acquisition of the net assets of another entity, including any 
goodwill, or the acquisition of the share capital of another entity (e.g., mergers, splits, acquisitions of business 
units). Such a business combination is not an investment link like the one between a parent company and a 
subsidiary, and therefore in these cases IFRS 3 is also applied to the acquiring entityõs separate financial 
statements.  

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method, which requires: (i) the identification of the 
acquirer; (ii) the determination of the cost of the business combination; and (iii) the allocation of the acquisition 
price (òPurchase Price Allocationó). 

Identification of the acquirer 

IFRS 3 requires that an acquirer is identified for all business combinations, identified as the party that obtains 
control over another entity, understood as the power to set financial and management policies of the entity in 
order to receive benefits from its activities. In the case of business combination transactions that result in the 
exchange of equity interests, identification of the acquirer must consider factors such as: (i) the number of new 
ordinary voting shares issued with respect to the total number of ordinary voting shares that will constitute the 
share capital of the existing company after the combination; (ii) the fair value of the entities participating in the 
business combination; (iii) the composition of the new corporate bodies; and (iv) the entity that issues the new 
shares. 

Determination of the cost of the business combination 

The consideration paid in a business combination is equal to the fair value, on the purchase date, of assets sold, 
liabilities incurred, and equity instruments issued by the acquirer in exchange for obtaining control of the 
acquired entity. The consideration that the acquirer transfers in exchange to the acquired entity includes any 
assets and liabilities resulting from an agreement on òcontingent considerationó, to be recognised at the fair value 
on the acquisition date. Changes to the consideration transferred are possible if they result from additional 
information on events and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date and may be recognised within the 
measurement period for the business combination (i.e., within twelve months from the acquisition date, as 
specified below). Any other changes deriving from events or circumstances subsequent to the acquisition, such as 
consideration recognised to the seller linked to the achievement of a certain profit performance, must be 
recorded in the income statement. 

Costs related to the acquisition, which include brokerage fees, consulting, legal, accounting, and professional fees, 
as well as general administrative costs, are recorded in the income statement as they are incurred, with the 
exception of the costs of issuing shares and debt securities, which are recognised on the basis of the provisions 
of IAS 32 and IFRS 9. 

Purchase Price Allocation 

According to the purchase method, at the acquisition date, the acquirer must allocate the cost of the business 
combination (òPurchase Price Allocationó) to the identifiable assets acquired and to the liabilities assumed 
measured at their fair value on that date, as well as recognising the value of non-controlling interests of the 
acquired entity. Therefore, it is necessary to draw up a balance sheet for the acquired entity, at the acquisition 
date, measuring at fair value the identifiable assets acquired (including any intangible assets not previously 
recognised by the acquired entity) and identifiable liabilities assumed (including contingent liabilities). 

For each business combination, any non-controlling interests may be recognised at fair value or in proportion to 
the share of identifiable net assets of the acquired company. 

In addition, if control obtained through subsequent acquisitions (business combinations carried out in several 
phases), the previously held equity interest is measured at fair value at the acquisition date and the difference 
compared to the previous book value must be charged to the income statement. 

Hence, at the acquisition date, the acquirer must determine the difference between: 

- the sum of: 
o the cost of the business combination; 
o the amount of any non-controlling interests as described above; 
o the fair value of any equity interests previously held by the acquirer; 
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and 
- the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired, including contingent liabilities. 

Any positive difference must be recognised as goodwill; conversely, any negative difference must be charged to 
the income statement of the entity resulting from the business combination as profit deriving from the purchase 
at favourable prices (negative goodwill or badwill), after having performed a new measurement aimed at 
ascertaining the correct process of identifying all assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be definitively identified within the maximum term of twelve months 
from the acquisition date (measurement period). 

Once control has been obtained and the purchase method described above has been applied, any further increase 
or decrease in the equity interest in a subsidiary in which control is maintained is recognised as a transaction 
between shareholders. Therefore, the book values of the shareholdersõ equity of the Group and third parties 
must be adjusted to reflect changes in equity interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the value for 
which non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received must be 
recognised directly in the Groupõs shareholdersõ equity. 

If there is an event which results in the loss of control, an entry is made to the income statement equivalent to 
the difference between (i) the sum of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of the residual 
equity interest held and (ii) the previous book value of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any third-party shareholdersõ equity. The amounts previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income (such as valuation reserves for financial assets sold that are measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income) must be accounted for in the same way as required if the parent company had 
directly sold the assets or related liabilities (by reclassification in the income statement or shareholdersõ equity). 

The fair value of any equity interest held in the former subsidiary must be considered equal to the fair value upon 
initial recognition of a financial asset according to IFRS 9, or, where appropriate, equal to the cost at the time of 
initial recognition in an associate company or a jointly controlled entity. 

 

Business combinations under common control 

Business combinations between entities under common control do not fall under IFRS 3. In the absence of a 
standard of reference, as indicated in Section 1 òDeclaration of conformity with international accounting 
standardsó, these transactions are posted to the accounts by making reference to preliminary guidance from the 
Italian Association of Auditors (Orientamenti Preliminari, OPI 1 òAccounting treatment of business 
combinations of entities under common control in separate and consolidated financial statementsó and OPI 2 
òAccounting treatment of mergers in financial statementsó). These guidelines consider the economic significance 
of business combinations on the basis of cash flow impact on the Bank. Transactions, which had no significant 
influence on future cash flows, were recognised using the pooling of interest method. Therefore, in the financial 
statements of the seller, the difference between the sale price and the book value is posted as an 
increase/decrease in equity. Exclusively in the event of acquisition or transfer of a controlling interest, the equity 
investment is posted at acquisition cost in the acquirer/transfereeõs financial statements for the year. 

 

Amortised cost 

The amortised cost of financial assets or liabilities is the value at which they were measured upon initial 
recognition, net of principal repayments, plus or minus overall amortisation calculated using the effective interest 
method, on the differences between the initial value and that at maturity and net of any permanent impairment. 

The effective interest rate is the rate which equates the present value of a financial asset or liability with the future 
contractual payments or collection cash flows until maturity or a subsequent price recalculation date. To calculate 
the current value, the effective interest rate is applied to estimated future collection or payment flows over the 
entire useful life of the financial assets or liabilities - or for a shorter period if certain conditions are met (for 
example, a change to market rates). 

Following initial recognition, the amortised cost makes it possible to allocate income and costs reducing or 
increasing the instrument over its entire expected life by means of the amortisation process. The determination 
of the amortised cost is different depending on whether the financial assets/liabilities are subject to valuation at a 
fixed or variable rate.  
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For fixed-rate instruments, future cash flows are quantified based on the known interest rate during the term of 
the financing. For floating-rate financial assets/liabilities, whose variability is not known beforehand (because, for 
example, it is tied to an index), cash flows are determined on the basis of the last known rate. At every rate 
review date, the amortisation schedule and the actual rate of return over the entire useful life of the instrument, 
i.e. until maturity, are recalculated. The adjustment is recognised as cost or income in the income statement. 

Amortised cost is assessed for financial assets measured at amortised cost and for those as fair value through 
other comprehensive income as well as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.  

Financial assets and liabilities traded at market conditions are initially recognised at their fair value, which 
normally corresponds to the amount disbursed or paid inclusive - in the case of instruments valued at amortised 
cost - of transaction costs and commissions directly attributable to the assets and liabilities. 

Transaction costs include marginal internal and external costs and income attributable to the issue, acquisition or 
sale of a financial instrument that cannot be charged to the customer. These fees, which must be directly 
attributable to the individual financial assets or liabilities, impact the original effective return and make the 
effective interest rate associated with the transaction different from the contractual interest rate. Indistinguishable 
costs related to several transactions and components related to events that may occur during the life of the 
financial instrument, but which are not certain at the time of the initial definition, are excluded, such as: fees for 
retrocession, for failure to use, and for early repayment. 

Calculation of the amortised cost does not include costs that the Bank must incur regardless of the transaction 
(e.g., administrative, stationery and advertising costs), which, even though they are specifically attributable to the 
transaction, occur in the normal practice of managing loans (e.g., disbursement activities), as well fees for services 
collected following the completion of structured finance activities that would have been collected in any case, 
regardless of the subsequent financing of the transaction (e.g., facility and arrangement fees). 

With particular reference to loans, fees paid to distribution channels (agents, advisors, brokers) and the fees paid 
for consultancy/advisory in organising and/or participating in syndicated loans are considered costs attributable 
to the financial instrument, while revenues considered in the calculation of the amortised cost are those for 
participation in syndicated transactions and brokerage commissions linked to fees recognised from brokerage 
firms. 

With regard to securities not measured at fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs include both 
commissions for contracts with brokers operating on Italian stock markets and commissions paid to 
intermediaries operating on foreign stock and bond markets defined on the basis of commission tables. 

For securities issued, commissions for bond placement paid to third parties, amounts paid to stock exchanges, 
and fees paid to the auditors for activities performed for each individual issue are considered in the calculation of 
amortised cost, while commissions paid to rating agencies, legal expenses and consultancy/audit fees for the 
annual update of the prospectuses, as well as costs for the use of indices and commissions that originate during 
the life of the bond are not considered in the amortised cost calculation. 

Compared to the general approach, the effective interest rate must be calculated differently for those financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, purchased or 
originated, which at the time of their initial recognition are already credit impaired (known as PCI or OCI). 

The criterion for measurement at amortised cost does not apply for hedged financial assets/liabilities for which 
changes in fair value for the hedged risk are charged to the income statement. However, the financial instrument 
is re-measured at amortised cost if the hedge is suspended, the moment from which the previously recognised 
changes in fair value are amortised, by calculating a new effective interest rate that considers the loan value 
adjusted for the fair value of the hedged element, until the expiry of the hedge that was originally envisaged. 
Moreover, as mentioned above in the paragraphs relating to financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised 
cost, the amortised cost measurement does not apply to financial assets/liabilities whose short duration makes 
the economic effect of discounting negligible or for loans without a defined maturity or revocation. 

 

Purchased or originated impaired financial assets (POCI) 

These are instruments whose credit risk is already very high and that, at the time of acquisition, are purchased at 
highly discounted price with respect to their initial disbursement; for this reason, they are considered already 
impaired (credit impaired) at the time of first recognition in the financial statements. These assets are classified, 
according to the business model with which the asset is managed, in item ò30 - Financial assets measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive incomeó or item ò40 - Financial assets measured at amortised costó. 
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In relation to POCIs, there are two different types: 

¶ instruments or portfolios of non-performing loans acquired on the market (Purchased Credit 
Impaired - òPCIó); 

¶ loans disbursed by the Bank to customers characterised by a very high credit risk (Originated Credit 
Impaired - òOCIó). 

Impaired financial assets acquired through a business combination pursuant to IFRS 3 fall within the scope of 
application of IFRS 9 PCI. 

Note that these financial assets are initially recorded in Stage 3, without prejudice to the possibility of 
reclassifying them to performing loans (Stage 2), for which an expected loss will continue to be recorded 
according to an impairment model based on lifetime ECL, as described below. 

With reference to the initial recognition, measurement and derecognition criteria, please refer to the discussion 
corresponding to the asset items into which they can be classified, with the exception of what is specified below 
in relation to procedures for calculating amortised cost and impairment. 

In detail, the amortised cost and consequently the interest income are calculated using an effective interest rate 
adjusted for the credit (known as òcredit-adjusted effective interest rateó or CEIR). For calculating the effective 
interest rate, the aforementioned credit adjustment entails including the expected credit losses over the entire 
residual duration of the asset in the estimate of future cash flows. For the purposes of calculating the CEIR, the 
Bank uses contractual cash flows net of expected losses. 

In addition, the assets in question envisage a particular treatment also for the impairment process, as they are 
always subject to the calculation of an expected loss over the life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL). After 
initial recognition, the profit or loss deriving from any change in expected losses over the life of the loan 
compared to the initial estimate must be recorded in the income statement. Thus, for these assets, expected 
losses cannot be calculated using the one-year time horizon as a reference. 

 

Loan renegotiations 

In some cases, over the life of financial assets and, in particular, of loans, the original contractual conditions are 
subsequently modified as agreed by the parties to the contract. When, during an instrument's life, the contractual 
clauses are changed (both in the case the change is formalised by signing a new contract and when there is an 
amendment to the existing contract), it is necessary to check whether the original asset must continue to be 
recognised in financial statements or if, conversely, the original instrument must be derecognised from financial 
statements and a new financial instrument must be recognised. 

In general, changes to a financial asset result in its derecognition and to the recording of a new asset when these 
changes are òsubstantialó. The determination of the òsubstantialityó of the change is made by considering only 
qualitative elements. In particular, renegotiations are considered substantial when they introduce specific 
objective elements that affect the characteristics and/or cash flows of the financial instrument (e.g., change in the 
denomination currency, introduction of indexing on equities or commodities) in consideration of the significant 
expected impact on the original cash flows, or that are made in relation to customers that are not experiencing 
financial difficulties, with the aim of adjusting the contractõs cost to the current market conditions. In the latter 
case, note that, if the Bank does not allow a renegotiation of contractual conditions, the customer would have 
the opportunity to obtain funding from another intermediary, with resulting loss in the revenue streams 
envisaged in the renegotiated contract. In other words, for a commercial renegotiation, the Bank would not have 
any loss to be recorded in the income statement as a result of the realignment to the best current market 
conditions for its customers. Instead, for renegotiations considered to be substantial, the gross value is 
recalculated by determining the present value of cash flows resulting from the renegotiation, based on the 
original rate of the exposure prior to the renegotiation. The difference between this gross value and the gross 
book value prior to the change is recorded in the income statement under item ò140 - Modification 
gains/(losses)ó (known as òmodification accountingó). In the case of non-substantial renegotiations, the 
modifications granted to counterparties experiencing financial difficulties (concessions of forbearance measures) 
are attributable to the Bank's attempt to maximise the recovery of the original exposure, whose risks and benefits 
continue to be borne by the Bank. Exceptions are made for changes that introduce substantial objective elements 
in the contract that can themselves lead to the derecognition of the financial asset, as previously described. 

  



 

Notes to the financial statements - Part A - Accounting policies 84 

  

 

2019 ANNUAL REPORT 

Fair Value Option  

In its financial risk management policy, relating to financial instruments included in the banking book, the Bank 
has used the fair value option accounting technique alongside fair value hedging and cash flow hedging methods.  

The fair value option was used to represent operational hedges on fixed-rate or structured bonds and certificates 
of deposit issued at fixed rates (accounting mismatch). In that case the Bank stipulates operational micro-hedging 
derivative contracts with MPS Capital Services S.p.A., which in turn manages by assets the Bankõs overall 
exposure to the market.  

The scope of application of the fair value option currently regards primarily fixed-rate securities and structured 
securities subject to hedges on interest rate risk and the risk deriving from embedded derivative components. 

IFRS 9 allows the option of designating a financial instrument under the fair value option to be exercised 
irrevocably only upon initial recognition. The fair value option cannot therefore be used for hedges on funding 
instruments issued prior to the decision that the hedge be undertaken; hedge accounting must be used in these 
cases, and is also used to manage hedges on bond issues that are traded in the secondary market at market values. 

Unlike hedge accounting, whose rules provide that only fair value changes attributable to the hedged risk are 
recognised for the hedged instrument, the fair value option involves the recognition of all fair value changes, 
regardless of the risk factor that is being hedged. 

For the issues in question, the fair value is measured, firstly, by referencing observable prices in markets 
considered active, such as regulated markets, electronic trading circuits (e.g., Bloomberg) or organised or similar 
exchanges. If there are no observable prices on active markets, they are measured based on prices of recent 
transactions for the same instrument in non-active markets in addition to using valuation techniques, based on a 
cash flow discounting model, which must consider all factors considered relevant by market participants in 
determining a hypothetical transaction on an exchange. In particular, for determining creditworthiness, the 
implicit spreads of comparable issuers are used in active markets in addition to the Bankõs credit default swap 
curve with the same level of subordination of the security being measured. The quantification of effects resulting 
from the change in own creditworthiness between the issue date and the measurement date is calculated as the 
difference between the fair value obtained considering all of the loanõs risk factors, including the credit risk, and 
the fair value obtained considering the same factors, excluding the change in own credit risk that occurred during 
the period. 

For further details on methods for calculating fair value, please refer to the exhaustive information provided in 
the relevant paragraph in òPart A.4 - Information on Fair Valueó. 

With reference to the criteria for recognition in financial statements, note that: 

¶ derivatives connected with financial liabilities measured at fair value are classified under òFinancial 
assets measured at fair value through profit and loss: a) financial assets held for tradingó or òFinancial 
liabilities held for tradingó; 

¶ spreads and margins accrued on derivatives up to the measurement date are included, depending on the 
balance, in òinterest incomeó or òinterest expenseó, consistent with the accruals recorded on bonds 
subject to operational hedges; 

¶ gains and losses from realisation and the measurement of loans under the fair value option are recorded 
in the income statement item ò110 - Net profit (loss) from other financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value through profit and lossó, with the exception of the valuation and execution effects related 
to the change in own creditworthiness that are recorded as an offsetting entry to a specific equity 
reserve (item ò110 - Valuation reservesó), unless this accounting treatment creates or amplifies an 
asymmetry in the economic result, as described in greater detail in the discussion to item ò13 - Financial 
liabilities measured at fair valueó; 

¶ results of the measurement of derivatives associated with loans under the fair value option are recorded 
in the income statement item ò80 - Net profit/loss from tradingó. 

From the perspective of prudential supervision, in compliance with prudential regulations in force, distorting 
effects from changes in fair value due to changes in own creditworthiness are eliminated from own funds. 

Lastly, note that gains posted to the income statement under the fair value option and not yet realised are not 
distributable. 
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Contributions to deposit guarantee systems and resolution mechanisms 

Legislative Decrees 180 and 181 of 2015 transposed Directive 2014/59/EU Banking Resolution and Recovery 
Directive (òBRRDó) into Italian law, which requires the formation of resolution funds. These provisions are 
funded, inter alia, by: 

a) annual contributions from banks, in order to reach the target level of fund resources established by the 
regulation;  

b) extraordinary contributions from banks when ordinary contributions are insufficient to support approved 
resolution interventions. 

Both types of contribution are subject to interpretation IFRIC 21 òLeviesó, as the contribution obligations are 
based on legislative provisions. Based on this interpretation, a liability should be recognised when the òobligating 
eventó takes place which triggers the payment obligation. The balancing entry of that liability is represented by 
income statement item ò160 - Administrative expenses - (b) other administrative expensesó, as the conditions are 
not met for the recognition of an intangible asset pursuant to IAS 38 òIntangible assetsó, or for the recognition 
of an asset for a prepayment. 

The same treatment is applied to òex anteó contributions made to the Italian Interbank Deposit Protection Fund 
within the scope of Directive 2014/49/EU òDeposit Guarantee Schemesó (DGS). 

 

Other matters 

Classification criteria for financial assets 

The classification of financial assets in the three categories envisaged by the standard depends on two 
classification criteria, or drivers: the business model with which the financial instruments are managed and the 
contractual characteristics of the cash flows of the financial assets (or SPPI test). 

The financial asset classification derives from the combination of these two drivers, as shown below: 

¶ Financial assets measured at amortised cost: assets that pass the SPPI test and fall under the Held to 
Collect business model (HTC); 

¶ Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): assets that pass 
the SPPI test and fall under the Held to Collect and Sell business model (HTC&S); 

¶ Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL): a residual category, which 
includes financial instruments that cannot be classified in the previous categories based on the results of 
the business model test or the test on the characteristics of contractual cash flows (SPPI test failed). 

 

Business model 

With regard to the business model, IFRS 9 identifies three cases in relation to the methods by which 
cash flows are managed and financial assets are sold: 

- Held to Collect (HTC): a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash 
flows from the financial assets included in the relative portfolios. The inclusion of a financial asset 
portfolio under this business model does not necessarily mean that the instruments cannot be sold, 
though it is necessary to consider the frequency, value, and timing of sales in previous years, reasons for 
sales, and expectations regarding future sales; 

- Held to Collect and Sell (HTC&S): a mixed business model, whose objective is achieved by collecting 
contractual cash flows from the financial assets included in the portfolios and by sales activities, which 
is an integral part of the strategy. Both activities (collection of contractual cash flows and sales) are 
essential for achieving the business modelõs objective. Therefore, sales are more frequent and for greater 
amounts than an HTC business model and are an essential component of the strategies pursued; 

- Other/Trading: a residual category that includes both financial assets held for trading purposes and 
financial assets managed with a business model other than the previous categories (Held to Collect and 
Held to Collect and Sell). In general, this classification applies to a portfolio of financial assets whose 
management and performance are assessed based on fair value. 

The business model reflects the methods by which financial assets are managed to generate cash flows for the 
entityõs benefit and is defined by top management through the appropriate involvement of business structures. It 
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is determined by considering the ways in which financial assets are managed and, as a consequence, the extent to 
which the portfolioõs cash flows derive either from the collection of contractual cash flows, or from the sale of 
financial assets, or from both of these events. 

The assessment is not made using scenarios that, based on the entity's reasonable expectations, are not likely to 
occur, such as the òworst caseó or òstress caseó scenarios. For example, if the entity plans to sell a certain 
portfolio of financial assets only in a òstress caseó scenario, this scenario does not affect the assessment of the 
entity's business model for these assets, if said scenario is not likely to occur based on the entityõs reasonable 
forecasts. 

The business model does not depend on the intentions that management has for an individual financial 
instrument, but refers to the ways in which groups of financial assets are managed for the purpose of achieving a 
specific business objective. 

In summary, the business model: 

- reflects the methods by which financial assets are managed to generate cash flows; 
- is defined by top management through the appropriate involvement of business structures; 
- must be determined by considering the methods by which financial assets are managed. 

When assessing a business model, all relevant factors available at the assessment date are used. These factors 
include the strategy, risks and their management, remuneration policies, reporting, and the amount of sales. In 
analysing the business model, it is crucial that the factors evaluated are consistent amongst themselves and, in 
particular, are consistent with the strategy pursued. Evidence of activity not in line with the strategy must be 
analysed and adequately justified. 

For the Held to Collect portfolio, the Bank has defined eligibility thresholds for sales that do not affect the 
classification (frequent but not significant, individually and in the aggregate, or infrequent though of a significant 
amount) and, at the same time, established the parameters to identify sales consistent with this business model, 
when they are attributable to an increase in credit risk. 

More specifically, as part of an HTC business model, sales are permitted in the event of an increase in credit risk 
(i.e., sales of non-performing loans or securities, or those classified in Stage 2), when carried out near maturity, 
and finally, when they are frequent but not significant in terms of value or infrequent, even if their value is 
significant. In order to determine these aspects, frequency and significance thresholds have been defined: 

- frequency is defined as the percentage ratio between the number of positions sold (ISIN or 
relationships) during the observation period and the total positions in the portfolio present at the 
beginning of the observation period. Sales carried out based on a number lower than a value equal to 
5% of the number of securities held in the portfolio at the start of the year are infrequent (this value is 
equal to zero if the number of securities at the start of the year is under 40); 

- significance is defined as the percentage ratio between the nominal value of sales and the total nominal 
value of instruments in the portfolio present at the beginning of the observation period. The 
significance threshold of individual sales identified by the Bank is 5%. 

In the case of that both the frequency and significance thresholds are met for an individual sale, a further 
assessment is envisaged in terms of aggregate sales volume in order to confirm the consistency of the HTC 
business model. In this case, the significance threshold of the aggregate amount of sales identified by the Bank is 
10%. 

 

SPPI test 

The other criterion to be used in determining whether a financial asset should be classified among the financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI - in addition to the business model analysis described above - 
envisages that the relative cash flows are represented exclusively by the repayment of principal and interest. To 
this end, IFRS 9 regulates that the SPPI (solely payments of principal and interest) test is carried out, with the 
purpose of verifying that the remuneration for a specific financial instrument, whether a debt security or loan, is 
linked exclusively to the payment of interest and repayment of principal. 

A debt instrument that does not meet the SPPI test must always be measured at FVTPL and classified under the 
sub-item òother financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirementsó. 

For purposes of the analysis, IFRS 9 proposes a definition of the terms òprincipaló and òinterestó, as follows:  
- principal is understood as the fair value of the financial asset at its initial recognition;  
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- interest is the consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal 
over a given period of time, for other risks and costs associated with the basic risks of a lending 
transaction, and for the profit margin.  

In basic lending arrangements, the value of interest must depend exclusively on the time value of money and on 
the credit risk associated with the principal over a given period of time. Whenever contractual terms introduce 
other elements, it is no longer possible to consider that asset as solely generating cash flows in terms of principal 
and interest. This could happen, for example, when the cash flows come from non-recourse financial assets. The 
cash flows of these financial assets may involve not only interest payments and principal repayments, since the 
remuneration is linked to specific business activities. In this regard, the owner of the asset must assess, using the 
look-through approach, whether or not its instruments pass the SPPI test. For example, when the entity has non-
recourse financial assets, whose cash flows depend on the performance of an element of the issuerõs equity (e.g., 
net income), the possibility of amortised cost or FVOCI measurement must be excluded.  

Furthermore, when contractual cash flows depend on characteristics such as changes in share or commodity 
prices, the related financial instruments cannot pass the SPPI test, as they introduce exposure to risk or volatility 
that is not correlated with basic lending arrangements.  

IFRS 9 points out that all financial instruments that are subject to òleverage effectó cannot be considered 
generators of principal and interest cash flows, since leverage has the potential to increase the volatility of cash 
flows. This includes swaps, options, forwards, and all derivative contracts. 

IFRS 9 defines two cases in which the time value of money can be considered changed (modified time value of 
money) or when the relationship between the passage of time and the interest rate is considered imperfect. One 
case occurs when the assetõs interest rate is periodically recalculated, but the frequency of this recalculation or the 
frequency of the payment does not correspond to the nature of the interest rate. This can happen, for example, 
when variable interest payments are made on a monthly basis and, at the beginning of each month, the interest 
rate is determined using the 6-month Euribor rate: the monthly interest rate is determined in reference to an 
interest rate calculated every six months, and therefore, under a different time horizon. In these cases, the 
accounting standard introduces the need to make a comparison between cash flows deriving from the financial 
asset being measured and cash flows deriving from a financial asset considered identical in terms of credit risk 
and duration, but for which the monthly interest is calculated based on the monthly Euribor. The other case of 
imperfect correlation between the passage of time and the time value of money occurs when the assetõs interest 
rate is periodically restated based on an average of particularly short or medium/long-term rates. For example, 
when a financial asset provides for the payment of interest every three months, based on the average three-
month Euribor interest rate in the quarter preceding the one to which the interest refers.  

Therefore, in these cases the entity must analyse whether the financial asset generates only cash flows related to 
principal and interest, despite the change in the time value of money. The objective of this analysis is to verify 
how different the non-discounted contractual cash flows would be if there were no changes in the time value of 
money over time (known as the benchmark cash flow test).  

In addition, any contractual clauses that could change the frequency or amount of contractual cash flows must be 
considered in order to assess whether such cash flows meet the requirements to be SPPI compliant (e.g., 
prepayment options, possibility to defer the contractually agreed cash flows, instruments with embedded 
derivatives, subordinated instruments, etc.). 

However, as required by IFRS 9, a single element of contractual cash flows does not affect the classification of 
the financial asset if it has only a minimal effect on the contractual cash flows of the financial asset (in each year 
and cumulatively). Similarly, if an element of cash flows is not realistic or genuine, i.e., if it affects the 
instrumentõs contractual cash flows only at the occurrence of an extremely rare, highly unusual, and very unlikely 
event, it does not affect the classification of the financial asset. 

In the case of instruments subordinated to another instrument (e.g., guaranteed debt securities), the related cash 
flows are linked to the nominal value of the principal or interest of the principal instrument. The instrumentõs 
owner has the power to exercise the right of pre-emption, even in the event of the borrowerõs bankruptcy. These 
instruments are included among those that do not pass the SPPI test.  

With regard to contractually linked instruments, reference is made to instruments with which an entity assigns a 
certain priority to the payment of cash flows. The order of priority depends on the credit risk assigned to each 
category of creditor, called òtrancheó. The characteristics that an investment, belonging to a given tranche, must 
possess in order to be considered a generator of cash flows that are exclusively related to the payment of interest 
and repayment of principal are as follows:  
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- the underlying assets must contain one or more financial assets that generate cash flows consisting 
exclusively of interest payments and principal repayments. Furthermore, the presence of supporting 
financial instruments, such as derivatives, is permitted only if they serve to reduce the volatility of the 
relative cash flows;  

- the exposure to credit risk relating to a given tranche must be equal to or less than the risk exposure 
attributable to the underlying financial instruments.  

For purposes of conducting the SPPI test on transactions in debt securities, the Bank uses the services of an 
info-provider. The test is carried out manually using a proprietary tool based on an internally developed 
methodology (decision trees) only if the securities are not managed by the info-provider.  

A proprietary tool based on a method developed in-house (decision trees) was developed to perform the SPPI 
test for credit approval processes. In particular, given the significantly different characteristics, differentiated 
management is envisaged for products that have a standard contract (typically, the retail loan portfolio) and 
tailor-made loans (typically, the corporate loan portfolio). For standard products, the SPPI test is conducted 
when the standard contract is structured, through the òProduct Approvaló process, and the test result is extended 
to all individual relationships that refer to that product in the catalogue. Instead for tailor-made products, the 
SPPI test is performed for each new credit line/relationship submitted to the decision-making process through 
the use of the proprietary tool. Decision trees - included in the proprietary tool - have been prepared internally 
(both for debt securities and loans) and capture possible features that may not comply with the SPPI test.  

 

Use of estimates and assumptions when preparing financial statements 

The estimates required by accounting standards can have a significant impact on the balance sheet and income 
statement, as well as on disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities reported in the financial statements. 
Production of these estimates involves the use of available information and adoption of subjective assessments. 
By their nature, the estimates and assumptions utilised may vary from one period to another and, therefore, it 
cannot be ruled out that in subsequent periods the actual amounts stated in the accounts may differ, even to a 
significant extent, as a result of changes in subjective assessments made. These estimates and valuations are thus 
difficult and bring about inevitable elements of uncertainty, even in stable macroeconomic conditions. 

The main cases in which subjective valuations are mostly opted for by Management include the: 

a) quantification of impairment losses on loans and, more generally, other financial assets; 
b) assessment of the consistency of the value of equity investments and of other non-financial assets (goodwill, 

intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment, including right of use assets acquired through leasing); 
c) use of valuation models to measure the fair value of financial instruments not listed in active markets; 
d) estimation and assumptions on recoverability of deferred tax assets; 
e) estimation of liabilities arising from defined benefit company pension funds; 
f) quantification of provisions for risks and charges related to legal and tax disputes. 

For some of the cases listed above, the main factors that are subject to estimates by the Bank, and which 
therefore contribute to determining the book value of assets and liabilities in the financial statements, can be 
identified.  

In summary, note that: 

a) for the allocation in the three credit risk stages envisaged in IFRS 9 for loans and debt securities 
classified as òFinancial assets measured at amortised costó and òFinancial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive incomeó, and for the calculation of the expected losses, the main 
estimates concern: 

o determination of the parameters of significant increase in credit risk, based essentially on 
models for measuring the probability of default (PD) at the origination of financial assets and 
at the reporting date; 

o inclusion of forward-looking elements, including macroeconomic, for calculating PD, EAD, 
and LGD; 

o for calculating expected future cash flows from non-performing loans, certain elements are 
taken into account: expected repayment schedule, expected realisable value of any collateral, 
costs expected to be incurred for collection of the credit exposure, and finally, the probability 
of sale for positions that have a disposal plan; 

b) for calculating the value in use of intangible assets with indefinite life (goodwill) with reference to the 
cash generating units (CGUs) that make up the Bank, future cash flows for the forecast period and cash 
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flows used to determine the terminal value generated by the CGUs are estimated separately and are 
appropriately discounted. The cost of capital is included in the estimates;  

c) for calculating the fair value of financial instruments not listed on active markets, if it is necessary to use 
parameters that cannot be inferred from the market, the main estimates concern, on one hand, the 
development of future cash flows (or also profits for equity securities), possibly contingent upon future 
events and, on the other, the level of certain input parameters not listed on active markets; 

d) for quantifying post-employment benefits, the present value of the obligations is estimated, taking into 
account the cash flows, appropriately discounted, resulting from the historical statistical analysis and the 
demographic curve; 

e) for quantifying provisions for risks and charges, the amount of disbursements necessary to satisfy the 
obligations is estimated, where possible, taking into account the effective probability of having to make 
use of resources; 

f) for calculating the items related to deferred taxation, the probability that taxes will effectively be 
incurred in the future (temporary taxable differences) and the degree of reasonable certainty - if any - of 
future taxable profits at the time the taxes can be deducted is estimated (temporary deductible 
differences). 

For points a), b) and f), please refer to the subsequent chapters: òMethods for calculating impairment on IFRS 9 
financial instrumentsó, òMethods for calculating impairment on equity investmentsó, òMethods for calculating 
impairment on other non-financial assetsó and òMethods for recognising deferred tax assets (probability test)ó; as 
regards point c), please refer to the description in paragraph A.4.5 òFair value hierarchyó in the Notes to the 
financial statements. The actual technical and conceptual solutions used by the Bank are analysed in more detail 
in the individual sections of the notes to the balance sheet and income statement, where the distinct contents of 
each item in the financial statements are described. With regard to the cases referred to in points d) and e), please 
refer to Section 10 under liabilities in the Notes to the financial statements òDefined benefit company pension 
fundsó and Part E of the Notes to the financial statements, Section 1.5 òOperational risksó. 

Methods for calculating impairment on IFRS 9 financial instruments 

Pursuant to IFRS 9, at each reporting date, financial assets other than those measured at fair value through profit 
and loss are subject to an impairment test, aimed at estimating the expected credit loss (ECL). In particular, the 
following are included in the scope of impairment testing:  

¶ òFinancial assets measured at amortised costó; 

¶ òFinancial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive incomeó other than equity 
securities; 

¶ commitments to disburse funds and guarantees given that are not measured at fair value through profit 
and loss; and 

¶ trade receivables or assets deriving from contracts that result from transactions falling under the scope of 
IFRS 15. 

According to the ECL calculation model, introduced in IFRS 9, losses must be recorded not only with reference 
to objective evidence of losses in value that are already apparent at the measurement date, but also based on 
expectations of future losses of value that have not yet occurred. This concept represents an innovation with 
respect to the incurred loss concept, on which the previous impairment model was based.  

In particular, the ECL model provides the aforementioned financial assets must be classified in three distinct 
òstagesó, according to their credit quality in absolute terms or relative to that at initial disbursement, to which 
different measurement criteria for expected losses are applied. More specifically: 

¶ stage 1: includes performing exposures that have not undergone a significant change in credit risk with 
respect to the initial recognition. The value adjustments correspond to the expected losses related to the 
verification of default in the 12 months following the reporting date; 

¶ stage 2: includes performing exposures whose creditworthiness has been affected by a significant change 
in credit risk, but for which the losses are not yet observable. Adjustments are calculated considering the 
lifetime loss of the instrument; 

¶ stage 3: includes all non-performing loans, i.e. non-performing exposures that present objective evidence 
of deterioration and which must be adjusted by using the lifetime expected loss concept5. 

                                                           

5 The valuation is statistical for positions with a balance of under EUR 1.0 mln and analytical, carried out by managers, for positions above said threshold. 
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Financial assets considered as impaired since their acquisition or origin (POCI - purchased or originated credit 
impaired) are an exception to the above, whose accounting treatment was discussed in the preceding paragraph 
dedicated to this topic, as are assets measured according to the òsimplified methodó, which is discussed in the 
specific points of the subsequent paragraph. 

For the Bank, the perimeter of exposures classified under stage 3 corresponds to non-performing exposures, 
identified according to the definitions established by supervisory regulations (Bank of Italy Circular no. 272 
òAccounts matrixó) and referred to in Bank of Italy Circular no. 262 òBank financial statements: layout and rules 
for compilationó, as these definitions are deemed consistent with accounting regulations envisaged in IAS/IFRS 
for objective evidence of impairment. Based on these circulars, the perimeter of non-performing exposures 
corresponds to the aggregate ònon-performing exposuresó, defined in EU Regulation 2015/227, and 
implemented through the EBAõs òImplementing Technical Standard (ITS) on Supervisory Reporting 
(forbearance and non-performing exposures)ó (EBA/ITS/2013/03/rev1 24/7/2014).  

In detail, the aforementioned circulars identify the following categories of non-performing assets: 

¶ Bad loans: these represent the aggregate of on- and off-balance sheet exposures to a party in a status of 
insolvency (even if not judicially certified) or in essentially comparable situations, regardless of any loss 
forecasts made by the Bank; 

¶ Unlikely to pay: represent the on- and off-balance sheet exposures for which the borrower does not 
meet the conditions for classification under bad loans and for which it is considered unlikely that the 
borrower will be able to fully satisfy the credit obligations (in terms of principal and/or interest) without 
recourse to actions such as the enforcement of collateral. This assessment is carried out regardless of 
the existence of any overdue and unpaid amounts (or instalments). The classification among unlikely to 
pay is not necessarily linked to the explicit presence of anomalies, such as a missed repayment, but 
rather is linked to the existence of elements that would indicate a situation of risk that the borrower may 
default (e.g., a crisis in the borrowerõs business sector); 

¶ Past due and/or overdrawn exposures: on-balance sheet exposures, other than those classified as bad or 
unlikely to pay, which, at the reporting date, are past due and/or overdrawn for more than 90 days, 
according to the significance threshold envisaged in the aforementioned legislation. For the Bank, non-
performing past due and/or overdrawn exposures are determined in reference to the position of an 
individual borrower. 

In addition, Bank of Italy regulations, in line with EBA standards, introduced the definition of òforborne 
exposuresó. This concerns, in particular, exposures benefiting from tolerance measures, which consist of 
concessions granted to the borrower, in terms of modification and/or refinancing of a pre-existing loan, 
exclusively because of, or to prevent, a state of financial difficulty that could have negative effects on the 
borrowerõs ability to fulfil the contractual commitments originally assumed, and that would not have been 
granted to another borrower with a similar risk profile not in financial difficulty. These concessions must be 
identified at the level of the individual credit line and may relate to exposures of borrowers classified either in the 
performing or the non-performing (impaired) status. For exposures with forbearance measures classified as 
unlikely to pay, the recovery to a position of performing can only take place after at least one year has elapsed 
from the time the concession was granted (known as the òcure periodó) and all the other conditions provided for 
in paragraph 157 of the EBA ITS are satisfied.  

In any case, renegotiated exposures should not be considered forborne when the borrower is not in a situation of 
financial difficulty (renegotiations carried out for commercial reasons). 

 

Impairment of performing financial assets 

For performing financial assets, i.e., those assets not considered to be impaired, it must be determined, at the 
individual relationship level, if there is a significant deterioration of credit risk, by comparing the credit risk 
associated with the financial instrument at the time of measurement and that at the initial moment of 
disbursement or acquisition. This comparison is made using both quantitative and qualitative criteria. The results 
of this assessment, in terms of classification (or, more appropriately, staging) and measurement, are the following: 

- where these indicators are found, the financial asset transfers to stage 2. In this case, the assessment 
requires that impairment is recognised equal to the expected losses over the entire residual life of the 
financial instrument, consistent with the provisions of international accounting standards and even if a 
loss in value has not yet occurred. These adjustments are reviewed at each subsequent reporting date 
both to periodically check that the continuously updated loss estimates are consistent, as well as to take 
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into account - in the event that indicators of a òsignificantly increased credit riskó no longer exist - of 
the change in forecast horizon for calculation of expected loss; 

- where none are found, the financial asset remains in stage 1. In this case, the assessment requires that 
impairment is recognised equal to the expected losses of the financial instrument over the next twelve 
months, consistent with the provisions of international accounting standards and even if a loss in value 
has not yet occurred. These adjustments are reviewed at each subsequent reporting date both to 
periodically check that the continuously updated loss estimates are consistent, as well as to take into 
account - in the event that indicators of a òsignificantly increased credit riskó are identified - of the 
change forecast horizon for calculation of expected loss; 

As regards the measurement of financial assets and, in particular, the identification of a òsignificant increaseó in 
credit risk (a necessary and sufficient condition for classification of the asset being assessed in stage 2), the 
elements that constitute the main determinants to be taken into consideration, according to the standard and its 
operating procedure implemented at the Bank, are the following: 

- relative quantitative criteria, based on statistical observations, considered an expression of significant 
increase in credit risk over time; 

- absolute qualitative criteria, represented by the identification of trigger events or exceeding absolute 
thresholds as part of the credit monitoring process. The category comprises:  

o all exposures affected by forbearance measures and for which these measures are still active, 
regardless of whether the probation period underway is regular; 

o exposures classified in the High Risk and Requalification management portfolio; 
o customers with negative EBITDA.  

- backstop indicators, i.e., credit delinquency factors, whose manifestation suggests that there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk, unless there is evidence to the contrary. For purposes of assumptions, 
the Bank believes that the credit risk of the exposure must be considered significantly increased if there 
is an exposure that is past due/overdrawn for a period longer than 30 days, without prejudice to the 
application of the significance thresholds required by supervisory regulations. 
  

With particular reference to the relative quantitative criterion applicable to credit exposures with customers, the 
Bank has determined as a reference the change between the lifetime forward-looking cumulative probability of 
default (PD), calculated at the beginning of the contractual relationship and the probability of default recorded at 
the measurement date. In developing the model, specific internal thresholds of variation were identified between 
the PD at the beginning of the contractual relationship and the PD recognised at the valuation date, broken 
down by counterparty, initial rating class and vintage. If these thresholds are exceeded, it signifies a significant 
increase in credit risk and the resulting transfer of the individual credit line from stage 1 to stage 2. The 
comparison is based on the homogeneous6 residual durations and on homogeneous PD models, for example, if 
the definition of default changes over time, the original lifetime forward-looking cumulative PD is recalculated to 
take account of said new definition of default. Cumulative PDs subject to comparison are based on the same 
model used for ECL purposes (e.g. definition of PIT (Point in Time) PD, macroeconomic scenarios, expected 
life/contractual life). In order to obtain a unique classification result, use is made of a cumulative PD resulting 
from the weighted average of the cumulative PDs calculated for the individual prospective scenarios using the 
probabilities of the scenarios as weights. The threshold of significance is determined by historically measuring, 
through quantile regression analysis per cluster, that level of ratio, between the lifetime forward-looking 
cumulative PD at the reporting date and that at the origination date, which may be considered predictive of the 
classification as NPE7. The threshold is determined so as to minimise so-called false positives and false negatives 
and maximise true positives and true negatives. 
 
For debt securities that do not have investment-grade ratings, the relative quantitative criterion is based on the 
variation in lifetime forward-looking cumulative PD between the reporting date and the origination date above a 
certain threshold. For corporate issuers, the multi-year PD curve is the corporate one estimated entirely by the 
Bank; for government issues, the multi-year PD curve is the one prepared on the basis of the Moodyõs matrix of 
1-year defaults of government bonds. Cumulative PDs subject to comparison are based on the same model used 
for ECL purposes (e.g. definition of PIT (Point in Time) PD and macroeconomic scenarios). In order to obtain a 
unique classification result, use is made of a cumulative PD resulting from the weighted average of the 
cumulative PDs calculated for the individual prospective scenarios using the probabilities of the scenarios as 

                                                           
6 Therefore, the valuation at 31/12/T of the significant increase in credit risk of a thirty-year mortgage disbursed on 31/12/T-5 is carried out by comparing the 
lifetime forward-looking cumulative PDs over the residual life of 25 years. 
7 The classification as NPE is measured over multi-year time horizons. 
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weights. The exposures are classified into stage 2 if the ratio between the lifetime forward-looking cumulative PD 
at the reporting date and that of the origination date exceeds a given threshold of significance equal, both for 
corporate bonds and government bonds, to that used for corporate exposures in the form of loans. 

 
Debt securities that, at the reporting date, have an investment-grade rating, mainly related to government 
securities, are classified in stage 1 because in this case, and only for this case, the Bank used the òLow Credit Risk 
Exemptionó. This exemption consists of the practical expedient of not conducting the test for significant 
deterioration of credit risk on exposures whose credit risk is considered low. This exemption applies to securities 
that present, at the measurement date, a rating level equal to the investment grade, in full compliance with the 
provisions of accounting standard IFRS 9. In addition, given the presence of several purchase transactions on 
one fungible asset (ISIN), it was necessary to identify a methodology to identify the tranches sold in order to 
determine the residual quantities to which credit quality at initial recognition date can be associated, in order to 
compare it with credit quality at the measurement date. In this context, the òfirst-in-first-outó or òFIFOó 
methodology was deemed most appropriate, as it enables more transparent portfolio management, including 
from the operational perspective (front office), allowing, at the same time, a continuous updating of the 
creditworthiness assessment based on new purchases. 

In general, the transfer criterion between stages is symmetrical. Specifically, an improvement in credit risk which 
involves the elimination of the conditions that led to the significant increase in said credit risk involves the 
reallocation of the financial instrument from stage 2 to stage 1. In this case, the entity recalculates the value 
adjustment on a twelve-month time horizon rather the previously recognised lifetime losses, by booking a write-
back to the income statement. 

Once the assignment of exposures into the various credit risk stages has been defined, the expected losses (ECL) 
are calculated, at the level of individual transaction or security tranche, starting from IRB/management 
modelling, based on the parameters of Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD), and Exposure at 
Default (EAD), to which appropriate adjustments are made, in order to ensure compliance with the specific 
requirements of IFRS 9, given the different requirements and purposes of the accounting rules compared to 
prudential regulations. 

The PD, LGD, and EAD are defined as follows: 

- PD (Probability of Default): likelihood of transferring from a performing status to that of non-
performing over a one-year time horizon. In models consistent with supervisory provisions, the PD 
factor is typically quantified through the rating. In MPS Group, PD values derive from internal rating 
models where available, supplemented by external valuations or average data for segment/portfolio; In 
particular, with regard to specialised lending transactions, the Bank revised the criteria for estimating the 
PD during the first half of 2019, using the rating assigned by the counterparties through slotting criteria 
in place of the AIRB rating; 

- LGD (Loss Given Default): percentage of loss in the event of default. In models consistent with 
supervisory provisions, this factor is quantified using historical data on actual recoveries of loans that 
transferred to non-performing status; 

- EAD (Exposure At Default) or credit equivalent: amount of exposure at the time of default. 

As previously pointed out, in order to comply with the provisions of IFRS 9, specific adjustments must be made 
to the aforementioned factors, including: 

¶ adoption of a Point in Time (PIT) PD against the Through the Cycle (TTC) PD used for Basel 
purposes; 

¶ elimination of certain additional components from LGD, such as indirect costs (non-recurring costs) 
and the component linked to the adverse economic cycle (or òdownturnó); as well as to reflect the most 
current recovery rates (PIT), expectations about future trends (forward-looking) and the inclusion of 
any recovery fees if collection is assigned to a third party; 

¶ use of multi-year PDs and, where necessary, LGDs in order to determine the expected loss for the 
entire residual life of the financial instrument (stages 2 and 3); 

¶ use of the effective interest rate of the individual transaction in the process of discounting expected 
future cash flows, as opposed to that which is set forth in regulatory models, in which individual cash 
flows are discounted using rates determined in accordance with prudential regulations. 

In relation to the multi-year EAD, in line with the IFRS 9 provisions, the Bank refers to the amortised cost plans, 
regardless of the measurement methods (amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income). For 
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commitments to disburse funds and guarantees given (off-balance sheet exposures), EAD is instead taken at 
nominal value weighted by a specific credit conversion factor (CCF). 

IFRS 9 establishes that, at each reporting date, an entity must measure the impairment of an asset based on the 
expected credit loss, based on available, reasonable and consistent information, without incurring excessive costs 
or making disproportionate efforts. One of the most significant changes compared to IAS 39 concerns the use 
not only of historical information, adjusted to incorporate the effects of current conditions, but also of forecasts 
entailing a degree of judgement and accuracy that depends on availability, detail and depth of the data. Therefore, 
the forward-looking approach envisaged by IFRS 9 for purposes of determining the expected loss represents a 
key aspect of the measurement model. 

Given the above, the Bank uses the forward-looking approach to estimate the expected loss, both in the 
analytical and collective measurements. The forward-looking approach is applied to the following statistical 
parameters:  

¶ PD: Probability of Default, used for performing positions;  

¶ LGD/EAD: Loss Given Default (LGD), used for both performing and non-performing positions 
measured statistically; Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) used to estimate the Exposure At Default 
(EAD) of performing positions; 

¶ Cure/Danger rate: used for unlikely to pay other than restructured positions and positions statistically 
valued as lower than a given threshold;  

¶ haircut for real estate collateral, used when applicable for the analytical measurement of bad loans and 
unlikely to pay exposures other than restructured loans.  

Since the expected loss is estimated as a weighted average of a range of possible results, the aforementioned 
parameters are first determined based on historical data and then corrected to take into account at least 3 
economic scenarios that cover a horizon of at least 3 years in the future: Baseline, Worst and Best. 

The forecasts of the macroeconomic indicators (forward-looking), provided by a leading external consultant and 
internally re-formulated by the Research Function, are quantified based on three possible future scenarios, which 
consider the economic variables deemed relevant (Italian GDP, interest rates, unemployment rate, commercial 
and residential property prices, inflation, equity indices), with a future time horizon of three years to which the 
respective probabilities of occurrence are assigned, determined internally by the Bank. In greater detail, alongside 
the òbaselineó scenario deemed most probable, i.e., the macroeconomic forecast scenario which the Bank uses as 
a basis to develop its projections for financial statement and risk data across a short- and medium-term time 
horizon, an alternative òbetteró scenario (decidedly favourable) and òworseó scenario (unfavourable) was 
developed.  

The sensitivity of the statistical parameters to macroeconomic variables is estimated. In particular, the 
associations between the statistical parameter and macroeconomic variables are shown below: 

¶ PD: Italian GDP, unemployment rate, interest rates, inflation, commercial and residential property 
prices and stock indices; 

¶ LGD/EAD: Italian GDP and commercial and residential property prices; 

¶ cure/danger rates: Italian GDP; 

¶ haircut: commercial and residential property prices. 

For those statistical parameters (e.g., PD) for which there is no linear relationship with the macroeconomic 
variable, the parameter measurement is not calculated based on the weighted average of the macroeconomic 
variables and using the respective probabilities as weights, but based on certain distinct measures of the 
parameter. In these cases, the weighted average occurs at the expected loss level. 

Finally, for the estimate of expected losses over the life of the instrument, the reference period is represented by 
the contractual expiry date; for instruments that do not expire, the estimate of expected losses uses a time 
horizon estimated through a behavioural model for on-demand products and set to one year from the reporting 
date, in other cases. 

 

Impairment of non-performing financial assets 

As described earlier in the document, for non-performing financial assets, which are assigned a probability of 
default of 100%, the impairment amount for each loan is equal to the difference between the loan book value at 
the time of measurement (amortised cost) and the present value of estimated future cash flows, calculated by 
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applying the original effective interest rate (or a proxy if not available). Cash flows are estimated based on 
expected recovery expectations over the lifetime of the loan, taking into account the presumed realisable value 
net of any collateral and any costs connected with obtaining the guarantee through sale. In this regard, in the 
event that the Bank uses a third party to collect non-performing loans, the fees paid to the outsourcer for 
activities strictly related to collection are considered for the purpose of estimating impairment losses. These costs 
are considered for both non-performing and performing exposures, if for the latter it is probable that in the 
event of a transfer to bad loans, the collection activities will be assigned to third parties. 

Commissions paid to outsourcers are considered in LGD estimates used for statistical measurements of all 
administrative stages, in collection plans for bad loans, and in analytical measurements of unlikely to pay 
positions. 

For purposes of estimating future cash flows and the relative collection times, the loans in question that have a 
significant unit amount are subject to an analytical assessment process. For some similar categories of non-
performing loans whose unit amount is insignificant, the measurement processes allow that loss forecasts are 
based on lump-sum/statistical calculation methods, to be analytically assigned to each individual position. The 
perimeter of exposures subject to a lump-sum/statistical measurement process, that is, based on statistical 
analyses of operational LGD, differentiated according to the segment and length of time in the risk state 
(òvintageó), is represented by: 

¶ bad and unlikely to pay loans with exposures less than or equal to an established significance threshold 
of EUR 1 mln; 

¶ total non-performing past due exposures regardless of the exposureõs significance threshold. In 
particular, these are loans that show continuous overdrawn situations or delayed payments, 
automatically identified by the Bank's IT procedures, according to the aforementioned rules of the 
supervisory authority. 

Note that the EUR 1 mln threshold indicated above for bad loans and unlikely to pay was defined by the Bank in 
the first half of 2019 (the previous threshold was EUR 0.5 mln). The threshold was raised in order to decrease 
the margins of discretion inherent in the measurement process and, therefore, to guarantee greater timeliness and 
homogeneity in measurement for positions of lower amounts and a resulting greater focus of managers on more 
significant exposures. 

The impairment loss is calculated including the measurement of future cash flows that it is assumed the borrower 
is able to produce and which will also be used to service the financial debt. This estimate should be made based 
on two alternative approaches: 

¶ going concern approach: the borrowerõs operating cash flows (or that of effective guarantor) continue 
to be produced, and are used to repay the financial debts contracted, based on the scheduled repayment 
plans. The going concern assumption does not exclude the possible realisation of collateral, but only to 
the extent that this can occur without jeopardising the borrowerõs ability to generate future cash flows. 
The going concern approach also applies to cases in which the recoverability of the exposure is based 
on the possible sale of assets by the borrower or extraordinary transactions; 

¶ gone concern approach: applicable in cases in which it is believed that the borrowerõs cash flows will be 
significantly reduced. This is a scenario whose application may possibly entail positions that are 
expected to be classified in bad loans. In this context, assuming that interventions by shareholders 
and/or extraordinary restructuring operations of the debt in a turnaround situation are not reasonable, 
loan collection is essentially based on the value of the collateral that supports the loan and, in the 
alternative, on the realisation value of the assets, taking into account liabilities and any rights of pre-
emption. 
 

With reference to exposures classified as bad and unlikely to pay loans, the quantification of expected losses 
includes forward-looking elements related to specific sale scenarios, where the Bankõs NPL Strategy envisages 
that the aforementioned exposures may also be recovered through their sale on the market. 

Consequently, the estimate of expected losses of exposures that can be sold varies depending on the forecast of 
the recoverable flows through internal management (work-out), as well as the forecast of recoverable flows 
through their possible sale on the market (òmulti-scenarioó approach). This approach is consistent with the 
provisions of the ITG paper of 11 December 2015 òInclusion of cash flows expected from the sale on default of 
a loan in the measurement of expected credit lossesó. In particular, the exposures in question are associated with 
two different estimates of cash flows that the Bank expects to collect: 
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¶ the first determined by using as reference the scenario of recovery from the borrower based on internal 
activity, according to the ordinary measurement guidelines followed by the Bank and previously 
described (hold scenario); 

¶ the second calculated by using as reference the recovery through sale of the loan to third parties (sale 
scenario). 

Each of the two scenarios is assigned a probability of occurrence that is higher for clusters that are more likely to 
undergo a sale procedure, based on historical data and/or forecasts (e.g., formalised NPL reduction plans). The 
expected loss of the exposures in question is therefore equal to the weighted average for the probabilities 
assigned to the two scenarios of the estimates of recoverable cash flows in each (hold and sale).  

Hence, the sale values and sale probability are the two key elements for defining the expected loss. For this 
purpose, MPS Group has performed an analysis of the historical data on sales (past events) on these portfolios 
and certain considerations on future sale strategies.  

The Restructuring Plan approved in 2017 by the European Commission envisages that in the four-year period 
2018-2021, MPS Group will undertake a major reduction in exposures classified as default, to be realised through 
sale transactions. This programme represents a qualifying constraint of the Restructuring Plan, for which the 
Group, in order to accelerate the process of reducing non-performing loans as specifically requested by the 
supervisory authority, has declared that it is willing to incur higher costs compared to the ordinary collection 
scenario, which will continue in parallel for portfolios of non-performing loans that are not subject to the sale 
programme, as well as those of performing loans (stages 1 and 2), with the primary objective of optimising the 
economic/financial profiles of work-out activities.  

Based on these considerations, the accounting model for impairment for the Bankõs non-performing loans only 
envisages a different application for: 

¶ loans subject to ordinary collection process: application of existing accounting policies, reviews to take 
into account changes introduced by IFRS 9, including, in particular, the forward-looking element; 

¶ loans included in the sale programme: measured with the ordinary policy plus any add-ons to adjust the 
portfolios to the presumable realisable value.  

To determine the add-on, the Bank considers the following elements: 

 

¶ selection of the portfolios that are presumed to be sold: the perimeter includes positions with a certain 
attractiveness on the market, indicated by the fact that other banks have already carried out sales and 
expressions of interest that have already been received, as well as additional positions resulting from 
assessments of economic benefit performed by the Bankõs competent bodies (e.g., presence of extended 
bad loans or high danger rate);  

¶ probability of sale: the probability is guided by the target sales level included in the NPL Strategy; 
 

¶ sale prices: derived from mass transactions on similar portfolios and single names made by the Bank or 
from transactions carried out on the market in recent years.  

 

Impairment losses calculated with the simplified method  

Expected losses are quantified according to the provisions of the simplified method established under IFRS 9 
based on the Lifetime ECL and therefore do not require verification of the significant increase in credit risk 
compared to the credit risk at the date of the assetõs initial recognition. The Bank adopts this method for trade 
receivables and assets deriving from contracts that do not have significant financial components, i.e. only cases 
for which the adoption of the simplified approach is mandatory pursuant to IFRS 9. In this regard, the Bank has 
chosen not to use this method for those cases in which the application is optional. 

 

Methods for calculating impairment on equity investments  

At the end of every reporting period, the equity investments in associates or jointly controlled entities are 
evaluated to check whether there is objective evidence of impairment that might render the book value of these 
assets not entirely recoverable. 
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The process of recognising impairment involves verifying the presence of indicators of possible reductions in 
value and calculating any write-down. There are numerous impairment indicators, differentiated by type, listed or 
unlisted, of equity investments. 

For listed equity investments: 

- a fair value, at the reporting date, that is at least 30% lower than the book value, or 
- a prolonged period, of more than 36 months, in which the fair value is lower than the book value, or 
- a book value for the equity investment in consolidated financial statements that exceeds the 

corresponding portion of equity (existence of implicit goodwill), or 
- a stock market capitalisation that is lower than the book value of the equity investment or the 
companyõs net equity. 

For listed and unlisted equity investments: 

- negative trends in dividends distributed by the investee; 
- significant downward revision of profit forecasts; 
- significant gap between actual results and the budget objectives or that envisaged in a long-term plan 

and communicated to the market; 
- contracting or negative economic performance; 
- negative performance for the investeeõs business sector; 
- changes in the technological, economic, and regulatory environment that could result in difficulties for 

the business in identifying alternative business growth strategies; 
- downward revision in the rating, expressed by a specialised rating agency assigned to the financial 
instrument, with respect to that on the instrumentõs acquisition date; 

- negative cash flows; 
- announcement/launch of debt restructuring plans; 
- launching/requesting bankruptcy proceedings; 
- any reporting exceptions or references regarding the applicability of the going concern assumption 

formulated by the independent auditors. 

The presence of impairment indicators entails the recognition of a write-down in the amount for which the 
recoverable value is lower than the book value. The recoverable value is the greater of the fair value less costs to 
sell and the value in use. 

For the methods used to determine the fair value, refer to the information in chapter A.4 - Information on fair 
value in the Notes to the financial statements. 

The value in use is the present value of cash flows arising from the asset; it reflects the estimate of the cash flows 
expected from the asset, the estimate of possible changes in the amount and/or timing of cash flows, the time 
value of money, the price for remunerating the assetõs risk and other factors that can influence the pricing, by 
market dealers, of the cash flows expected from the asset. 

The value in use is determined by discounting future cash flows. 

 

Methods for calculating impairment on other non-financial assets 

Goodwill posted following acquisitions is subjected to an impairment test at least once a year and whenever there 
are signs of impairment. For testing purposes, once goodwill has been allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs), 
the book value is compared with the recoverable value of said units. The discounted cash flow (DCF) method is 
normally used to determine the recoverable value of the CGUs. To this end, senior management has estimated 
CGU cash flows; these are dependent on several factors, including cost and revenue growth rates, which in turn 
depend on changes in the real economy, customer behaviour, competition and other factors.  

The property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with definite useful life are tested for impairment in the 
presence of any indication that the book value of the asset may not be recovered. The recoverable value is 
computed with reference to (i) the fair value of the property, plant and equipment or intangible asset, net of the 
charges for disposal or (ii) the value in use if determinable and if it is above fair value. 

In particular, the recoverable value of properties is determined on the basis of an appraisal or index-based 
valuations. The loss in value is reported only if the fair value less costs to sell, or the value-in-use, is less than the 
book value. 



97 Notes to the financial statements - Part A - Accounting policies 

   

 

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

Similar to owned properties, the values of right of use assets acquired through leasing are subject to impairment 
testing, if the conditions are met. The test is performed when the following events or situations arise: full/partial 
abandonment, under-use or non-use of the leased asset. In addition, it is necessary to refer to indicators from 
internal sources such as signs of obsolescence and/or physical deterioration of the asset, restructuring plans and 
closures of branches and external sources such as, for example, the increase in interest rates or other rates of 
return on the market for investments that may cause a significant decrease in the recoverable value of the asset.  

 

Methods for recognising deferred tax assets (probability test) 

The Bank verifies the possibility of recognising tax assets based on a probability test, as described below. 

Forecast plans approved by the Board of Directors are used, in line with the Groupõs forecasts. Since the forecast 
plans cover a limited time horizon, the results subsequent to the plan horizon are assumed to be equivalent to 
those of the last year of the plan and increased by a compound growth factor ògó, commonly used for 
determining the value of companies. 

In any case, the framework of the probability test is consistent with that of the impairment test used for the 
measurement of goodwill, except for the specifics related to regulatory requirements (IAS 12 and IAS 36, 
respectively) such as, for example, the possibility in the probability test to take into account business restructuring 
and reorganisation actions included in the forecast plans, which is not considered in the goodwill impairment 
test. 

In order to reflect the uncertainty associated with realising future taxable income suitable to allow the recovery of 
deferred tax assets, a discount factor is used based on data observable on the market and consistent with the risk 
metrics of the investment in Banca MPS shares. 

The application of this discount factor represents a method for reflecting the uncertainty connected with realising 
future income; in any case, it is believed that the horizon considered for purposes of the taxable income test, 
whose realisation is considered probable, cannot exceed 20 years. 

In developing the probability test, where applicable, the national tax consolidation agreements in which the Bank 
participates are taken into account. 

 

ÅÅÅÅÅ 

 

Transparency obligations within the framework of public disbursements 

Note that, at the reporting date of these financial statements, the contributions received by the Bank for 2019 in 
relation to training activities totalling EUR 3.1 mln are present in the National Register for State Aid and publicly 
available in the òIndividual Aidó Transparency section. For more details, please refer to the following link: 

https://www.rna.gov.it/sites/PortaleRNA/it_IT/trasparenza 
  

https://www.rna.gov.it/sites/PortaleRNA/it_IT/trasparenza
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A.3 Information on portfolio transfers 

The tables on transfers between portfolios of financial assets were not created, as the Bank did not carry out any 

reclassification transactions following the change in the business model.  
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A.4 - Information on fair value 

Qualitative Information 

A.4.1.a Fair value level 2: measurement techniques and inputs used 
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A.4.1.b Fair value level 3: measurement techniques and inputs used 
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A.4.2 Measurement processes and sensitivity 

A description of Level 3 instruments that show significant sensitivity to changes in unobservable inputs is 
provided below.  

The column òOther financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirementsó, in the òDebt 
securitiesó category valued according to the Credit Model method, essentially include two convertible bonds and 
participative financial instruments issued by Sorgenia S.p.A. and Nuova Sorgenia Holding S.p.A., respectively, as 
part of the restructuring of the original debt position for a total amount of EUR 199.4 mln. The securities are 
measured according to the credit models and the value obtained is in line with the assumptions for asset recovery 
underlying the binding purchase offer for Sorgenia S.p.A. proposed by F2i funds and Asterion Capital Partners in 
December 2019. The sensitivity of these positions, defined as the loss deriving from the impact on non-
observable parameters such as the probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD) following a (negative) 
change in the administrative status of the counterparties, is quantified at approximately EUR 8.4 mln.  

The valuation of the junior tranche of the NPL securitisation, (nominal value of EUR 22 mln), was carried out 
using the Discounted Cash Flow method, discounting future cash flows based on expected collections.  It is 
estimated that a fluctuation in these values may have an impact on the value of the note of EUR -0.4 mln.  

The column òOther financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirementsó also includes loans 
(totalling EUR 268.0 mln) that are required to be measured at fair value, as the contractual cash flows do not 
exclusively provide for the repayment of principal and payment of interest on the principal to be repaid (i.e., do 
not pass the òSPPI testó), either by virtue of clauses originally envisaged in the contract or following subsequent 
amendments. The fair value is calculated using the Discounted Cash Flow approach, applied in a different 
manner depending on whether they are performing or non-performing loans: in the former case, the contractual 
cash flows are discounted with a risk-adjusted curve that incorporates risks that affect the cost of credit, cost of 
funding, and capital; in the latter case, the recoverable value is discounted by applying a spread to include risks 
inherent in a possible sale on the market. The unobservable parameters are Probability of Default (PD), Loss 
Given Default (LGD) and the different spreads for performing and non-performing assets. The change in these 
parameters, of 10%, 5%, 1%, and 1%, respectively, would have an impact on fair value of approximately EUR -
10 mln. 

This category includes EUR 5.6 mln for the investment in the Voluntary Scheme, represented by the shares 
resulting from the conversion of the subordinated security issued by Carige following the bank's capital 
strengthening transaction. 

The majority of the units of UCITS refers to units of funds received in exchange for the sale of non-performing 
loans (Back2bonis, IDEA CCR I and II) equal EUR 36.3 mln. The Bank has estimated the value of these units as 
the sum of the present values of the expected fund distributions (DCF).  The inputs used are as follows: 

 

¶ cash flows related to net distributions to investors envisaged in the business plans/management reports; 

¶ discount rate of 10.4%, estimated as the implicit rate in the collections realised in the disposal 
transactions for unlikely to pay positions that the Bank has implemented over the past two years. 

A change in the discount rate (+/- 1%) and forecasted distributions (+/- 10%) would result in the following 
range of values: EUR 31.4 - 41.5 mln. 

Lastly, the category of units of UCITS contains the total of contributions, made from June 2016, to the Italia 
Recovery Fund (formerly Atlante due) for a book value of EUR 10 mln. This position takes into account the 
fundõs residual assets after the write-off of the two main equity investments in the fundõs assets (BPVI and 
Veneto Banca).  

The òFinancial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive incomeó accounting portfolio includes 
the shareholding in Bank of Italy (EUR 187.5 mln), measured using the Discounted Cash Flow method. The 
shareholding was measured with the methodology identified by the Committee of Experts in the document 
òRevaluation of shareholdings in the Bank of Italyó. This document not only details the valuation techniques 
adopted to reach the end result, but identified the following entity-specific parameters: the market beta, equity 
risk premium, and the cash flow base. The valuation of that equity investment is also confirmed in market 
transactions carried out in recent years by certain banks. The range of possible values that can be assigned to 
these parameters cause the following changes in value: roughly EUR -34 mln for every 100 bps increase in the 
equity risk premium, roughly EUR -54 mln for every 10 pp increase in the market beta, and roughly EUR -32 
mln for every 10 pp increase in the cash flow base.  
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This category also includes equity securities representing all investments designated at fair value that could not be 
measured according to a market-based model. These positions amount to approximately EUR 42 mln. 

 

A.4.3 Fair value hierarchy 

IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions.  

The fair value of financial instruments listed in active markets is determined by using quoted market prices; 
quoted market prices for similar instruments or internal valuation models are used for other financial 
instruments.  

Financial instruments are classified in three different levels according to the reliability of the inputs used during 
measurement. 

The methods for classifying financial instruments in the three-level fair value hierarchy are shown below. 

 

Level 1 

This level shall include financial instruments measured using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical instruments.  

IFRS 13 defines an active market as a market in which transactions take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide information on an ongoing basis. A financial instrument is quoted in a financial market when: 

¶ the quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing 
service, authorised body or regulatory agency; 

¶ the quoted prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an armõs length basis.  

If the quoted prices meet these criteria, they represent the best estimation of fair value and must be used to 
measure the financial instrument. 

From the definition of active market set out in IFRS 13, it is inferred that the active market concept is particular 
to the individual financial instrument being measured and not to the market on which it is listed; the fact that a 
financial instrument is quoted in a regulated market is therefore not in itself sufficient for the aforementioned 
instrument to be defined as listed in an active market. Conversely, a financial instrument that is not traded in a 
regulated market may present sufficient frequency and volumes for it to be classified in level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 

 

Levels 2 and 3 

Financial instruments not listed in an active market must be classified in level 2 or 3. 

Classification in level 2 rather than level 3 is determined on the basis of market observability of the significant 
inputs used to determine fair value. A financial instrument must be fully classified in a single level; if inputs 
belonging to different levels are used for the purpose of measuring an instrument, the aforementioned 
instrument is classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

An instrument is classified in level 2 if all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable on the market. An 
input is observable if it reflects the same assumptions used by market participants, based on independent market 
data. 

Level 2 inputs are as follows: 

a) quoted prices on active markets for similar assets or liabilities; 
b) quoted prices for the instrument in question or for similar instruments on non-active markets, i.e. markets 

where: 
­  there are few transactions;  
­  the prices are not current or they vary substantially over time and between the different market 

makers;  
­  little information is made public; 
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c) observable market inputs other than quoted prices (e.g. interest rates or yield curves observable in different 
buckets, volatility, credit curves, etc.); 

d) inputs that derive primarily from observable market data, the reporting of which is confirmed by parameters 
such as correlation. 

A financial instrument is classified in level 3 if the measurement techniques adopted use non-observable market 
inputs and their contribution to estimating fair value is deemed significant. 

All financial instruments not listed in active markets are classified in level 3 where: 

¶ despite having observable data available, significant adjustments based on non-observable data are required; 

¶ the estimate is based on internal assumptions on future cash flows and risk adjustment of the discount 
curve. 

It should also be noted that regardless of whether measurement techniques adopted use non-observable market 
inputs, the Bank deemed it appropriate and conservative to include in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy any 
instruments not listed in active markets which are complex by their financial structure or for which there is no 
clear measurement method recognised as standard in the market and adjustable based on observable prices of 
comparable structures. 

This applies, for example, to assets in the structured credit category not listed in an active market. Although, in 
some cases, this category could avail itself of appropriate measurement models that make use of observable 
market inputs (e.g. credit default swap curves) or quotations by primary counterparties, the lack of a liquid market 
on correlations in the wake of the financial crisis made it necessary to use subjective estimates. Given the 
complexity of these structures, the Bank decided to classify these instruments in level 3, in the absence of an 
active market, regardless of the observability of input parameters significant for their mark-to-model 
measurement. 

The processes used to measure level 3 instruments are based on a shared analysis of the types of instruments and 
underlying risk parameters by the Bank's Business functions and Risk Management. The analysis is completed 
with the formulation of a pricing model and/or a model for determining non-observable market inputs, which is 
subject to final validation by Risk Management. At different time intervals depending on the type of instruments 
(though commonly on a monthly basis) on the back of directly observable market inputs, the Bank's business 
functions proceed with determining the non-observable market inputs and measuring instruments of level 3. The 
Risk Management function, based on a shared methodological approach, proceeds with the final validation of fair 
value. In support of this activity and with a view to ensuring an adequate level of auditability, assessment data 
sheets have been introduced and are updated on a six-monthly basis for individual instruments classified in level 
3, which contain a brief description of the instrument, pricing methods adopted and details about inputs used for 
fair value measurement.  

As for fair value transfers between different levels, it is noted that the Bank has set some rules to determine 

whether a financial instrument is level 1 or 3; level 2 is determined, from the logical point of view, on a residual 

basis. When an instrument no longer meets the conditions for classification in level 1 or 3, a new level is 

determined.  

 

A.4.4 Other information 

With reference to par. 93 let. (i) of IFRS 13, note that the Bank does not hold non-financial assets measured at 
fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis. 

With reference to par. 96 of IFRS 13, the Bank does not apply the portfolio exception provided for in par. 48 of 
IFRS 13. 
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Qualitative Information 

A.4.5 Fair value hierarchy 

A.4.5.1 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value level. 

 

The financial instruments measured at fair value and classified in level 3 of the hierarchy consist of instruments not listed in 
active markets, valued using the mark-to-model approach, for which input data include, inter alia, non-observable market data 
significant for measurement purposes or observable market data that requires significant adjustment based on non-observable 
data, or that requires internal assumptions and estimations of future cash flows. 

Additional information on level 3 financial instruments can be found in the comments under the tables for the individual 
balance sheet items concerned. 

The fair value of some financial assets, particularly the bonds for approx. EUR 2 mln, worsened during the year from level 1 
to level 2. This was essentially due to worsening of the liquidity conditions of the securities (measured in terms of bid-ask 
spread of the listed price), leading to the level transfer, in accordance with the Groupõs policy on the valuation of financial 
instruments.  

As for OTC derivatives, in compliance with IFRS 13, the Bank calculates adjustments to values, obtained through valuation 
models using risk-free interest rates, to take account of the creditworthiness of the individual counterparty. This risk measure, 
known as Credit Value Adjustment (CVA), is estimated for all OTC derivative positions with non-collateralised institutional 
and retail counterparties. The methodology is based on the calculation of expected operational loss linked to counterparty 
rating and estimated on a positionõs duration. The exposure includes future credit variations represented by add-ons. Market-
consistent probability measurements are employed in the calculation of CVAs in order to gauge market expectations resulting 
from CDS prices without, however, losing the historical information available within the Bank.  

The impact of the CVA as at 31 December 2019 amounted to EUR -12.6 mln. 

The Bank calculates the value adjustment of OTC derivatives in a mirror image fashion and on the same perimeter to take 
into account its creditworthiness, Debit Value Adjustment (DVA). As at 31 December 2019, the DVA amounts to a total of 
EUR 4.4 mln. 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 1, Financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit and loss of which: 
37              781,167     562,676   1,343,880   99,879      1,920,757      531,428     2,552,064   

 a) Financiale asset held for trading 37              680,113     -          680,150     99,879      700,689         -           800,568      

 b) Financial assets designated at fair 

value 
-             -           -          -           -           -               -           -            

 c) other financial assets measured at 

fair value mandatory 
-             101,054     562,676   663,730     -           1,220,068      531,428     1,751,496   

 2. Financial assets measured at fair value 

through other  comprehensive income 
5,795,379    539,819     229,100   6,564,298   9,781,797  517,194         234,169     10,533,160  

3. Hedging derivative -             71,392       -          71,392       -           257,676         -           257,676      

Total assets 5,795,416   1,392,378  791,776   7,979,570 9,881,676 2,695,626     765,597    13,342,899 

 1. Financial liabilities held for trading -             583,507     -          583,507     -           623,032         -           623,032      

 2. Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value 
-             372,837     -          372,837     -           370,200         -           370,200      

3. Hedging derivative -             1,315,905   -          1,315,905   -           907,617         -           907,617      

Total liabilities -            2,272,248 -         2,272,248 -          1,900,849     -          1,900,849  

31 12 2018
 Asset and liabilities measured at fair 

value 

31 12 2019
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A.4.5.2 Annual changes of financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)  

 

The most significant amounts reported in the column òOther financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory 
requirementsó corresponding to the line item are shown below: 

¶ ò2.1 Purchasesó, equal to EUR 1.8 mln, includes the purchase of loans from the former subsidiary BMP Belgio S.A. 
for EUR 1.3 mln; 

¶  ò2.2.1 Profits charged to the income statement - of which gainsó of EUR 170 mln, of which EUR 155 mln for the 
revaluation of both convertible bonds issued by Sorgenia Group, equity instruments issued by Nuova Sorgenia 
Holding S.p.A.8 and Tirreno Power S.p.A., and finally EUR 14 mln for the revaluation of loans sold during the 
year; 

¶ ò2.3 Transfers from other levelsó amounting to EUR 36.3 mln refers to units of UCITS with underlying NPE loans 
or deriving from restructuring transactions of the original credit positions; 

¶ ò2.4 Other increasesó equal to EUR 67.3 mln includes approximately EUR 36 mln in positions that during the year 
were reclassified from the loan portfolio at amortised cost to the portfolio of other assets measured at fair value as 
per mandatory requirements due to substantial credit changes not consistent with the SPPI test, as well as new 
disbursements. Also includes the purchase of units of the Back2bonis fund obtained in exchange for the sale of 
non-performing loans as part of the Cuveè transaction for EUR 16.1 mln and 

                                                           
8 The securities of Sorgenia Group and Nuova Sorgenia Holding S.p.A. are measured according to the credit models and the 
value obtained is in line with the assumptions for asset recovery underlying the binding purchase offer for Sorgenia S.p.A. 
proposed by F2i funds and Asterion Capital Partners in December 2019. 

31 12 2019  

 Total 

 of which:

 a) financial 

assets held for 

trading 

 of whichi: c)

 financial assets 

measuerd at fair 

value 

mandatory 

  1.  Opening balance 531,427             -                      531,427            234,169               

  2.  Increases 275,838             -                      275,838            1,660                   

    2.1  Purchase 1,882                 -                       18,047              -                          

    2.2  Profit posted to: 170,316              -                       170,316             296                      

    2.2.1  Profit and Loss 170,316              -                       170,316             -                          

           - of which capital gains 169,903             -                       169,903            -                         

    2.2.2  Equity -                       X -                      296                      

    2.3  Transfers from other levels 36,310               -                       36,310              -                          

    2.4 Other increases 67,330               -                       51,165              1,364                   

  3. Decreases 244,588             -                      244,588            6,729                  

    3.1 Sales 33,678               -                       33,678              5,249                   

    3.2  Redemptions 31,325               -                       31,325              -                          

    3.3  Losses posted to: 107,718              -                       107,718             1,480                   

    3.3.1  Profit and Loss 107,718              -                       107,718             -                          

           - of which capital losses 107,137             -                       107,137            -                         

    3.3.2  Equity -                       X -                      1,480                   

   3.4  Transfers to other levels -                       -                       -                      -                          

    3.5  Other decreases 71,867               -                       71,867              -                          

  4. Closing balance 562,677             -                      562,677            229,100               

  Financial assets measured at fair value through 

profit and loss   Financial assets 

measured at fair 

value through 

other  

comprehensive 

income 
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¶ ò3.1 Salesó of EUR 33.7 mln refers to the sale during 2019 of loans classified as unlikely to pay;  

¶ ò3.2 Repaymentsó of EUR 31.3 mln refers to collections on credit positions for roughly EUR 22 mln; 

¶ ò3.3.1 Losses charged to the income statement - of which lossesó of EUR 107.1 mln refers to write-downs during 
the year on non-performing loans (EUR 76.9 mln) and write-downs on debt securities (EUR 33 mln, of which 
EUR 8.4 mln attributable to the junior notes for the Siena NPL securitisation and EUR 7.3 mln for the investment 
in the Voluntary Scheme in relation to Banca Carige), as well as units of UCITS (EUR 13.6 mln); 

¶ ò3.5 Other decreasesó equal to EUR 71.9 mln refers for EUR 70 mln to the equity instruments of Perimetro 
Gestione Proprietà Immobiliari S.p.A. that were extinguished following the merger by incorporation in BMPS 
which took place in 2019. 

 

A.4.5.3 Annual changes of financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)  

This table was not completed as the Bank has did not have any liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis during the year. 

 

A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis: breakdown by fair value 
level 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

With reference to assets and liabilities not measured at fair value, note that, in the context of financial assets and liabilities 
measured at amortised cost, all loans to customers, other than debt securities, are considered level 3, since the fair value was 
determined based on unobservable parameters, mainly attributable to estimates of expected losses calculated using indicators 
not observable on the market. 

Loans to banks, other than debt securities and non-performing loans, and deposits from banks/customers are considered 
level 2. In particular, for liabilities at amortised cost other than securities issued, the book value was used as an expression of 
fair value, as permitted by IFRS 7. 

For all the aforementioned portfolios, the rules followed for classification in hierarchy levels, as well as the techniques and 
parameters used in estimating fair value, shown in financial statements for disclosure purposes only, require significant 
discretionary elements; therefore, it is possible that a different estimate of these parameters or the use of alternative 
measurement techniques could lead to significantly different fair values, also depending on the different purposes for 
calculating them. 

Assets that are not measured at fair value include property, plant and equipment held for investment purposes. The fair value 
used for disclosure purposes is classified as level 3 in the hierarchy, as it is determined based on appraisals or index valuations. 

As at 31 December 2019, the items measured in the financial statements at fair value on a non-recurring basis refer to the 
assets held for sale, in accordance with IFRS 5, primarily attributable to loans classified as òFinancial assets measured at 
amortised costó that will be sold. 

For these assets held for sale, note that the fair value levels indicate only the assets measured at fair value or at fair value less 
disposal costs. For assets measured at cost, please refer to the specific information provided in Section 11 òNon-current 
assets held for sale/discontinued operations and associated liabilitiesó in Part B of these notes. 

Book value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
 Total Fair 

value 
Book value

 Total Fair 

value 

107,036,499  6,888,721    34,104,395  71,649,302  112,642,418   101,603,299  104,078,845  

314,583        -             -            339,217      339,217        219,660        249,730        

75,233         -             -            917           917              71,683         228              

Total 107,426,315 6,888,721   34,104,395 71,989,436 112,982,552  101,894,642 104,328,803 

111,361,586  11,948,548  99,620,851  -            111,569,399   109,733,725  109,401,762  

-              -             -            -            -               -              -              

Total 111,361,586  11,948,548  99,620,851 -           111,569,399  109,733,725 109,401,762  

31 12 2019  31 12 2018*

 1.Loans to banks 

 2. Property, plant and equipment held 

for investment 

 Financial asset/liabilities not 

measured  at fair value or measured  

at fair value on a non -recurring basis 

 3. Non-current assets and groups of 

assets held for sale 

 1. Deposits from customers 

 2. Liabilities associated to disposal 

groups held for sale 
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A.5 Information on òday one profit/lossó 

The Bank did not generate day one profit/loss from financial instruments pursuant to paragraph 28 of IFRS 7 
and other related IAS/IFRS paragraphs. 
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ASSETS 

 

Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents - Item 10 

1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown 

 

The line òDemand deposits with central banksó does not include the compulsory reserve, which is shown in asset item 40 
òFinancial assets measured at amortised costó, under loans to banks. 

  

 Total          Total            

31 12 2019  31 12 2018  

a) Cash 829,508                     897,757                      

b) Demand deposits with central banks 627                           36,586                       

Total 830,135                    934,343                     
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Section 2 - Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss - Item 20 

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown 

 

Criteria adopted for classification of financial instruments in the three levels of the òfair value hierarchyó are reported in 
Section A.4, òFair value disclosureó of Part A, òAccounting policiesó of the notes to the financial statements, to which 
reference should be made.  

During 2019, government securities were sold for a total of EUR 99.8 mln, shown in line 1.2 òBalance-sheet assets - Other 
debt securitiesó in the Level 1 column.  

As a result of the provisions set out in IFRS 9 with regard to the derecognition of financial assets, line 1.2 òBalance-sheet 
assets - Other debt securitiesó also includes debt securities pledged in repos and securities lending transactions carried out in 
respect of own securities posted to the trading book.  

At the reporting date, the aggregate does not include senior, mezzanine and junior exposures assumed by the Bank with 
reference to own and third party securitisation transactions.  

Derivatives connected with fair value option instruments are also classified as derivative instruments: these cover the risks of 
funding designated at fair value arising from possible interest rate fluctuations and from any embedded options in fixed-rate 
and structured bonds issued by the Bank (natural hedging). The positive fair value of these derivatives is shown in the table in 
line òB.1-1.2 - Fair value optionó. 

By convention, such derivatives are classified in the trading book. In terms of their representation in the income statement, 
they comply with rules similar to the rules applicable to hedging derivatives: positive and negative spreads or margins settled 
or accrued until the reporting date are recognised as interest income and expense, while valuation profits and losses are posted 
under item 80 of the income statement, òNet profit (loss) from tradingó, contrary to funding instruments included in the fair 
value option, for which profit, loss, capital losses and capital gains fall under item ò110 a) Net profit (loss) from other 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss a) financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 
valueó of the income statement. 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

A. Balance-sheet assets

1. Debt securities -                   8                   -                   8                   99,818           105               -                   99,923           

1.1 Structured securities -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

 1.2 Other debt securities -                   8                   -                   8                   99,818           105               -                   99,923           

2. Equity instruments 36                 -                   -                   36                 61                 -                   -                   61                 

3. Units of UCITS 1                   -                   -                   1                   1                   -                   -                   1                   

4. Loans -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

 4.1 Repurchase agreements -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

4.2 Others -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total (A) 37                 8                   -                   45                 99,880 105 0 99,985

B. Derivatives -                   -                   -                   -                   0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

1. Financial derivatives: -                   678,905          -                   678,905          0 693,387 -                   693,387

 1.1 held for trading -                   578,640          -                   578,640          0 603,942 -                   603,942

 1.2 fair value option -                   100,265          -                   100,265          -                   89,445 -                   89,445

 1.3 Others -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

2. Credit derivatives: -                   1,200             -                   1,200             -                   7,196             -                   7,196             

 2.1 held for trading -                   1,200             -                   1,200             -                   7,196             -                   7,196             

 2.2 fair value option -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

 2.3 Others -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total (B) -                   680,105          -                   680,105          -                  700,583         -                  700,583         

Total (A+B) 37                680,113         -                  680,150         99,880 700,688 -               800,568

Total 31 12 2019 Total 31 12 2018
 Voci/Valori 
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by borrower/issuer/counterparty 

 

The breakdown by borrower/issuer was carried out in accordance with criteria of classification by economic activity group 
and sector laid down by the Bank of Italy. 

 

2.3 Financial assets measured at fair value: breakdown 

2.4 Financial assets measured at fair value: breakdown by borrower/issuer 

Tables 2.3 and 2.4 were not completed since the Bank has no financial assets measured at fair value to report for 
either the current or previous year. 

  

 Total  Total 

31 12 2019 31 12 2018

A. Balance sheet assets

1. Debt securities 8                              99,923                      

 a)  Central banks -                              -                              

b) Public entities -                              99,818                      

c) Banks -                              -                              

d) Other financial companies 8                              105                          

of which: insurance companies

e) Non-financial companies

2. Equity instruments 36                            61                            

a) Banks -                              -                              

b) Other financial companies 1                              4                              

 of which: insurance companies -                              -                              

c) Non-financial companies 35                            57                            

 d) Other issuers: -                              -                              

3. Units of UCITS 1                              1                              

4. Loans -                              -                              

Total (A) 45                           99,985                     

B. Derivatives

a) Central couterparties -                              -                              

b) Others 680,105                     700,583                     

Total (B) 680,105                    700,583                    

Total (A+B) 680,150                    800,568                    

Items/Amounts
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2.5 Other financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirements: breakdown 

 

The decrease of approximately EUR 1 bn posted in line 1.2 òOther debt securitiesó under level 2 is due to the full early 
repayment by Casaforte of asset-backed securities in classes A, B and Z. 

Line ò1.1 Structured securitiesó as at 31 December 2019 refers to convertible bonds resulting from the restructuring of 
Sorgenia Group. 

Debt securities measured at fair value as per mandatory requirements also include EUR 53.2 mln of exposures referring to the 
mezzanine (EUR 35.5 mln) and junior (EUR 17.7 mln) tranches of the securitisation of BMPS Groupõs bad loan portfolio. 

Line ò2. Equity securitiesó includes contributions to the IDPF Voluntary Scheme as at 31 December 2019, of which EUR 5.6 
mln relating to the capitalisation intervention for Banca Carige and EUR 0.8 mln to the intervention for CR Cesena. The 
decrease of approx. EUR 70 mln compared to last year is due to the extinction of equity instruments of Perimetro Gestione 
Proprietà Immobiliari S.p.A. as a result of its merger into the Bank. 

Line ò3. Units of UCITSó contains in level 3 the units of UCITS assumed in exchange for the sale of NPE loans for EUR 
36.3 mln and the units in the Atlante Fund for EUR 9.9 mln.  

Line ò4. Loansó consists of financial assets that must be valued at fair value as a result of their failure to pass the SPPI test. 

At the reporting date, there are no equity securities arising from the recovery of impaired financial assets. 

 

 

 

 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

1. Debt securities -                   35,506           240,069          275,575          -                   1,118,588       107,007          1,225,595       

1.1  Stuctured secutities -                   -                   125,432          125,432          -                   33,249           95,650           128,899          

1.2  Other debt securities -                   35,506           114,637          150,143          -                   1,085,339       11,357           1,096,696       

2. Equity instruments -                   -                   7,730             7,730             -                   -                   74,033           74,033           

3. Units of UCITD -                   65,548           46,899           112,447          -                   101,479          13,123           114,602          

4. Loans -                   -                   267,978          267,978          -                   -                   337,265          337,265          

4.1 Repurchase agreements -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

4.2 Others -                   -                   267,978          267,978          -                   -                   337,265          337,265          

Total -                  101,054         562,676         663,730         -                  1,220,067      531,428         1,751,495       

Total 31 12 2019 Total 31 12 2018
Items
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2.6 Other financial assets measured at fair value as per mandatory requirements: breakdown by 
borrower/issuer 

 

 

The main cumulative losses relating to equity securities of clearly poor credit quality are: 

Ĭ CISFI S.p.A. (EUR 10.9 mln); 
Ĭ RCR S.p.A. (EUR 9.5 mln); 
Ĭ Compagnia Investimento e Sviluppo (EUR 3.8 mln) 
Ĭ Marinella S.p.A. (EUR 5.5 mln); 
Ĭ Targetti Poulsen S.p.A. (EUR 3.7 mln). 

During the course of the year, the Bank did not carry out further write-downs equity instruments of clearly poor credit 
quality. 

Provided below is the breakdown by main categories of UCITS.  

 

  

1. Equity instruments 7,730                                 74,033                            

 of which: banks 5,628                                 -                                    

of which: other financial companies 1,106                                 1,559                             

of which: non-financial companies 996                                   72,474                            

2. Debt secuties 275,575                              1,225,596                        

a) Central Banks -                                        -                                    

b) Public Entities -                                        -                                    

c) Banks 319                                    13,425                            

d) Other financial companies 127,452                              1,144,934                        

of which: insurance companies -                                       -                                    

e) Non-financial companies 147,804                              67,237                            

3. Units of UCITS 112,447                              114,602                          

 4. Loans 267,978                              337,265                          

a) Central Banks -                                        -                                    

b) Public Entities -                                        -                                    

c) Banks -                                        -                                    

d) Other financial companies 13,295                                18,687                            

of which: insurance companies -                                       -                                    

e) Non-financial companies 221,742                              280,331                          

f) Families 32,941                                38,247                            

Total 663,730                             1,751,496                       

 Total    

 31 12 2018 
Voci/Valori

 Total    

 31 12 2019 

 Total  Total 

31 12 2019 31 12 2018

Hedge Funds 398                                       1,030                           

Private Equity 75,133                                   74,944                          

Real estate 596                                       3,655                           

Credit recovery funds 36,320                                   34,973                          

To ta l 112,447                                 114,602                        

Categories/Amounts
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Section 3 - Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income - Item 30 

3.1 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: breakdown 

 

As a result of the provisions set out in IFRS 9 for the derecognition of financial assets, line 1.2 also includes debt securities 
committed in repos (liabilities) and securities lending transactions carried out for own securities posted to financial assets 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Line ò1.2 Other debt securitiesó, amounting to about EUR 6.3 bn, was down by EUR 4.0 bn mainly due to the disposal of 
certain Italian government bond positions.  

Line 2. Equity securitiesó (Level 3 column) includes EUR 187.5 mln for the investment in the capital of Bank of Italy. 

It should be noted that EUR 2,729.7 mln are subject to fair value macro-hedging of the interest rate risk. 

At the reporting date, the aggregate does not include the senior, mezzanine and junior exposures with reference to own and 
third party securitisation transactions or equity securities arising from the recovery of impaired financial assets. 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

1. Debt securities 5,794,384  526,018     -               6,320,402    9,781,600       502,700   -               10,284,300  

1.1 Structured securities -              -               -               -                -                   -             -               -                

1.2 Other debt securities 5,794,384  526,018     -               6,320,402    9,781,600       502,700   -               10,284,300  

2. Equity instruments 995          13,801       229,100     243,896      197               14,494     234,169     248,860      

4. Loans -              -               -               -                -                   -             -               -                

Total 5,795,379 539,819     229,100     6,564,298  9,781,797      517,194   234,169    10,533,160  

Total 31 12 2019 Total 31 12 2018
Items/Amounts
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3.2 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: breakdown by 
borrower/issuer 

 

The main cumulative losses relating to equity securities of clearly poor credit quality are: 

Ĭ Restart S.r.L. (EUR 1 mln recognised entirely during the previous year); 
Ĭ Gabetti Group (EUR 2.7 mln recognised during previous years); 
Ĭ Arezzo Fiere (EUR 1.4 mln, of which EUR 1.3 mln during the year). 

  

Total Total

31 12 2019 31 12 2018

1. Debt securities 6,320,402                  10,284,300                 

 a) Central banks -                              -                              

b) Public entities 5,902,010                  9,925,530                  

c) Banks 288,973                     197,170                     

d) Other financial companies 96,582                      66,888                      

of which: Insurance companies -                              -                              

e) Non-financial companies 32,837                      94,712                      

2. Equity instruments 243,896                     248,860                     

 a) Banks 201,217                     204,056                     

b) Other issuers: 42,679                      44,804                      

 - other financial companies 28,883                      27,824                      

of which: Insurance companies -                              -                              

 - non-financial companies 13,795                      16,979                      

- others -                              -                              

4. Loans -                              -                              

Total 6,564,298                 10,533,160                

Items/Amounts
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3.3 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: gross value and overall 
value adjustments 

 

* Value to be presented for disclosure purposes 

 

The line òDebt securitiesó of the level 3 column contains a single position whose gross value, at the reporting date, was EUR 
9.5 mln, downgraded to default during the previous year. The gross value is indicated as the sum of the fair value as at the 
reporting date and the value adjustment as at the same date; in particular, the latter is equal to the expected credit loss 
recognised as an offsetting entry to item 130 b) of the income statement òNet impairment (losses)/reversals for credit risk of: 
b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive incomeó. 

 

  

of which: 

low credit 

risk 

instruments

Debt securities 6,301,560       6,092,510    23,538           9,514          5,542         743           7,925     -                      

Loans -                   -                -                   -                 -                -               -           -                      

Totale 31 12 2019 6,301,560      6,092,510   23,538          9,514          5,542        743           7,925    -                     

Totale 31 12 2018 10,284,550     10,147,414  7,246            6,851          10,087       130           4,130    -                     

 of which: purchased or 

originated credit impaired 

financial assets 

X X -                   -                X -               -           -                     

Gross exposure Value adjustments

 Partial 

write-off (*) 

1 stage

 2 stage  3 stage  1 stage  2 stage  3 stage 
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Section 4 - Financial assets measured at amortised cost - Item 40  

4.1 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: breakdown of loans to banks 

 

At the reporting date, the item includes non-performing loans for an amount of EUR 0.2 mln (EUR 1.8 mln as at 31 
December 2018). 

'Banks' also includes international entities of a banking nature subjected to zero weighting in accordance with prudential 
supervisory regulations on the standardised approach to counterparty and credit risk. 

The portfolio of òLoans to banksó includes loans and deposits, in addition to the unrestricted part of the compulsory legal 
reserve with the Bank of Italy which, at year end, amounted to EUR 9,262.1 mln (EUR 6,507.6 mln as at 31 December 2018). 
In accordance with regulations on average maintenance levels, the end-of-period balance of the compulsory reserve may be 
subject to substantial changes in relation to the Bankõs contingent cash flow requirements. 

Sub-item òB.1.3 Other loans - Otheró, totalling EUR 1,984.6 mln, includes security deposits of approximately EUR 1,589.6 
mln. 

It should be noted that EUR 747.1 mln are subject to specific fair value -hedging of the interest rate risk. 

At the reporting date, the aggregate does not include senior, mezzanine and junior exposures assumed by the Bank with 
reference to own and third party securitisation transactions. 

 

 Stage 1

and

Stage 2 

 Stage 3 

 of which: impaired 

or originated 

impaired financial 

assets 

 Total  L1  L2  L3  Total 

A. Loans to central banks 9,282,052   -          -                     9,282,052     -                 9,282,052   -           9,282,052   

  1. Time deposits 20,001        -          -                      20,001           X X X -                

  2. Compulsory reserve 9,262,051    -          -                      9,262,051       X X X -                

  3. Reverse repurchase agreements -                -          -                      -                   X X X -                

  4. Others -                -          -                      -                   X X X -                

B. Loans to bank 22,864,122  236      -                     22,864,358    21,994          22,695,266   237       22,717,497  

1. Loans 21,614,105   236      -                      21,614,341     -                  21,613,774   237       21,614,011   

1.1 Current accounts and demand 

deposits
1,505,913    157      -                      1,506,070       X X X -                

1.2 Time deposits 13,204,273   -          -                      13,204,273     X X X -                

1.3 Other loans 6,903,919    79        -                      6,903,998       X X X -                

- Reverse repurchase agreements 4,919,339    -          -                      4,919,339       X X X -                

- Finance leases -                -          -                      -                   X X X -                

- Others 1,984,580    79        -                      1,984,659       X X X -                

2. Debt securities 1,250,017    -          -                      1,250,017       21,994          1,081,492    -           1,103,486    

2.1 Sructured securities -                -          -                      -                   -                  -                -           -                

2.2 Other debt securities 1,250,017    -          -                      1,250,017       21,994          1,081,492    -           1,103,486    

Total 32,146,174  236      -                     32,146,410    21,994         31,977,318  237      31,999,549  

Type of transaction/Amount

Book value

Total  31 12 2019

Fair value
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 Stage 1

and

Stage 2 

 Stage 3 

 of which: impaired 

or originated 

impaired financial 

assets 

 Total  L1  L2  L3  Total 

A. Loans to central banks 6,527,635   -         -                     6,527,635     -                 6,527,635   -          6,527,635   

  1. Time deposits 20,001        -          -                      20,001           X X X -                

  2. Compulsory reserve 6,507,634    -          -                      6,507,634       X X X -               

  3. Reverse repurchase agreements -                -          -                      -                   X X X -                

  4. Others -                -          -                      -                   X X X -               

B. Loans to bank 22,307,340  1,833    -                      22,309,173     22,696         21,919,584   1,833     21,944,113  

1. Loans 21,074,620   1,833    -                      21,076,453     -                  21,072,030   1,833     21,073,863   

1.1 Current accounts and demand 

deposits
1,965,402    120      -                      1,965,522       X X X -                

1.2 Time deposits 11,903,974   -          -                      11,903,974     X X X -               

1.3 Other loans 7,205,244    1,713    -                      7,206,957       X X X -                

- Reverse repurchase agreements 5,757,576    -          -                      5,757,576       X X X -               

- Finance leases -                -          -                      -                   X X X -                

- Others 1,447,668    1,713    -                      1,449,381       X X X -               

2. Debt securities 1,232,720    -          -                      1,232,720       22,696          847,554       -           870,250       

2.1 Sructured securities -                -          -                      -                   -                  -                -           -               

2.2 Other debt securities 1,232,720    -          -                      1,232,720       22,696          847,554       -           870,250       

Total 28,834,975 1,833   -                     28,836,808    22,696         28,447,219  1,833    28,471,748  

Fair value

Type of transaction/Amount

Book value

Totale 31 12 2018



119 Notes to the Financial Statements - Part B - Information on the Balance Sheet 

   

 

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

4.2 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: breakdown of loans to customers 

 

òLoans to customersó also includes operating receivables for EUR 16.1 mln, other than those connected with the payment 
for the supply of non-financial goods and services, posted to "Other assets" in item 150 of the Assets, subject to the 
provisions pursuant to IFRS 9, paragraph 5.5.15 a) i). 

The item also includes loans to Monte Paschi Fiduciaria for EUR 0.3 mln, for which, pursuant to IFRS 15.116, the certainty 
of the revenue may be considered as consolidated only following actual collection by the subsidiary from its customers.  

The column impaired acquired or originated almost entirely comprises the granting of new loans to already non-performing 
counterparties. There were no business combinations carried out during the year for which impaired loans were acquired. 

Line ò2.2 Other debt securitiesó, amounting to about EUR 8.8 bn, was up by EUR 2.0 bn as compared to 2018, mainly due to 
the purchase of Italian government securities during 2019. The aggregate also includes securities amounting to EUR 1.8 bn 
for senior notes related the securitisation transaction on the MPS Groupõs bad loan portfolio, subscribed by the Bank in the 
first half 2018. 

It should be noted that EUR 1,926.6 mln are subject to specific fair value -hedging of the interest rate risk. 

The line also includes bonds not listed in active markets issued mainly by regional public bodies, e.g. municipal bonds (it.: 
buoni ordinari comunali, BOC). 

òLoans to customersó include loans disbursed with funds made available by the government or by other public entities, with 
the Bank adopting partial or total risk. These funds are managed under the agreements signed by the Bank with Cassa 
Depositi e Prestiti (hereinafter CDP), in direct cooperation with ABI, and with regional financial institutions. In particular, the 
Group participated in the agreements set up by ABI and CDP: 

¶ to support the business sector. These activities aim to encourage the disbursement of loans, depending on the case, 
to small and medium-sized companies, essentially to ensure financial coverage of costs for investments and/or 
linked to requirements to increase working capital and purchase or lease operating assets. Loans to SMEs must 
have a term of over 12 months and the relative contractual conditions, which are not subject to CDP funding, are 
the subject of independent negotiation between the interested parties. Loans to the final beneficiaries must be 
assigned as collateral to CDP; 

¶ to support consumers. In this case, CDP provides funding aimed at encouraging access to secured mortgage loans 
by natural persons, on residential properties designated as the principal residence on a priority basis and to 
refurbishment and energy efficiency works. The terms and conditions of loans disbursed by the Bank to private 
parties, which must have a term of between 10 and 30 years, are not subject to CDP funding and are the subject of 
independent negotiation between the parties, provided that use of the funding leads to an improvement in the 
financial conditions offered to beneficiaries with respect to those normally applied by the Bank. Loans to the final 
beneficiaries must be assigned as collateral to CDP. Specifically, for 2019 the Bank did not use the funding 
provided by the ABI-CDP Plafond Casa Agreement, which is still operational; 

 Stage 1

and

Stage 2 

 Stage 3 

 of which: 

impaired or 

originated 

impaired financial 

assets 

 Total  L1  L2  L3  Total 

Loans 61,548,130 4,560,171   41,050            66,108,301      -               -             71,649,066 71,649,066  

1.1. Current accounts 4,624,616    630,083      2,115              5,254,699         X X X X

1.2. Reverse repurchase agreements -                -               -                    -                     X X X X

1.3.   Mortgage 43,677,987  3,230,278   12,636            46,908,265       X X X X

1.4.   Credit cards, personal loans

     and fifth-of-salary backed loans
639,882      23,553       -                    663,435           X X X X

1.5. Finance lease -                -               -                    -                     X X X X

1.6. Factoring -                -               -                    -                     X X X X

1.7. Other transactiones 12,605,645  676,257      26,299            13,281,902       X X X X

- of which operating receivable 16,125       16,125            -                -              -                -                

Debt securities 8,781,789   -              -                    8,781,789        6,866,727   2,127,077 -               8,993,804   

1.1. Structured securities -                -               -                    -                     -                -              -                -                

1.2. Other debt securities 8,781,789    -               -                    8,781,789         6,866,727    2,127,077  -                8,993,804    

Total 70,329,919 4,560,171   41,050            74,890,090      6,866,727   2,127,077 71,649,066 80,642,870 

Type of transaction/Amount

31 12 2019  

Book value Fair value
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¶ in favour of the territory for natural disasters. With said initiatives, the funds made available by the CDP are 
allocated to encourage subsidised loans to those impacted by the earthquakes of 2012 and 2016, and following the 
series of natural disasters (floods, snowfalls, sea storms, etc.) of 2013. The operational scheme envisages matching 
transactions between CDP/Bank and Bank/Beneficiaries, with expected terms of 15/20/25 years. As exclusive 
means of reimbursement of the loans disbursed, the tax credit specifically assigned to the beneficiary by the 
legislation is accepted as payment, with discharging effect for the beneficiary, for the principal and interest of each 
instalment of the loan up to the final expiry date. The Bank uses said tax credits with the methods established by 
the Italian Revenue Agency, through a netting mechanism. The Bank/Final Beneficiary loans are backed by 
unconditional and irrevocable first-demand guarantee by the Italian government, fully reimbursing principal and 
interest. For the loans disbursed, no discretion by the Bank with respect to the beneficiary is envisaged, for reasons 
linked to creditworthiness or determination of the rate to apply. 

Conversely, with regard to management of resources made available by specific Regional Laws, the Bank's operations refer to 
specific agreements stipulated with the regional financial institutions or to alternative instruments, such as the so-called 
òRotation Fundsó, also established through regional laws. These loans are generally disbursed with part of the funding made 
available with public funds and part with the Bankõs own resources (co-financing). 

The procedure to manage the aforementioned resources is described in more detail below. 

¶ An agreement is in place with Veneto Sviluppo, which defines the characteristics for the granting of loans using the 
funds (prerequisites of companies, objectives, amounts, etc.), including the methods and amount of subsidies, and 
the maximum percentage that can be financed, in addition to the portion of funding borne by the entity. The Bank 
integrates the remainder with its own funds. The agreement requires the loan to be structured with two distinct 
amortisation plans and that the risk of insolvency be fully borne by the Bank, even for the part disbursed with 
public funds. 

¶ The Bank participates in initiatives of the Friuli Venezia Giulia Region aimed at facilitating access to loans by local 
companies, establishing the so-called òRotation fundsó, including the FRIE (Fondo di Rotazione per le Iniziative 
Economiche - Rotation Funds for Economic Initiatives), based on Regional Law 2/2012, and regional funds 
pursuant to Regional Law 80/82. Availability of these funds is designated for the granting of loans at special 
conditions, established by the Region and differentiated based on sector. Use of the available funds varies according 
to the initiative and sector financed: it is generally equal to 50% of the total investment amount. It is possible to 
supplement the portion not covered by public funds with own funds, up to the total cost sustained by the 
company. In the case of co-financing, for transactions under Regional Law 80/82, the insolvency risk is fully borne 
by the Bank; for transactions under Regional Law 2/2012, the Bankõs credit risk is limited to 20%. Moreover, for 
both subsidised loans (FRIE and Law 80/82), as total compensation for management of the loans and of the credit 
risk, the Bank receives remuneration commensurate with a pre-established percentage, which differs based on the 
amount of the loan. The disbursement of loans with funds under Regional Law 80/82 must be formalised with a 
single agreement and two distinct amortisation plans, while for the FRIE, formalisation takes place with only one 
single amortisation plan. 

¶ Other agreements stipulated with Finlombarda envisage the disbursement of Bank-Entity co-financing loans in 
percentages that depend on the various initiatives, for which the credit risk continues to be borne by the individual 
lenders:  

o òAl Viaó, aimed at sustaining new investments by Lombardyõs SMEs; it envisages the disbursement of a 
loan with the parties providing equivalent amounts, at a rate defined in the agreement for the Bankõs 
portion and at a fixed rate for Finlombardaõs portion. 

o òLinea Innovazioneó, aimed at sustaining investments for product or process innovation, through the 
granting, to companies operating in Lombardy, of Bank-Finlombarda co-financing, in conjunction with a 
contribution to interest; the disbursement of a loan with a part by the Bank and an equal part by the 
Entity, at a rate defined in the agreement for the Bankõs portion and at a fixed rate for Finlombardaõs 
portion is envisaged in this case as well. 

o òCredito Adessoó, aimed at sustaining financial aid in favour of micro/small and medium-sized 
enterprises in the manufacturing, services and commerce sectors, to finance working capital requirements 
connected to the commercial expansion of companies operating in Lombardy. The initiative envisages 
the disbursement of medium-term loans, in the form of co-financing by BMPS and Finlombarda, to 
cover working capital requirements connected to commercial expansion: the portion of public funds 
made available by BEI through Finlombarda, is 40%, with the remaining 60% disbursed with the Bankõs 
funds. 

¶ The Bank has taken on the Framework Agreement function defined between ABI and Finpiemonte to manage the 
measures to facilitate the local economy. The facilitation measures also include co-financing between the Bank and 
Finpiemonte for specific initiatives. In general, initiatives may envisage subsidised loans with Finpiemonte funding, 
which in some cases reaches 80% (even at zero rate) and for the remainder with Bank funding at the interest rate 
defined by the agreement with the Entity. Credit risk for co-financing continues to be borne by the individual 
financing party for its portion. 
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 Stage 1

and

Stage 2 

 Stage 3 

 of which: 

impaired or 

originated 

impaired 

financial assets 

 Total  L1  L2  L3  Total 

Loans 60,304,239 5,666,632  45,201           65,970,871      -               -             68,945,130 68,945,130  

1.1. Current accounts 4,957,714    991,218      3,251             5,948,932         X X X X

1.2. Reverse repurchase agreements -                -               -                    -                     X X X X

1.3.   Mortgage 42,738,210  3,696,496   17,263            46,434,706       X X X X

1.4.   Credit cards, personal loans

     and fifth-of-salary backed loans
738,004      35,958       -                    773,962           X X X X

1.5. Finance lease -                -               -                    -                     X X X X

1.6. Factoring -                -               -                    -                     X X X X

1.7. Other transactiones 11,870,311  942,960      24,687            12,813,271       X X X X

- of which operating receivable 13,521       -               -                    13,521            -                -              -                -                

Debt securities 6,795,621   -              -                   6,795,621        4,128,553   2,491,800 41,614        6,661,967   

1.1. Structured securities -               -              -                   -                    -               -             -               -               

1.2. Other debt securities 6,795,621    -               -                    6,795,621         4,128,553    2,491,800  41,614        6,661,967    

Total 67,099,860 5,666,632  45,201           72,766,492      4,128,553   2,491,800 68,986,744 75,607,097 

Type of transaction/Amount

31 12 2018  

Book value Fair value
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4.3 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: breakdown by borrower/issuer of loans to customers 

 

 

  

 Stage 1

and

Stage 2 

 Stage 3 

 of which: impaired or 

originated impaired 

financial assets 

Total

1.   Debt securities 8,781,789             -                     -                     8,781,789             

a) Public entities 6,700,964              -                      -                      6,700,964              

b) Other financial companies 2,003,328              -                      -                      2,003,328              

of which: insurance companies 62,437                 -                      -                      62,437                 

c) Non-financial companies 77,497                  -                      -                      77,497                  

2. Loans to 61,548,130           4,560,171             41,050                 66,108,301           

a) Public Entities 1,780,725              123,317                -                      1,904,042              

b) Other financial companies 3,686,142              39,403                  1,751                   3,725,545              

of which: insurance companies 135                     1                         -                      136                     

c) Non-financial companies 23,382,350            2,615,852              31,381                 25,998,202            

d) Families 32,698,913            1,781,599              7,918                   34,480,512            

Total 70,329,919           4,560,171             41,050                 74,890,090           

 Type of transaction/Amount 

Totale 31 12 2019

 Stage 1

and

Stage 2 

 Stage 3 

 of which: impaired or 

originated impaired 

financial assets 

 Total 

1.   Debt securities 6,795,621             -                     -                     6,795,621             

a) Public entities 4,318,562              -                      -                      4,318,562              

b) Other financial companies 2,407,004              -                      -                      2,407,004              

of which: insurance companies 75,824                 -                      -                      75,824                 

c) Non-financial companies 70,055                  -                      -                      70,055                  

2. Loans to 60,304,239           5,666,632            45,201                 65,970,871           

a) Public Entities 1,980,579              118,782                -                      2,099,361              

b) Other financial companies 2,955,611              94,389                  1,765                   3,050,000              

of which: insurance companies 55                       3                         -                      58                       

c) Non-financial companies 23,547,675            3,562,447              35,796                 27,110,122            

d) Families 31,820,374            1,891,014              7,640                   33,711,388            

Total 67,099,860           5,666,632            45,201                 72,766,492           

 Type of transaction/Amount 

Totale 31 12 2018
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4.4 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: gross value and overall value adjustments 

 

* Value to be presented for disclosure purposes 

 

 

For financial assets included in the òStage 3ó column, the gross value corresponds to the book value gross of the relative 

overall value adjustments, which are equal to the difference between the expected recovery value and the gross book value. 

  

of which: low 

credit risk 

instruments

Debt securities 10,039,175    9,377,535      -                -                 7,369        -            -               -                

Loans 83,681,783    -                  9,135,134    8,548,374     53,361      319,269  3,987,967   128,015      

Totale 31 12 2019 93,720,957   9,377,535    9,135,134   8,548,374    60,730     319,269  3,987,967 128,015      

Totale 31 12 2018 86,504,604   7,343,493    9,925,439  11,634,746   66,267     428,943 5,966,280 139,960     

 of which: purchased or 

originated credit impaired 

financial assets 

X X 12,325       51,399         X 422        22,252      -               

Gross exposure Value adjustments

 Partial 

write-off 

(*) 

Stage 1

 Stage 2  Stage 3   Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 
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Section 5 - Hedging derivatives - Item 50 

5.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of contract and underlying asset  

 

Legend 

NV = Notional or Nominal Value 

 
The table displays the positive book value (fair value) of hedging derivatives for hedges carried out through hedge accounting.  
 
Information on the underlying strategies and objectives of hedge transactions can be found in the Section òMarket risksó of 
Part E òInformation on Risks and hedging policiesó. 

 

 

Legend 

NV = Notional or Nominal Value 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

A. Financial derivatives -                     71,392             -                     71,392             4,119,286         

     1) Fair value -                     71,392             -                     71,392             4,119,286         

     2) Cash flows -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

     3) Foreign investments -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

B. Credit derivatives -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

     1) Fair value -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

     2) Cash flows -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total -                     71,392             -                     71,392             4,119,286         

 Fair value 31 12 2019  Total

Net Value

 31 12 2019 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

A. Financial derivatives -                     257,676           -                     257,676           8,795,425              

     1) Fair value -                     99,091             -                     99,091             7,898,963               

     2) Cash flows -                     158,585           -                     158,585           896,462                 

     3) Foreign investments -                     -                     -                     -                     -                           

B. Credit derivatives -                     -                     -                     -                     -                          

     1) Fair value -                     -                     -                     -                     -                           

     2) Cash flows -                     -                     -                     -                     -                           

Total -                     257,676           -                     257,676           8,795,425              

 Fair value 31 12 2018  Total

Net Value

 31 12 2018 
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5.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged portfolios and type of hedging 

 

The table shows the positive fair values of hedging derivatives, classified by hedged assets or liabilities and type of hedging 
implemented. 

In particular, for financial assets, fair value micro-hedging was used to hedge against interest rate risk on bonds classified in 
the portfolio òFinancial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive incomeó, in order to protect the portfolio 
from unfavourable interest rate changes.  

With reference to financial liabilities, fair value micro-hedging of the interest rate risk refers primarily to hedges of liabilities 
represented by fixed-rate issues; fair value macro-hedging of the interest rate risk refers to hedges of optional components 
implicit in floating-rate mortgage loans. 

More information on hedged assets and liabilities can be found in the tables contained in Part B of the notes for each section 
of the balance sheet items to which the hedged items are posted. 

  

 1. Financial assets measured 

at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

1,362     -               -         -      X X X -        X X 1,362        

 2. Financial assets measured 

at amortised cost 
-            X -         -      X X X -        X X -               

 4. Portfolio X X X X X X 4,293        X -              X 4,293        

 5. Other transactions -            -               -         -      -       -        X -        X -           -               

Total assets 1,362     -              -        -     -      -       4,293       -       -             -          5,655       

 1. Financial liabilities 63,608    X 2,129   -      -       -        X -        X X 65,737       

 2. Portfolio X X X X -       X -              X -                  X -               

Total liabilities 63,608   -              2,129  -     -      -       -             -       -                 -          65,737      

 1. Expected transactions X X X X X X X -        X X -               

 2. Financial assets and 

liabilities portfolio 
X X X X X X -              X -                  -           -               

Total 64,970   -              2,129  -     -      -       4,293       -       -                 -          71,392      

Cash Flows
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Section 6 - Change in value of macro-hedged financial assets - Item 60 

6.1 Change in value of hedged assets: breakdown by hedged portfolios 

 

The value adjustment concerns fixed and capped floating rate mortgage loan portfolios that were fair value macro-hedged 
with derivatives to counter possible interest rate risk-induced fluctuations in value. As this is a macro-hedge, any gain or loss 
on the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged may not directly adjust the value of said item (unlike in micro-hedging), but 
must be presented in this separate line item of the assets. The amounts in this item must be removed from the balance sheet 
when the relevant assets or liabilities are derecognised. 

Compared to 2018, in 2019 there was an increase in the value adjustment to macro hedging due to the reduction in market 
rates which led a significant increase in the fair value of the portfolio of hedeged items, against a decrease in hedging 
derivatives. 

The fair value of the corresponding hedging derivatives is shown respectively in Table 5.2 (assets) or Table 4.2 (liabilities), 
both entitled òHedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged portfolio and type of hedgingó, in the òMacro-hedgingó column. 

The assets subject to macro hedging of interest risk refer to fixed and capped floating rate mortgage loan portfolios included 
in item 40 òFinancial assets measured at amortised cost - Loans to customersó, amounted to EUR 12,790.1 mln as at 31 
December 2019 (EUR 11,819.8 mln as at 31 December 2018). The sum of this amount and the one shown in this table 
expresses the book value of these receivables, adjusted for profit or loss attributable to the risk hedged.  

 

 

  

Total Total

31 12 2019  31 12 2018  

1. Positive changes 617,260                        165,690                           

 1.1 of specific portfolios: 617,260                         165,690                            

a) loans and receivables 617,260                         165,690                            

 b) financial assets measured at fair value through  other comprehensive income -                                  -                                     

 1.2 overall -                                  -                                     

2. Negative changes -                                 -                                    

 2.1 of specific portfolios: -                                  -                                     

a) loans and receivables -                                  -                                     

 b) financial assets measured at fair value through  other comprehensive income -                                  -                                     

 2.2 overall -                                  -                                     

Total 617,260                        165,690                           

 Changes in value of hedged assets / Group components 



127 Notes to the Financial Statements - Part B - Information on the Balance Sheet 

   

 

BANCA MONTE DEI PASCHI DI SIENA 

Section 7 - Equity investments - Item 70 

7.1 Equity investments: information on shareholding 

 

A. Subsidiaries

Aiace Reoco s.r.l. Siena  Siena 100.000

Cirene Finance S.r.l. Conegliano  Conegliano 60.000           

Consorzio Operativo Gruppo Montepaschi Siena  Siena 99.760

Enea Reoco s.r.l. Siena  Siena 100.000          

G.Imm.Astor s.r.l. Lecce  Lecce 52.000

Magazzini Generali Fiduciari di Mantova S.p.a. Mantova  Mantova 100.000          

Monte dei Paschi di Siena Leasing & Factoring Banca per i servizi finanziari alle imprese S.p.aSiena  Siena 100.000

Monte paschi banque S.A. Parigi  Parigi 100.000          

Monte paschi fiduciaria S.p.a. Siena  Siena 100.000

Montepaschi Luxembourg s.a. Lussemburgo Lussemburgo 99.200           

Mps Capital Services Banca per le
 imprese S.p.a. Firenze  Firenze 100.000

Mps covered bond 2 S.r.l. Conegliano  Conegliano 90.000           

Mps covered bond S.r.l. Conegliano  Conegliano 90.000

Mps Tenimenti Poggio Bonelli e Chigi Saracini soc. agricola S.p.a.
Castelnuovo 

Barardenga

 Castelnuovo 

Barardenga 
100.000          

Siena lease 2016 2 S.r.l. Conegliano  Conegliano 10.000

Siena mortgages 07 5 S.p.a. Conegliano  Conegliano 7.000             

Siena mortgages 09 6 S.r.l. Conegliano  Conegliano 7.000

Siena mortgages 10 7 S.r.l. Conegliano  Conegliano 7.000             

Siena PMI 2016 S.r.l.                               Conegliano  Conegliano 10.000

Wise Dialog Bank S.p.a. in breve WIDIBA Milano  Milano 100.000          

Immobiliare Novoli S.p.a. Firenze  Firenze 50.000           

Integra S.p.a.                                       Firenze  Firenze 50.000

Company Name  Headquarters 
 Registered 

Office 

 Share holding 

% 

 Available 

votes % 

B. Companies under joint control
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Equity investments in subsidiary companies, jointly controlled companies and companies under significant influence are 
valued at cost. 

The classification criteria of the equity investments in subsidiary companies, jointly controlled companies and companies 
under significant influence are illustrated in Part A òAccounting policiesó of these Notes to the Financial Statements. 

For further details on changes, see comments to the subsequent table ò7.5 - Equity investments: annual changesó. 

 

7.2 Significant equity investments: book value, fair value and dividends earned 

7.3 Significant equity investments: accounting information 

7.4 Non-significant equity investments: accounting information  

The information referred to in the above items is not provided in that the Bank also prepares the consolidated 
financial statements. 

  

Axa Mps Assicurazioni danni S.p.a. Roma  Roma 50.000           

Axa Mps Assicurazioni vita S.p.a. Roma  Roma 50.000

Fidi Toscana S.p.a. Firenze  Firenze 27.460           

Fondo Etrusco Distrubuzione Roma  Roma 48.000

Fondo Minibond PMI Italia Conegliano  Conegliano  61.940           

Fondo Socrate Roma  Roma 21.000

Interporto toscano A. Vespucci Collesalvetti  Collesalvetti  21.819           

Microcredito di Solidarieta' S.p.a. Siena  Siena 40.000

Nuova Sorgenia Holding S.p.a.                          Milano  Milano 16.670           

S.i.t. Sviluppo imprese e territorio S.p.a. Roma  Roma 19.969

Sansedoni Siena S.p.a. Siena  Siena 21.754           33.674           

Terme di Chianciano S.p.a.
Chianciano 

Terme

 Chianciano 

Terme 
18.816

 Available 

votes % 

C. Companies under significant influence

Company Name  Headquarters 
 Registered 

Office 

 Share holding 

% 
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7.5 Equity investments: annual changes 

  

Below are the main changes in the item òEquity investmentsó during the year ended 31 December 2019.  

Line B.4 òOther increasesó includes: 

Ĭ EUR 2.8 mln for gains recognised following the liquidations of the following subsidiaries: Consumit.it 
Securitisation S.r.l., Siena Consumer 2015 S.r.l., Siena Consumer S.r.l. and MPS Preferred Capital II LLC.  

Ĭ EUR 250.0 mln referring to the subscription to the share capital increase of the subsidiary MPS Leasing & 
Factoring S.p.A. that occurred in April 2019.  

In line with the indications of accounting standards, the measurement of impairment indicators for equity investments 
resulted in valuation adjustments for EUR 30.5 mln, indicated in line òC.2 Value adjustmentsó, almost entirely referring to the 
controlling stake held in Banca Widiba S.p.A. 

The decreases in line òC.4 Other decreasesó, totalling EUR 110.9 mln, includes EUR 55 mln for the merger by incorporation 
of Perimetro Gestione Proprietà Immobiliari S.p.A. and approx. EUR 49 mln related to the closure of the following vehicles: 
Siena Consumer S.r.l, Siena Consumer 2015 S.r.l., Consumit.it Securitisation S.r.l., Siena PMI 2015 S.r.l., MPS Preferred 
Capital I LLC., MPS Preferred Capital II LLC, Antonveneta Capital Trust I, Antonveneta Capital Trust II, Antonveneta 
Capital LLC I and Antonveneta Capital LLC II. 

 

 

  

 Total  Total 

31 12 2019 31 12 2018

A. Opening balance 2,653,301                 3,079,197                 

B. Increases 252,868                    75,598                     

B.1 Purchases                             46                               - 

B.2 Write-backs                               -                       68,558 

B.3 Revaluations                               -                               - 

B.4 Other increases                      252,822                         7,040 

C. Decreases                      142,920                      501,494 

C.1 Sales 1,550                        5,813                        

C.2 Value adjustment 30,516                      451,372                     

C.3 Depreciation -                              -                              

C.4 Other decreases 110,854                     44,309                      

D. Closing balance 2,763,249                 2,653,301                 

E. Total revaluation -                              -                              

F. Total write-downs 2,906,352                 2,918,997                 
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7.6 Covenants on investments in jointly controlled companies 

The information referred to in the above items is not provided in that the Bank also prepares the consolidated 
financial statements 

 

7.7 Covenants on investments in companies under significant influence 

The information referred to in the above items is not provided in that the Bank also prepares the consolidated 
financial statements 

 

7.8 Significant restrictions 

The information referred to in the above items is not provided in that the Bank also prepares the consolidated 
financial statements 

 

7.9 Other information 

The information referred to in the above items is not provided in that the Bank also prepares the consolidated 

financial statements. 

Impairment test on equity investments 

As required by IAS/IFRS, equity investments were subjected to impairment testing in order to check whether 
there is objective evidence that the book value of the assets is not fully recoverable. In the case of investments in 
associates and joint ventures, the process of identifying any impairment involves checking for the presence of 
impairment indicators and determining any write-down. For further details on the indicators used by the Group, 
please refer to part A of these Notes, paragraph òUse of estimates and assumptions -Methods for calculating 
impairment on investmentsó. In the presence of impairment indicators, the recoverable value is determined as 
the higher between the fair value net of selling costs and the value in use, and if the latter is lower than the book 
value, the impairment is recorded. Regarding investments in associates or joint ventures, the impairment tests 
determined the need to recognise an impairment loss, irrelevant in amount (Euro 81 thousand), for the investee 
S.i.t. Finanziaria di Sviluppo per lõinnovazione Tecnologia S.p.A. It should be noted that as at 31 December 2018, 
the impairment test procedure resulted in the write-down of the associate Trixia S.r.l (Euro 5.7 million) and of 
the jointly-controlled investment in Immobiliare Novoli S.p.A. (Euro 1.5 million). 

For subsidiaries other than Wise Dialog Bank S.p.A. (Widiba) ð whose valuation is carried out indirectly within 
the scope of the impairment test of the only Cash Generating Units (IAS 36) identified at consolidated level as 
part of the goodwill impairment test, to which reference should be made for further details ð a check was carried 
out on the presence of any impairment triggers represented by a synthetic set of indicators starting from the 2019 
budget targets and compared with the final figures as at 31 December 2019. In relation to the aforementioned 
equity investments, the need emerged to make a value adjustment for Widiba (Euro 30.4 million) and Euro 35 
thousand for the investee Consumit.it Securitization S.r.l. 

As of 31 December 2018, the impairment test procedure has led to the write-down of the subsidiaries MPS 
Leasing& Factoring (Euro 265.1 million), MPS Capital Services S.p.A. (Euro 169.0 million) and MPS Preferred 
Capital I LLC (Euro 10 million). 
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Section 8 - Property, plant and equipment - Item 80 

8.1 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: breakdown of assets valued at cost 

 

*The Bank has elected not to restate comparative data on a consistent basis in the year of initial application of IFRS 16. 

All of the Bankõs property, plant and equipment is measured at cost; the line òlandó expresses the value of land separately 
from the value of buildings. In compliance with guidance provided by IAS 36 òImpairment of Assetsó and recommendations 
contained in document no. 4 of 3 March 2010 issued jointly by the Bank of Italy, Consob and Isvap, an overall property 
appraisal was made with a view to determining any impairment losses to be posted to the income statement for the year; 
disclosure of these impairment losses is provided in the notes to the table ò8.6 Property, plant and equipment used in the 
business: annual changesó. 

Item ò1. Assets owned - a) land and b) buildingsó includes the assets deriving from the merger of Perimetro Gestione 
Proprietà Immobiliari S.p.A. into the Bank for EUR 434 mln and EUR 767 mln, respectively.  

The rights of use acquired under leasing are nearly entirely attributable to real estate lease contracts.  As at 31 December 2019, 
the Bank has granted operating leases of owned assets for business use totalling EUR 273 mln, entirely in the categories a) 
land and b) buildings. For more information on the assets of the Bank, as lessor and lessee, under the operating lease 
agreements, see Part M of these Notes to the financial statements. 

Item 1 òAssets owned ðc) furnishingsó includes artworks whose value amounts to EUR 121 mln.  

As at the reporting date of these financial statements and for the comparison year, there was no property, plant and 
equipment under finance lease, obtained through enforcement of guarantees and the cases to which paragraph 78 of IAS 40 
applies. 

 

  

31 12 2019 31 12 2018*

1. Assets owned 1,958,643                 781,055                    

a) land 703,246                     275,181                     

b) buildings 996,288                     249,078                     

c) furniture and furnishings 140,263                     139,153                     

d) electronic systems 52,138                      59,322                      

e) other 66,708                      58,321                      

2. Right of use leasing 232,427                    -                             

a) land -                              -                              

b) buildings 231,804                     -                              

c) furniture and furnishings -                              -                              

d) electronic systems -                              -                              

e) other 623                          -                              

Total 2,191,070                  781,055                    

of which: obtained through the enforcement of the guarantees received -                              -                              

 Total 
Asset/Amount
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8.2 Property, plant and equipment held for investment: breakdown of assets valued at cost 

 

All of the Bankõs property, plant and equipment is measured at cost; the line òlandó expresses the value of land separately 
from the value of buildings. In compliance with guidance provided by IAS 36 òImpairment of Assetsó and recommendations 
contained in document no. 4 of 3 March 2010 issued jointly by the Bank of Italy, Consob and Isvap, an overall property 
appraisal was made with a view to determining any impairment losses to be posted to the income statement for the year; 
disclosure of these impairment losses is provided in the notes to the table ò8.7 Property, plant and equipment held for 
investment: annual changesó. 

Item ò1. Assets owned - a) land and b) buildingsó includes the assets deriving from the merger of Perimetro Gestione 
Proprietà Immobiliari S.p.A. into the Bank for EUR 47.5 mln and EUR 76.8 mln, respectively. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank has granted operating leases of owned assets for investment purposes totalling EUR 139 
mln, entirely in the categories a) land and b) buildings. 

The criteria for classification of a tangible asset as a real estate investment pursuant to IAS 40 are described in the accounting 
policies, to which reference is made. The disclosure required by IAS 40 paragraph 75 letter c) is not provided, as the 
classification is not difficult. 

As at the reporting date of these financial statements and for the comparison year, there was no property, plant and 
equipment under finance lease, obtained through enforcement of guarantees and the cases to which paragraph 75, letters c), 
g), and h) of IAS 40 apply. 

 

 

 

8.3 Property, plant and equipment used in the business: breakdown of revalued assets 

The Bank holds no revalued property, plant and equipment. 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 1. Assets owned 314,583             -                    -                  339,217           339,217           

 a) land 157,177              -                     -                   152,829           152,829           

 b) buildings 157,406                                 -                    -              186,388 186,388           

 2. Assets leased                        -                      -                   -                      - -                    

 a) land -                        -                     -                   -                                          - 

 b) buildings                         -                      -                    -                      -                      - 

 Total 314,583             -                    -                  339,217           339,217           

 of which: obtained through the enforcement of the guarantees 

received 
-                        -                     -                   -                                          - 

 Asset/Amount 

 Total 31 12 2019 

 Book value 
Fair Value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 1. Assets owned 219,660             -                    -                  249,730          249,730          

 a) land 120,176              -                     -                   123,319           123,319           

 b) buildings 99,484                                   -                    -              126,411 126,411           

 2. Assets leased                        -                      -                   -                      - -                    

 a) land -                        -                     -                   -                                          - 

 b) buildings                         -                      -                    -                      -                      - 

 Total 219,660             -                    -                  249,730          249,730          

 of which: obtained through the enforcement of the guarantees 

received 
-                        -                     -                   -                     -                     

 Attività/Valori 

 Total 31 12 2018 

 Book value 
Fair Value
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8.4 Property, plant and equipment held for investment: breakdown of assets measured at fair value 

The Bank holds no property, plant and equipment measured at fair value pursuant to IAS 40. 

 

8.5 Inventories of property, plant and equipment governed by IAS 2: breakdown  

 

òOther inventories of property, plant and equipmentó refer to properties of former subsidiary MPS Immobiliare S.p.A., 
merged by incorporation in 2014. 

 

  

 1. Gross closing balance of tangible assets obtained through enforcement of the guarantees 

received 
                             -                          - 

   a) Land -                              -                          

   b) Buildings -                              -                          

   c) Furniture and furnishings -                              -                          

   d) Electronic systems -                              -                          

   e) Others -                              -                          

2. Others gross closing balance of tangible assets                      25,525                  25,540 

 Totale 25,525                     25,540                 

 Total 

31 12 2019 31 12 2018
 Assets/Amounts 

















































































































































































https://www.gruppomps.it/investor-relations




















































































































































































http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/IT/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32014L0065&qid=1435045139484
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/IT/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32014R0600&qid=1433803323190






















https://www.gruppomps.it/static/upload/ope/operazioni_con_parti_collegate_e_soggetti_collegati.pdf


















https://www.gruppomps.it/corporate-governance/remunerazione.html







































































































